HELSINKI INSTITUTE OF PHYSICS

INTERNAL REPORT SERIES

 $\operatorname{HIP-2010-02}$ 

### Consequences of Supersymmetry in the Early Universe

Lotta Mether

Helsinki Institute of Physics University of Helsinki Finland

#### ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Science of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in the Main Auditorium (A110) of Chemicum, A. I. Virtasen aukio 1, on the 15th of March 2010 at one o'clock.

Helsinki2010

ISBN 978-952-10-6115-8 (paperback) ISSN 1455-0563 ISBN 978-952-10-6116-5 (pdf) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2010

# Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I wish to thank my supervisor Kari Enqvist for persistently offering his ever so patient guidance, despite our differing interpretations of the meaning of time and the order of things. He has provided me with all the necessities and freedom one could want for, yet left me no room to doubt that I have a place in this community. I'm also grateful to Keijo Kajantie, for the never-ending optimism and enthusiasm he spreads about the department, and for always taking an interest in my doings and feelings.

I thank also the pre-examiners of my thesis, Kimmo Tuominen and Aleksi Vuorinen, for both patiently waiting for the draft and then swiftly addressing it once the time arrived. Their careful reading of the script and the useful comments they provided me with have been an invaluable asset when finishing this work. I also thank Konstantinos Dimopoulos for taking the time to act as my opponent.

During the course of my PhD studies, I have had the privilege to work and study in various places, with friends and collaborators from many corners of the world. I'm most grateful for the time I got to spend at CERN, in the knowledgeable hands of Antonio Riotto and Gian Giudice, with a front-row view of their stunning intuition for physics. Even more, I value the friendships I have had the chance to make, in Helsinki as well as at CERN and during the shorter stays in Bielefeld, Les Houches, Vancouver, Lake Tahoe and elsewhere.

Naturally, I wish to acknowledge the financial institutions that have provided me with these opportunities: the Helsinki Institute of Physics and the University of Helsinki for putting me up all these years, the Vilho, Yrjö and Kalle Väisälä foundation for providing the main funding for my PhD, and the Marie Curie Early Stage Research Training Fellowship for arranging for my stay at CERN. Also the Waldemar von Frenckell and the Magnus Ehrnrooth foundations, as well as the Mikael Björnberg memorial fund are warmly acknowledged.

Finally, and with all my love, I thank my family, my brother and sister for being there throughout the years, and, in particular, my mother for her loving care, as much during these last frantic weeks of typing as during all of my life. I am especially grateful to Isaac for always being with me, making every day worth while.

Helsinki, February 2010

Lotta

L. Mether: Consequences of Supersymmetry in the Early Universe, University of Helsinki, 2010, 88 p., Helsinki Institute of Physics Internal Report Series, HIP-2010-02, ISBN 978-952-10-6115-8 (paperback), ISSN 1455-0563, ISBN 978-952-10-6116-5 (pdf). INSPEC classification: A9880B, A9880D, A1130P.

Keywords: cosmology, the early universe, baryogenesis, inflation, preheating, supersymmetry, supergravity, string theory, flat directions, MSSM.

# Abstract

Currently, we live in an era characterized by the completion and first runs of the LHC accelerator at CERN, which is hoped to provide the first experimental hints of what lies beyond the Standard Model of particle physics. In addition, the last decade has witnessed a new dawn of cosmology, where it has truly emerged as a precision science. Largely due to the WMAP measurements of the cosmic microwave background, we now believe to have quantitative control of much of the history of our universe.

These two experimental windows offer us not only an unprecedented view of the smallest and largest structures of the universe, but also a glimpse at the very first moments in its history. At the same time, they require the theorists to focus on the fundamental challenges awaiting at the boundary of high energy particle physics and cosmology. What were the contents and properties of matter in the early universe? How is one to describe its interactions? What kind of implications do the various models of physics beyond the Standard Model have on the subsequent evolution of the universe?

In this thesis, we explore the connection between, in particular, supersymmetric theories and the evolution of the early universe. We begin by providing the reader with a general introduction to modern day particle cosmology from two angles: first, by reviewing our current knowledge of the history of the early universe, and then, by introducing the basics of supersymmetry and its derivatives. Subsequently, with the help of the developed tools, we direct the attention to the specific questions addressed in the three original articles that form the main scientific contents of the thesis. Each of these papers concerns a distinct cosmological problem, ranging from the generation of the matter-antimatter asymmetry to inflation, and finally to the origin or very early stage of the universe. Nevertheless, they share a common factor in their use of the machinery of supersymmetric theories to address open questions in the corresponding cosmological models.

## List of publications

The content of this thesis is based on the following research articles [1, 2, 3]:

- I Supersymmetric Leptogenesis and the Gravitino Bound, Gian Giudice, Lotta Mether, Antonio Riotto and Francesco Riva, Phys. Lett. B664 (2008) 21, [arXiv:0804.0166].
- II Supergravity origin of the MSSM inflation, Kari Enqvist, Lotta Mether and Sami Nurmi, JCAP 0711 (2007) 014, [arXiv:0706.2355].
- III On the origin of thermal string gas, Kari Enqvist, Niko Jokela, Esko Keski-Vakkuri and Lotta Mether, JCAP 0710 (2007) 001, [arXiv:0706.2294].

In all publications authors are listed alphabetically, according to the particle physics convention. The present author's contribution to the research is detailed below.

#### Author's contribution

- I The idea that flat directions could help alleviate the conflict with the gravitino bound in supersymmetric leptogenesis originates in discussions with Antonio Riotto and Gian Giudice. The detailed model was subsequently developed through discussions between all authors, and numerical estimates were performed jointly. The draft was written mainly by Antonio Riotto and Francesco Riva, and molded into its final form by all authors.
- **II** Kari Enqvist suggested to look for a supergravity model that could alleviate the fine-tuning of the MSSM inflation model, and offered some ideas for directions of research. Calculations and the identification of the presented model were performed in close collaboration between Sami Nurmi and the present author. The paper was written through joint efforts, the present author contributing mainly to Sections 2 and 5.
- **III** The question of the origin of a thermal string gas in the early universe was posed by Kari Enqvist, whereas Esko Keski-Vakkuri suggested to address it through D-brane decay. The idea was then elaborated on through discussions between all authors. Calculations were performed jointly with Niko Jokela, and graphical presentations mainly by the present author. All authors took part in writing the paper, the contribution of the present author being Sections 2 and 4.

# Contents

	Ack	Acknowledgements					
	Abs	tracti	IV				
	List	of Publications	V				
1	Introduction						
<b>2</b>	The early universe 5						
	2.1	The Friedmann-Robertson-Walker universe	5				
	2.2	The hot big bang	8				
		2.2.1 Thermal history	8				
		2.2.2 The baryon asymmetry	0				
	2.3	A period of inflation	2				
		2.3.1 Scalar field inflation	2				
		2.3.2 Recovering the hot big bang	4				
		2.3.3 The primordial perturbations	7				
	2.4	Inflationary potentials: observables and constraints	9				
		2.4.1 The amount of expansion	9				
		2.4.2 Predictions from the primordial spectrum	20				
		2.4.3 Models of inflation	22				
	2.5	Beyond inflation	23				
3	Supersymmetry and friends 25						
0	3.1	Supersymmetry	25				
	0	3.1.1 The Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model	26				
		3.1.2 Supersymmetry breaking	27				
	3.2	Supergravity	28				
	0	3.2.1 Supersymmetry breaking in supergravity	50				
		3.2.2 The gravitino problem	51				
	3.3	Supersymmetric flat directions	<b>52</b>				
		3.3.1 Identifying the flat directions	<b>2</b>				
		3.3.2 Lifting the flatness	3				
		3.3.3 Flat directions in the early universe	4				
			_				
4	The	ermal leptogenesis and supersymmetry 3	7				
	4.1	Models of baryogenesis	57				
	4.2	Neutrino mass and leptogenesis	8				
	4.3	Thermal leptogenesis	0				

		4.3.1	The produced baryon asymmetry	41			
		4.3.2	Bounds from observations	44			
	4.4	Leptog	genesis and supersymmetry	45			
		4.4.1	Modifications to the standard scenario	45			
		4.4.2	On the gravitino bound	46			
	4.5	Leptog	genesis with flat directions	47			
		4.5.1	Choosing the setup	47			
		4.5.2	$N_1$ production through instant preheating	48			
		4.5.3	The baryon asymmetry	49			
		4.5.4	Discussion and conclusions	50			
<b>5</b>	Inflation with supersymmetric flat directions 52						
	5.1	Embe	dding inflation into particle physics	52			
	5.2	MSSM	I inflation	54			
		5.2.1	The potential	54			
		5.2.2	Inflationary parameters and predicitions	55			
		5.2.3	The problem of fine-tuning	57			
	5.3	A sup	ergravity origin for MSSM inflation	58			
		5.3.1	Identifying the model	58			
		5.3.2	Higher order corrections	59			
		5.3.3	Discussion and conclusions	60			
6	Beyond inflation with string theory 62						
	6.1	String	theory and the initial singularity $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	62			
	6.2	String	gas cosmology	64			
		6.2.1	The cosmological evolution	64			
		6.2.2	A three-dimensional universe	65			
	6.3	String	production from unstable D-branes	66			
		6.3.1	D-brane decay	66			
		6.3.2	The decay products	66			
	6.4	An ori	igin for the string gas	67			
		6.4.1	A proposal for the initial state	68			
		6.4.2	Thermalization of the string gas	68			
		6.4.3	Time evolution of the dilaton	69			
		6.4.4	Three large dimensions	71			
		6.4.5	Discussion and conclusions	72			
7	Sun	nmary		73			

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

Many of the most intriguing open problems in modern high energy physics are involved in a subtle interplay between the very smallest and the very largest scales in our universe: at one end of the spectrum there is the world of subatomic particles and, at the other end, the cosmic length scales that describe the structure of the universe itself. The connection between these two seemingly disjoint worlds traces back some 13.7 billion years to the very early stages of our universe [4], where, essentially, they become one and the same. To fully understand the one at its most fundamental level, it seems an equal understanding of the other is required.

The world of particles is of course known to be represented very well by the Standard Model (SM) of particle physics [5] up to the highest energies tested in collider experiments so far. It is also known on very general grounds that the Standard Model cannot be the most fundamental theory of nature, but only a low energy effective description thereof. The two most popular, and perhaps theoretically best motivated suggestions for physics reaching beyond the SM are string theory and supersymmetry. The former is based on the idea that the fundamental description of nature on its very smallest length scales would be given not in terms of point particles but of one-dimensional strings and their higher-dimensional generalizations, branes.

For consistency, string theory requires an additional local symmetry to be realized in nature, namely supersymmetry [6]. Supersymmetry relates fundamental fermions and bosons to their so-called superpartners, respectively of bosonic and fermionic nature. In addition to being motivated by theoretical considerations, supersymmetry has several vital consequences for low-energy particle physics phenomenology, most importantly the solution it provides to the long-standing hierarchy problem. Regardless of whether it is eventually superseded by string theory at high energies, low-energy supersymmetry has emerged as the strongest candidate for physics beyond the Standard Model. Today research in this field is more topical than perhaps ever before, due to the recent startup of the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) at CERN, which is hoped to provide the first experimental hints of supersymmetry [7].

In contrast to experimental particle physics, where the last decade has been mainly a time of preparation and anticipation of results to come, cosmological observations have seen nothing short of an explosion of new data within the same time period. The unprecedented accuracy, as well as the variety, of the cosmological data made available have given rise to a standard model of cosmology: the  $\Lambda$ CDM, or concordance model [8]. The result of this concordance, however, is somewhat surprising: matter as we known it in the Standard Model makes up but five percent of the total energy density of the universe. The remaining 95% is attributed to two exotic forms of energy density: dark matter and dark energy. Whereas the nature of dark energy remains as much a mystery as ever, several possible candidates for dark matter have been identified in particle theories, most notably perhaps the lightest stable superpartner of low-energy supersymmetry [9].

In addition, our explorations of the cosmos have raised a number of more subtle questions that remain to be answered. Observations of standard baryonic matter in the universe, for example, show an asymmetry in the amounts of matter and antimatter, which finds no explanation within the Standard Model. Moreover, the very special initial conditions that our observable universe can be traced back to can most naturally be achieved by a period of accelerated expansion in the very early universe. Observations seem consistent with this period of inflation being driven by a scalar field, but the possible identity of such a field is yet unknown.

Whichever exotic forms of matter turn out to be the winners, it is clear that the fields of cosmology and high energy particle physics are inherently intertwined in the quest for the true extensions to the Standard Model. Where cosmologists look to the world of particles for new types of matter that might explain their observations, these very same observations in return offer the particle physics community a peek at energy scales that one could currently only dream of probing in terrestrial facilities.

The work at hand is a PhD thesis based on three original articles [1, 2, 3] written by the author and various collaborators. Each article addresses a distinct cosmological problem, using different theoretical tools; however, they all have a common denominator in the desire to understand the interplay between the early stages of the universe and modern day particle physics. More precisely, they are all based on the assumption that physics beyond the Standard Model exhibits supersymmetry, and explore possible consequences of this assumption at various stages in the early universe.

Ref. [1] addresses the generation of the matter-antimatter asymmetry through the mechanism of leptogenesis. A possible solution to a long-standing naturalness problem in supersymmetric leptogenesis is presented, which unlike other proposed solutions does not require a significant alteration of the scenario. Ref. [2] considers a particular model of inflation, in which the expansion is driven by a flat direction of the Minimal Super-symmetric Standard Model (MSSM). The model requires an extremely flat potential, which a priori can only be guaranteed by a high degree of fine-tuning. In Ref. [2] a class of supergravity models which identically satisfy the flatness requirement is identified, in order to alleviate the severity of the fine-tuning. Finally, Ref. [3] addresses a string theory based model for the very early universe, which provides an example of how the initial singularity plaguing the standard cosmological model can be avoided through string theory. It is argued that the string gas cosmology model, whose origin is usually not explained, can be the result of the decay of an initial configuration of unstable branes, which furthermore allows one to control the properties of the model through various physical properties of the brane setup.

To bring the above topics into a broader context, the articles included in the thesis are preceded by an introductory part, which is organized as follows. In Chapter 2, we review the most important concepts of modern day cosmology, discussing also the observational data that our current understanding of the evolution of the universe is based on. Chapter 3, on the other hand, provides an introduction to supersymmetric theories, placing particular emphasis on the concepts and topics relevant in the early universe. Chapters 4–6 are then devoted to deeper analyses of the subjects treated in each of the research papers [1, 2, 3], proceeding in this order. Finally, in Chapter 7, we conclude by providing a brief summary of the thesis.

#### Notation

The natural units, with  $c \equiv 1$ ,  $\hbar \equiv 1$  and  $k_B \equiv 1$ , are used throughout the thesis. The Planck mass is defined as  $M_P = (8\pi G)^{-1/2}$ , where G is Newton's constant. The signature of the metric is chosen to be (-, +, +, +). Greek letters  $\mu, \nu, \ldots$  run over all the spacetime coordinates and Latin letters  $i, j, \ldots$  over the spatial coordinates. Summation over repeated indices is understood. The covariant derivative is denoted by  $\nabla \mu$  and is defined using the standard Christoffel connection. The notation used for the Kähler metric and the associated indices in supergravity is explained in the relevant context. For the Fourier transformation we use the normalization

$$f(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int d^3k f(\mathbf{k}) e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}},$$

Any other introduced notation is explained in the text. The notation used in the introductory part of the thesis differs partially from that used in the enclosed research papers.

Preliminaries

# Chapter 2 The early universe

In this introductory chapter we present the standard picture of cosmology that emerges when the assumption of a homogenous and isotropic, expanding universe is combined with our understanding of particle physics at various energy scales. The result is a brief review of standard cosmology, aimed at setting the stage for the treatment of the three included research papers, in Chapters 4-6, respectively.

We begin with a presentation of the Friedmann-Robertson-Walker universe and the hot big bang model, with emphasis on the baryon asymmetry, in order to prepare for the treatment of leptogenesis in Chapter 4. Subsequently, in Section 2.3, we discuss the limitations of this model, and introduce the inflationary paradigm. We review the general properties of scalar field inflation, and how it can be constrained by observations, paving the way for the discussion on the MSSM inflation model in Chapter 5. Having presented the main features of scalar field inflation, in the final section we briefly address some of its shortcomings and discuss the potential of seeing beyond inflation, heading towards the introduction of the string gas cosmology scenario in Chapter 6. More detailed presentations on the subjects treated here can be found, for example, in Refs. [10, 11, 12].

#### 2.1 The Friedmann-Robertson-Walker universe

Einstein's theory of general relativity allows us to study the universe as a deterministic dynamical system, whose evolution is determined by its previous conditions. With this powerful tool at hand, the modern cosmological picture has emerged from but a few groundbreaking discoveries. First, in 1929 Hubble made the observation that distant objects in every direction on the sky appear to be receding from us, the faster the further away they are [13]. The obvious conclusion to be drawn was that the universe is expanding. If this were indeed the case, our universe should have been both denser and hotter in the past.

Another cornerstone of modern cosmology is the observation, first performed by Penzias and Wilson in 1965 [14], of the redshifted relic radiation from the time when the universe was only a few hundred thousand years old: the cosmic microwave background (CMB). The CMB radiation exhibits a perfect blackbody spectrum with a temperature of 2.726 K, with anisotropies only of the order of  $10^{-5}$  [15]. While these anisotropies make up the seeds for the structure observed in the universe today, mappings of the large scale structure, such as the Sloan Digital Sky Survey [16] and the 2dF survey [17], confirm the observed isotropy on scales larger than about 100 Mpc. Together with the Copernican principle, which states that the Earth is not in a central, or specially favored position in the universe, observations thus lead us to conclude that we live in an expanding universe that is to a first approximation homogenous as well as isotropic.

#### The Robertson-Walker metric

A time evolving, spatially homogeneous and isotropic spacetime is described most generally by the Robertson-Walker (RW) metric

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a^{2}(t) \left( \frac{dr^{2}}{1 - \kappa r^{2}} + r^{2}d\theta^{2} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta d\phi^{2} \right), \qquad (2.1)$$

where r,  $\theta$  and  $\phi$  are the polar comoving coordinates, defining the cosmic rest frame, and t is the time measured by a comoving observer. The scale factor a(t) determines the physical size of spatial coordinate distances as a function of time, while  $\kappa$  parameterizes the curvature of spatial surfaces.

The RW metric Eq. (2.1) describes a spatially homogenous and isotropic spacetime without any restrictions on the functional form of the scale factor. The dynamical behaviour of the scale factor depends on the matter and energy contents of the universe through the Einstein equation

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}Rg_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{M_P^2}T_{\mu\nu}.$$
(2.2)

The left hand side of the equation is a function of the metric – in this case the scale factor – only, while the energy-momentum tensor  $T_{\mu\nu}$  derives from the matter action. To be consistent with the assumed homogeneity and isotropy, the energy momentum tensor should satisfy the same symmetries as the RW metric. This constrains the matter and energy contents of the universe to be of perfect fluid form, with the energy-momentum tensor

$$T_{\mu\nu} = (\rho + p) u_{\mu}u_{\nu} + pg_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.3)$$

where  $\rho$  and p are the energy density and pressure, and  $u^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 0)$  is the fourvelocity of the isotropic fluid in comoving coordinates.

#### The Friedmann equations

Given the energy-momentum tensor, the Einstein equation Eq. (2.2) determines the evolution of the scale factor in terms of the energy density and the pressure of the cosmic fluid. The 00-component yields the Friedmann equation

$$\left(\frac{\dot{a}}{a}\right)^2 = \frac{\rho}{3M_P^2} - \frac{\kappa}{a^2},\tag{2.4}$$

where the dot indicates derivatives with respect to the cosmic time. The spatial components all give rise to the same equation, which can be put in the form of the second Friedmann equation

$$\frac{\ddot{a}}{a} = -\frac{\rho + 3p}{6M_P^2}.$$
(2.5)

The left hand side of the Friedmann equations is often written in terms of the Hubble parameter

$$H = \frac{\dot{a}}{a},\tag{2.6}$$

whose current value is measured to be  $H_0 \simeq 70 \text{ kms}^{-1} \text{Mpc}^{-1}$  [4]. Using the Friedmann equation Eq. (2.4), we can define the critical density

1

$$o_c \equiv 3M_P^2 H^2, \tag{2.7}$$

such that the curvature term  $\kappa$  in the equation vanishes. The critical density, on the other hand, is used to define the dimensionless density parameter  $\Omega = \frac{\rho}{\rho_c}$ , in terms of which the Friedmann equation can be rewritten as

$$\Omega - 1 = \frac{\kappa}{(aH)^2}.\tag{2.8}$$

The best fit values for current observations give  $\Omega = 1 \pm 0.03$ , implying that the universe is very nearly flat and  $\kappa \simeq 0$ .

#### The cosmic fluid

A convenient tool for studying the evolution of the cosmic fluid is provided by the continuity equation

$$\frac{\dot{\rho}}{\rho} + 3\frac{\dot{a}}{a}(1+w) = 0, \tag{2.9}$$

which can be derived either from the two Friedmann equations or from the conservation of energy-momentum. We have defined the equation of state parameter w, such that  $p = w\rho$ . In particular if w is constant, Eq. (2.9) can be integrated to yield the energy density as a function of the scale factor

$$\rho \propto a^{-3(1+w)}.$$
(2.10)

Plugging this into the Friedmann equation Eq. (2.4), we can solve for the evolution of the scale factor in a universe dominated by a fluid with the equation of state parameter  $w \neq -1$ 

$$a \propto t^{2/3(1+w)}$$
. (2.11)

The cosmic fluid is assumed to be composed of three separately evolving fluids: matter, radiation and a vacuum energy like component. Matter accounts for any non-relativistic species of particles, with essentially vanishing pressure. Thus  $w_m \simeq 0$ , and the energy density behaves as  $\rho_m \propto a^{-3}$ . According to the best fit model to recent observations, the matter component accounts for about 28% of the total energy density, with 5% made up of baryonic matter and the remaining 23% presumably dark matter [4]. For radiation, which refers to any highly relativistic particle species or actual electromagnetic radiation,  $w_r = 1/3$  and the energy density evolves as  $\rho_r \propto a^{-4}$ . The energy density in the radiation component thus decreases with a factor of 1/a compared to matter, and only accounts for a very small fraction of the total energy density in the universe today. A constant energy density, however, which by definition has  $w_{\Lambda} = -1$ , will inevitably become dominant in the late universe. Recent observations of distant supernovae [18] indeed seem to imply that a dark energy component, with  $w \simeq -1$ , is present and currently accounts for about 72% of the total energy density.

#### 2.2 The hot big bang

The time evolution of the different energy components suggests that the early universe should be dominated by relativistic forms of matter. Starting with this presumption, the hot big bang model describes the subsequent evolution, as the cosmic fluid gradually cools down with the expansion of the universe. Since particle interactions would be frequent in the hot and dense early universe, the cosmic fluid is expected to have been largely in thermal equilibrium, in accordance with the near perfect blackbody spectrum of the CMB. Nevertheless, the events that have left the clearest imprints in the cosmic background have taken place due to the decoupling of some component of the fluid from the thermal bath.

Our understanding of the evolution of the early universe relies on our knowledge of physics at high energies, based on experiments and theoretical considerations. Any attempts to describe the state of the universe at early times, such as the Planck time, are therefore at most speculative. At lower energies, however, we can make fairly robust predictions. Below we briefly overview the thermal history of the universe, and point out the most relevant events that have taken place. A more detailed review can be found, for example, in Ref. [19].

#### 2.2.1 Thermal history

Assuming that the hot big bang stage begins at some higher energy scale, the electroweak phase transition is expected to take place at an energy of about 100 GeV. It is followed by the quark-hadron phase transition at around 100 MeV, after which the newly formed nucleons and anti-nucleons annihilate each other. Some nucleons nevertheless remain, indicating an asymmetry in the abundances of matter and antimatter. At this point the thermal bath consists mainly of photons, neutrinos, electrons, positrons, neutrons and protons. When the temperature reaches about 1 MeV, the neutrinos decouple from the other relativistic species, and shortly after, once the temperature drops below the electron rest mass, electrons and positrons annihilate one another, leaving only a small excess of electrons. Around the same temperatures nuclear reactions become efficient, and free protons and neutrons combine into helium and other light elements in the process of big bang nucleosynthesis (BBN) [20, 21].

#### Nucleosynthesis

As the neutrinos decouple from the thermal bath, the weak interactions that keep the neutron-to-proton ratio in equilibrium become inefficient, with the consequence that the neutrons freeze out and start decaying into protons. Before all neutrons have decayed, the remaining ones bind with protons into deuterium nuclei, which subsequently form heavier nuclei through secondary reactions. These processes, however, only become efficient once the deuterium abundance reaches its equilibrium value. Although the binding energy of deuterium is 2.2 MeV, the large photon-to-baryon number delays the event until a temperature of about 0.06 MeV. After this, heavier nuclei are rapidly produced, but most isotopes cannot reach their equilibrium abundance before the Coulomb barrier shuts the reactions off at a temperature of 30 keV.

Most neutrons end up in <sup>4</sup>He isotopes, which have the highest binding energy per nucleon, and only small amounts of the other light isotopes <sup>2</sup>H, <sup>3</sup>H, <sup>3</sup>He, <sup>7</sup>Li and <sup>7</sup>Be are produced. The amount of <sup>4</sup>He produced crucially depends on the number of available neutrons. This in turn depends on two quantities: the number of relativistic particle species, which affects the temperature of neutron freeze-out, and the total number of baryons, characterized by the baryon-to-photon ratio  $\eta$ . In the Standard Model of particle physics, the former is well constrained, and the abundances of the light elements predicted by nucleosynthesis essentially depend on  $\eta$  alone. As illustrated in Fig. 2.1, observations of light element abundances are in agreement with the predictions from nucleosynthesis (at 95% CL) given that [20]

$$\eta^{\text{BBN}} = \frac{n_B - n_{\bar{B}}}{n_{\gamma}} \Big|_0 = (5.6 \pm 0.9) \times 10^{-10}, \qquad (2.12)$$

where  $n_B$ ,  $n_{\bar{B}}$  and  $n_{\gamma}$  are the number densities of, respectively, baryons, anti-baryons and photons, and the subscript 0 refers to the value today. The fact that there is a range of  $\eta$  which is consistent with all measured abundances is one of the most convincing pieces of evidence in support of the hot big bang cosmological model.

#### Recombination

After nucleosynthesis the cosmic fluid consists mainly of photons, electrons, protons and ionized helium nuclei. Due to the abundance of free charges, the universe is opaque to electromagnetic radiation. When the universe is 380 000 years old and the temperature has come down to 0.3 eV, electrons and nuclei combine to form neutral atoms in the process of recombination. As recombination proceeds, the number of free electrons falls, and matter and radiation decouple. Consequently, the photons can stream freely through the universe, and constitute the CMB sky we observe today. Matter on the other hand is free from the damping interactions with radiation and begins to form the large scale structure from the initial perturbations observed in the CMB.

The CMB temperature anisotropy, as measured by the WMAP satellite, offers an independent test of the value of the baryon-to-photon ratio inferred from nucleosynthesis. A thorough introduction to the physics of the CMB and the estimation of cosmological parameters therefrom can be found in Ref. [22]; for a shorter review see Ref. [23]. The latest analysis of the WMAP data [4] estimates the baryon-to-photon



Figure 2.1: The observed abundances of <sup>4</sup>He, D, <sup>3</sup>He and <sup>7</sup>Li compared to the standard BBN predictions [20]. The boxes indicate the observed light element abundances (smaller boxes correspond to  $2\sigma$  statistical errors, larger boxes to  $\pm 2\sigma$  statistical and systematic errors). The narrow vertical band indicates the CMB measure of the baryon-to-photon ratio, while the wider band indicates the BBN concordance range (both at 95% CL).

ratio (at 68% CL, assuming ACDM cosmology with a scale-invariant power spectrum)

$$\eta^{\text{CMB}} = (6.225 \pm 0.170) \times 10^{-10}.$$
 (2.13)

The constraints on  $\eta$  derived from nucleosynthesis and from the CMB, respectively, are illustrated in Fig. 2.1. The consistency between the constraints from these two probes, which stem from events that took place some 380 000 years apart, is yet another triumph of the standard cosmological model.

#### 2.2.2 The baryon asymmetry

From a particle physics perspective, the observed baryon-to-photon ratio, which quantifies the asymmetry in matter and antimatter, is something of a puzzle. Since there is no evidence of primary forms of antimatter in the universe, at least up to the scale of galaxy clusters, the asymmetry is unlikely to be a local effect, but rather a fundamental property of the universe. In addition, there is good reason to believe that it does not simply reflect an initial condition; since a primordial phase of inflation (see the following section) would quickly dilute away any initial asymmetry, the baryon asymmetry must be dynamically generated at some point before the onset of nucleosynthesis. However, as discussed below, the Standard Model alone is not able to explain its origin.

#### **Baryogenesis**

The criteria for a dynamical process of baryogenesis to be possible were considered by Sakharov in 1967 [24], shortly after the first quantitative predictions from nucleosynthesis had been compared to astrophysical observations. Sakharov identified three necessary conditions for baryogenesis to take place:

- 1. Baryon number violation
- 2. C and CP violation
- 3. Departure from thermal equilibrium<sup>1</sup>

All of these conditions could, in principle, be fulfilled within the Standard Model, during the electro-weak phase transition. If the transition was of first order, it would provide the required departure from equilibrium [26]. Furthermore, the weak interactions maximally violate C, whereas the complex phase in the quark mixing matrix violates CP through the Kobayashi-Maskawa mechanism [27]. Finally, baryon number B, as well as lepton number L, are violated at the quantum level due to the chiral anomaly of the weak interactions [28].

The anomaly gives rise to degenerate vacua differing by their B and L contents, which are separated by potential barriers of the height of the electro-weak scale. Nonperturbative field configurations between adjacent vacua violate B and L by units of three each, but keep B - L conserved. At zero temperature, these transitions are instanton solutions, which have an exponentially suppressed rate and hence no observable effect. At finite temperatures, however, the transitions can take place through thermal fluctuations over the barrier, commonly referred to as sphaleron processes [29]. Above the critical temperature of the electro-weak phase transition these sphaleron transitions become unsuppressed, leading to rapid B + L violation [30].

This scenario of electro-weak baryogenesis nevertheless fails on two of these three accounts. Computations of the thermal Higgs potential show that the electro-weak phase transition is of first order only for a Higgs mass  $m_H \lesssim 70$  GeV [31], which is in apparent conflict with the experimental bound  $m_H \gtrsim 115$  GeV [32]. In addition, the *CP*-violating phase in the Standard Model is simply too small to generate an asymmetry of the observed magnitude [33]. Hence, physics beyond the Standard Model is called for. In Chapter 4 we present some models of baryogenesis, and discuss in more detail the model of thermal leptogenesis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>While the first two conditions are necessary to generate a baryon-antibaryon asymmetry in general, the third condition is a consequence of CPT invariance. For completeness, let us mention that also models of baryogenesis with CPT violation in the early universe have been considered [25], although we shall not discuss this possibility further.

#### 2.3 A period of inflation

Despite its remarkable agreement with observations, the hot big bang model with a radiation dominated primordial universe is not a very successful theory if extrapolated arbitrarily far back in time. It provides no dynamical explanation for the primordial fluctuations observed in the CMB, which make up the seeds for the large scale structure seen in the universe today. Nor can it explain, except by fine-tuning, the observed flatness and homogeneity, which as such imply that parts of the universe which have never been in causal contact have exactly the same conditions.

Both the flatness and homogeneity can be explained successfully by assuming that the early universe underwent a period of inflation, i.e. accelerated expansion, defined by  $\ddot{a} > 0$  [34]. From the equivalent definition

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{1}{aH}\right) < 0 \tag{2.14}$$

one straightforwardly sees how inflation solves the aforementioned problems. Firstly, Eq. (2.8) readily tells us that inflation drives the universe towards flatness. Furthermore, Eq. (2.14) implies that the comoving horizon, roughly corresponding to the distance over which one can have causal interaction on cosmological timescales, decreases with time. Consequently, the observable universe actually becomes smaller during inflation, and the observable universe today could have been well within the horizon and causally connected at the onset of inflation, provided that the amount of expansion was sufficient.

#### 2.3.1 Scalar field inflation

By the second Friedmann equation Eq. (2.5), the inflationary condition  $\ddot{a} > 0$  implies that the pressure and density of the energy component driving inflation must satisfy

$$p < -\frac{1}{3}\rho. \tag{2.15}$$

This excludes both ordinary matter and radiation, but suggests that a vacuum energy like component could be a plausible candidate. However, it is hard to fathom how a non-dynamical vacuum energy could dominate the universe, and then suddenly give way to the standard hot big bang evolution. Although several other dynamical sources of inflation can be imagined, the simplest and most common assumption is that this early era of expansion is caused by the large potential energy of a scalar field, the inflaton. In the work at hand we follow this assumption and consider inflation driven by a single scalar field. For the remainder of this introductory chapter we focus on exploring various aspects of this paradigm. Similar treatments of the topic, but with more detail can be found in Refs. [11, 12].

For a scalar field  $\phi$ , with a canonically normalized kinetic term and the potential  $V(\phi)$  the energy-momentum tensor takes the form

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}\phi\nabla_{\nu}\phi - g_{\mu\nu}\left(\frac{1}{2}g^{\rho\sigma}\nabla_{\rho}\phi\nabla_{\sigma}\phi + V(\phi)\right).$$
(2.16)

In the RW metric the energy-momentum tensor Eq. (2.16) matches that of a perfect fluid with energy density and pressure

$$\rho = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 + \frac{(\nabla\phi)^2}{2a^2} + V(\phi), \qquad (2.17)$$

$$p = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 - \frac{(\nabla\phi)^2}{6a^2} - V(\phi).$$
(2.18)

Since the universe is assumed to be homogeneous, the inflaton, whose energy density dominates the universe, must to the first approximation be homogeneous as well. In reality the field will, nevertheless, have small quantum fluctuations, which can source the primordial density fluctuations, but we shall postpone the discussion of these until a later section. For a homogeneous field, the spatial gradient terms in the energy density Eq. (2.17) and pressure Eq. (2.18) are negligible, and the condition Eq. (2.15) for inflation is satisfied for  $\dot{\phi}^2 < V(\phi)$ . Furthermore, the inflaton equation of motion can then be written in the form

$$\ddot{\phi} + 3H\dot{\phi} + V'(\phi) = 0.$$
(2.19)

#### Slow roll inflation

The required condition  $\dot{\phi}^2 < V(\phi)$  is difficult to maintain for a sufficient period of time, unless the potential energy is properly dominant over the kinetic energy and the evolution of  $\phi$  is slow. The standard way of analyzing the dynamics of inflation, is to make these assumptions in the form of the slow-roll approximation

$$\dot{\phi}^2 \ll V(\phi), \tag{2.20}$$

$$\dot{\phi} \ll 3H\dot{\phi}.$$
 (2.21)

The Friedmann equation Eq. (2.4) and the equation of motion Eq. (2.19), which govern the dynamics, then simplify to the following set of equations

$$H^2 \simeq \frac{V(\phi)}{3M_P^2}, \qquad (2.22)$$

$$3H\dot{\phi} \simeq -V'(\phi).$$
 (2.23)

A priori, it is not obvious that this approximation is able to represent generic inflationary solutions, given that they reduce the order of the full equations. The solutions to the full equations, however, all approach the same asymptotic attractor solution regardless of the initial conditions, as long as  $\dot{\phi}$  is monotonic. The slow-roll solution turns out to be a good approximation to this attractor, which validates its use in analyzing the inflationary dynamics [35].

In the context of slow-roll inflation, it is useful to introduce the two dimensionless slow-roll parameters

$$\epsilon \equiv \frac{M_P^2}{2} \left(\frac{V'}{V}\right)^2, \qquad (2.24)$$

$$\eta \equiv M_P^2 \frac{V''}{V}.$$
(2.25)

Whenever the slow-roll approximation is valid, these parameters satisfy the slow-roll conditions

$$\epsilon \ll 1, \quad |\eta| \ll 1. \tag{2.26}$$

These conditions are necessary but not sufficient, since they only constrain the form of the potential while  $\dot{\phi}$  can break the slow-roll approximation. The end of inflation is usually taken to occur when one of the slow-roll conditions are violated, i.e. when either  $\epsilon \simeq 1$ , or  $|\eta| \simeq 1$ . Whereas this is neither a necessary nor a sufficient condition, the amount of inflation taking place when the slow-roll conditions are violated is usually small. The violation of the slow-roll conditions occurs when the inflaton field  $\phi$  reaches a steeper region of the potential. In typical inflationary models, the inflaton then descends towards the absolute minimum of the potential and begins to oscillate about it.

#### 2.3.2 Recovering the hot big bang

During inflation the universe expands enormously. Consequently, the number densities of any initially present particles are diluted and the energy density of radiation is redshifted, leaving the universe cold and practically empty. The energy density of the universe is, nevertheless, stored in the scalar field potential, in the form of the oscillating inflaton field. To connect the inflationary period to the hot big bang era, this energy density must be transferred into relativistic particles.

#### Reheating

For the inflaton energy to be transferred into relativistic particles, the inflaton must be coupled to some matter fields. In this case, the coherent inflaton oscillations at the end of inflation are damped by quantum mechanical particle creation, as vacuum energy is converted into energy of particles in the process of reheating [36]. The decay of the inflaton in reheating can be described phenomenologically by adding an effective friction term to its equation of motion

$$\ddot{\phi} + 3H\dot{\phi} + \Gamma_{\phi}\dot{\phi} + V'(\phi) = 0, \qquad (2.27)$$

where  $\Gamma_{\phi}$  denotes the total decay rate of the inflaton. Let us assume that the inflaton couples to bosons  $\chi$  and fermions  $\psi$  through the interaction terms  $\mathcal{L}_I = -\frac{1}{2}g^2\phi^2\chi^2$  and  $\mathcal{L}_I = -h\bar{\psi}\psi\phi$ , respectively. The inflaton decay rates are then expressed as

...

$$\Gamma(\phi \to \chi \chi) = \frac{g^4 \langle \phi^2 \rangle}{8\pi m}, \qquad \Gamma(\phi \to \psi \psi) = \frac{h^2 m}{8\pi}, \qquad (2.28)$$

assuming that the fermion and boson masses are negligible in comparison to the inflaton mass m, and the total decay rate is then the sum of the above.

While the inflaton field is oscillating, the energy density of the universe evolves as if it was matter dominated. As an approximation, we can assume that when  $\Gamma_{\phi} = H$ , the inflaton suddenly decays into relativistic particles. Requiring that the critical energy density  $\rho = 3M_P^2 H^2$  thus corresponds to the energy density of the relativistic thermal bath  $\rho \propto g_* T_{\rm RH}^4$ , we obtain an upper limit on the reheating temperature of the universe

$$T_{\rm RH} = \frac{1.7}{g_*^{1/4}} \sqrt{M_P \Gamma_{\phi}}, \qquad (2.29)$$

where  $g_*$  is the number of relativistic degrees of freedom, which in the Standard Model takes the value 106.75. The actual value of the reheating temperature naturally depends on the model of inflation. From direct observations we know that the temperature must be at least somewhat higher than the temperature for nucleosynthesis, but low enough to avoid the production of monopoles, which sets the temperature in the range  $10^{-2}$  GeV  $\leq T_{\rm RH} \leq 10^{16}$  GeV. For specific models, also several other considerations impose constraints on the reheating temperature, some of which we will discuss elsewhere in this thesis, leading to a much more stringent overall constraint on the temperature.

#### Parametric resonance

When the inflaton is coupled to bosons with the interaction term  $\mathcal{L}_I = -\frac{1}{2}g^2\phi^2\chi^2$ , there is a possibility that the oscillating inflaton field decays non-perturbatively through parametric resonance [37, 38]. This non-perturbative decay of the inflaton, termed preheating, is extremely rapid compared to the perturbative decay of reheating. The decay is induced by the time-dependent mass

$$m_{\chi}^2(t) = \bar{m}_{\chi}^2 + g^2 \phi^2(t), \qquad (2.30)$$

which the coupling to the inflaton generates for the  $\chi$  field, where  $\bar{m}_{\chi}^2$  is the bare mass of the field. Quanta of the field  $\chi$  will be created due to this time-varying background, taking their energy from the inflaton condensate, gradually damping the inflaton oscillations.

The particle production occurs as a result of the violation of adiabaticity and hence takes place only when

$$|\dot{m}_{\chi}(t)| \gtrsim m_{\chi}^2(t). \tag{2.31}$$

Since the change in  $m_{\chi}$  is maximal when the inflaton condensate passes through the origin, while its absolute value is minimal, adiabaticity is maximally violated and particle production efficient in a region around  $\phi = 0$ . Neglecting the bare mass  $\bar{m}_{\chi}$ , the condition for violation of adiabaticity Eq. (2.31) implies

$$|\dot{\phi}| \gtrsim g^2 |\phi|^2. \tag{2.32}$$

For a harmonic oscillator of mass m, the velocity of the field in the minimum of the effective potential can be written as  $|\dot{\phi}| = m\phi_0$ , where  $\phi_0$  is the initial amplitude of the field. Particle production thus occurs within the region

$$|\phi| \lesssim |\phi_*| \equiv \sqrt{\frac{m\phi_0}{g}},\tag{2.33}$$

where we have defined  $\phi_*$  as the value of the inflaton condensate when particle production begins. In general this interval is very short, and the particle production occurs nearly instantaneously, within the time

$$\Delta t \sim \frac{|\phi_*|}{|\dot{\phi}|} \sim (gm\phi_0)^{-1/2} \,. \tag{2.34}$$

The uncertainty principle then implies that the particles will typically be created with momenta

$$k \sim \Delta t^{-1} \sim (gm\phi_0)^{1/2}$$
. (2.35)

The particles are estimated to be produced with an occupation number [38]

$$n_k \simeq \exp\left(-\pi \frac{k^2 + \bar{m}_{\chi}^2}{g|\dot{\phi}|}\right),\tag{2.36}$$

which is valid also for a vanishing bare mass  $\bar{m}_{\chi}$ . An integration over the momentum yields the number density of particles produced during one oscillation

$$n_{\chi} \simeq \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \int \mathrm{d}k \, k^2 n_k \sim \frac{(g\dot{\phi})^{3/2}}{8\pi^3} \exp\left(-\frac{\pi \bar{m}_{\chi}^2}{g|\dot{\phi}|}\right).$$
 (2.37)

In the case that  $\bar{m}_{\chi}^2 \leq g |\dot{\phi}|$ , there is no exponential suppression, and  $\chi$  particles are created with a large number density. Depending on the mass and couplings of the given inflationary model, the mass of these particles can be quite large, even a few orders of magnitude above the inflaton mass. In general the produced particles are far away from thermal equilibrium, and hence decay further immediately after preheating. Eventually, the decay products thermalize and the hot big bang era takes off.

#### Instant preheating

Let us suppose now that the boson  $\chi$  couples to another field, which we here take to be a fermionic field  $\psi$ , through the interaction

$$\mathcal{L}_I = -h\psi\psi\chi. \tag{2.38}$$

As the inflaton starts its oscillations, at the bottom of the first oscillation the effective mass of  $\chi$  reaches its minimum and field quanta are copiously produced. As the inflaton climbs up its potential again, the mass of the produced  $\chi$  particles grows and, finally, when the mass is large enough the field decays into  $\psi$  particles. This process damps the inflaton oscillations very efficiently, and preheating may take place nearly instantaneously, during just a single inflaton oscillation [39]. Furthermore, this instant preheating process allows for production of particles with masses even two orders of magnitude greater than those produced by the usual preheating mechanism.

While here we have discussed the non-perturbative production of particles through parametric resonance of the oscillating inflaton field, similar processes can of course take place for any oscillating scalar field with interactions. In Section 3.3 we shall return to the discussion of this production mechanism, but in the context of supersymmetric flat directions.

#### 2.3.3 The primordial perturbations

So far, we have considered only the homogeneous part of the inflaton. During inflation, however, any scalar field including the inflaton will experience quantum fluctuations [40, 41]. Since the inflaton dominates the energy density of the universe during inflation, its fluctuations generate perturbations also in the energy density and the background metric. After inflation, when the universe becomes matter dominated, these metric perturbations induce matter perturbations, which may eventually be seen as the temperature fluctuations in the CMB and as the large scale structure of the universe.

Whereas the inflationary paradigm was originally proposed on other grounds, the remarkable fact that it is able to provide such a simple and elegant explanation for the origin of the primordial perturbations is nowadays considered its main virtue. Here we very briefly survey the generation of primordial metric perturbations during inflation, in order to understand what constraints the CMB observations can place on inflationary models. For more detailed analyses, see for example Refs. [12, 42]. Since statistical information is extracted from the observations in terms of correlation functions of the temperature fluctuations, our primary goal shall be to identify the correlation functions of the primordial perturbations.

#### The generation of perturbations during inflation

Perturbations of the metric can in general be decomposed into scalar, vector and tensor degrees of freedom, which evolve independently from each other at the linear level [43, 44]. During inflation, only scalar and tensor perturbations are produced. We focus on the scalar perturbations, which couple to density and pressure perturbations, and are thus the most relevant ones for the growth of structure. First order scalar perturbations around the flat FRW solution can be represented by the metric

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = -(1+2\phi)\mathrm{d}t^2 + 2a\partial_i B\mathrm{d}t\mathrm{d}x^i + a^2(t)\big((1-2\psi)\delta_{ij} + 2\partial_i\partial_j E\big)\mathrm{d}x^i\mathrm{d}x^j.$$
(2.39)

The generation of perturbations during inflation is convenient to treat in the spatially flat gauge, in which the spatial part of the metric reads simply  $g_{ij} = a^2 \delta_{ij}$ . The equation of motion for the Fourier modes  $\delta \phi_k(t)$  of the inflaton perturbation  $\delta \phi(x)$ , derived from Eq. (2.19), is then solved in the slow-roll approximation by [45]

$$\delta\phi_k(t) = \frac{iH}{\sqrt{2k^3}} \left(1 - \frac{ik}{aH}\right) e^{\frac{ik}{aH}} \tag{2.40}$$

and its complex conjugate  $\delta \phi_k^*(t)$ , where it has been assumed that  $m \ll H$  and H is treated as a constant. Upon quantization these solutions become the mode functions of the inflaton perturbation operator  $\delta \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t) = \delta \phi_k(t) \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}} + \delta \phi_k^*(t) \hat{a}_{-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}$ , and the two-point function can be written as [46]

$$\langle \delta \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t) \delta \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}'}(t) \rangle = (2\pi)^3 \delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}') |\delta \phi_k(t)|^2.$$
(2.41)

For wavelengths well within the horizon,  $k \gg aH$ , the perturbations are oscillatory, corresponding to standard vacuum fluctuations. After horizon crossing, however, the

perturbations eventually freeze as the solution, Eq. (2.40), approaches a constant value for  $k \ll aH$ . Consequently also the two-point function freezes to a constant value

$$\langle \delta \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}} \delta \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}'} \rangle = (2\pi)^3 \delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}') \frac{H^2}{2k^3}, \qquad (2.42)$$

and the perturbations essentially become classical quantities.

#### The curvature perturbation

Throughout the previous calculation, we have treated the Hubble parameter as a constant. Consequently, all results, including the constancy of the super-horizon fluctuations holds only for a given value of H. During inflation, H changes slowly enough that it can with reason be approximated to a constant during the evolution of a given scale through the horizon. For following the evolution of the perturbations after horizon exit, however, and for relating them to the CMB observations, it is convenient to interpret them in terms of metric perturbations.

To this end, a useful quantity is the metric perturbation  $\psi$  of Eq. (2.39), also referred to as the curvature perturbation, which determines the perturbation in the spatial curvature scalar <sup>(3)</sup>R induced by the metric perturbations,

$${}^{(3)}R = \frac{4}{a^2} \nabla^2 \psi. \tag{2.43}$$

The primordial perturbations generated during inflation are commonly expressed in terms of the curvature perturbation evaluated in the uniform energy density gauge [47]

$$\zeta = \psi|_{\delta\rho=0} = \psi + \frac{H}{\dot{\rho}_0}\delta\rho, \qquad (2.44)$$

where the right hand side corresponds to the quantity in any given gauge. The virtue of this definition is that, for adiabatic perturbations, such as are created during slowroll inflation, it remains constant on super-horizon scales. Another commonly used quantity is the curvature perturbation evaluated in the comoving gauge

$$\mathcal{R} = \psi|_{\delta\phi=0} = \psi + \frac{H}{\dot{\phi}}\delta\phi, \qquad (2.45)$$

which is given here for a scalar field dominated universe.

On large scales, these two quantities approximately coincide, and may be used interchangeably. From  $\mathcal{R}$ , which is directly related to the inflaton perturbation, it is easy to find the translation between the two. In the spatially flat gauge  $\mathcal{R} = \frac{H}{\phi} \delta \phi$ , and we obtain the two-point function for the curvature perturbations

$$\langle \mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{k}} \mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{k}'} \rangle = \frac{H^2}{\dot{\phi}^2} \langle \delta \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}} \delta \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}'} \rangle = (2\pi)^3 \delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}') \frac{H^2}{\dot{\phi}^2} \frac{H^2}{2k^3}.$$
 (2.46)

Cosmological density fields provide an example of the ergodic property, which implies that averages over a large volume tend to the same answer as averages over a statistical ensemble. Thanks to this property of statistical random fields, these ensemble averages predicted by slow-roll inflation can rightfully be compared to the spatial averages observed in the CMB.

#### 2.4 Inflationary potentials: observables and constraints

In the previous section, we have discussed how inflation driven by a scalar field successfully explains aspects of the observed universe, which cannot be accounted for within the hot big bang model. In our treatment, however, we have considered only a general scalar field, without any mention of the form of the potential. Let us now take a step further, and discuss how inflationary potentials can be constrained with observational data, in order to single out potentials that can indeed lead to a successful period of inflation in light of these constraints.

We shall continue to make the assumption that inflation takes place within the slow-roll regime, which already in itself poses some constraints on the potential. In particular when it comes to identifying inflationary models within some well-motivated particle physics theory, potentials that satisfy the slow-roll conditions for a sufficient period of time are non-trivial to come by. Here we will, nevertheless, consider the inflationary potential from a purely phenomenological perspective and postpone the discussion of embedding inflation into particle theory to Chapter 5.

#### 2.4.1 The amount of expansion

To explain the observed flatness and homogeneity, the inflationary expansion must have lasted sufficiently long for an initial region of space inside the causal horizon to grow at least to the size of the observable universe today. The amount of expansion during inflation is conveniently expressed through the number of e-folds

$$N(t) = \ln \frac{a(t_{\text{end}})}{a(t)}, \qquad (2.47)$$

which measures the factor by which the scale factor grows between some time t during inflation and the end of inflation at  $t_{end}$  [11]. For slow roll inflation, this can be written as

$$N(t) = \int_{t}^{t_{\text{end}}} H dt \simeq -\frac{1}{M_P^2} \int_{\phi}^{\phi_{\text{end}}} \frac{V}{V'} d\phi, \qquad (2.48)$$

where  $\phi_{\text{end}}$  is the value of the inflaton at the end of inflation, defined by the violation of the slow-roll conditions Eq. (2.26). In typical models of inflation, the scales corresponding to the current size of the universe have grown larger than the horizon about 50-70 e-folds before the end of inflation [48], which is thus the minimum required number. In most single-field models, however, the total number of e-folds is much greater.

Although the total number of e-folds during inflation is a highly model dependent quantity, it is not an observable, and hence cannot be used to distinguish between otherwise viable potentials. The cosmological data, including the CMB observations, only probes the first 10 or so of the last 60 e-folds before the end of inflation [8]. The best, if not only, means of testing inflationary potentials is thus to compare theoretical predictions of the properties of the primordial perturbations with the perturbations observed in the CMB.

#### 2.4.2 Predictions from the primordial spectrum

In the previous section, we derived an expression for the two-point correlation function Eq. (2.46) of the primordial curvature perturbation produced in slow-roll inflation. From the correlation function we define the power spectrum  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{R}}(k)$  of the curvature perturbation as follows

$$\langle \mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{k}} \mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{k}'} \rangle = (2\pi)^3 \delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}') \frac{2\pi^2}{k^3} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{R}}(k).$$
(2.49)

The shape of the primordial power spectrum is a very powerful and convenient tool for constraining inflaton potentials. By Eq. (2.46), single field slow-roll inflation generates primordial perturbations with the power spectrum [11]

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{R}}(k) \simeq \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 \left(\frac{H}{\dot{\phi}}\right)^2 \simeq \frac{1}{24\pi^2 M_P^4} \frac{V}{\epsilon},$$
(2.50)

where H, V and  $\epsilon$  are to be determined at the horizon exit of the scale k. Since the amplitude of the primordial perturbations is controlled by the quantity  $V/\epsilon$ , measurements of this amplitude provide information about the energy scale which dominates the universe during inflation.

Another important observable is the spectral index  $n_s$ , which measures the dependence of the power spectrum on the wave number k. The scale dependence of the curvature power spectrum is given by the scalar spectral index, which is defined as

$$n_s(k) - 1 \equiv \frac{\mathrm{d}\ln \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{R}}(k)}{\mathrm{d}\ln k} \simeq 2\eta - 6\epsilon, \qquad (2.51)$$

where the latter expression is valid to first order in the slow-roll parameters. Also the scale dependence, i.e. running, of the scalar spectral index  $dn_s(k)/d\ln k$  is an observationally relevant quantity, which is of second order in the slow-roll parameters [49].

Similarly to the spectrum of curvature perturbations, one can calculate the spectrum of gravitational waves  $\mathcal{P}_h(k)$  from the two-point correlation function of the tensor perturbations [44]. For slow-roll inflation the spectrum takes the form

$$\mathcal{P}_h(k) \simeq \frac{8}{M_P} \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 \simeq \frac{2}{3\pi^2} \frac{V}{M_P^4}.$$
(2.52)

An analogous expression to Eq. (2.51) can be written for the tensor part of the primordial spectrum. By custom, however, the tensor spectral index is defined as

$$n_t(k) \equiv \frac{\mathrm{d}\ln \mathcal{P}_h(k)}{\mathrm{d}\ln k} \simeq -2\epsilon.$$
(2.53)

#### Constraints from observations

The overall amplitude of the primordial curvature perturbations can be determined from the CMB observations. The best-fit value from the latest measurements reads [4]

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{R}}(k_0) = 2.41 \times 10^{-9}, \tag{2.54}$$

evaluated at the scale  $k_0 = 0.002 \text{Mpc}^{-1}$ . Requiring that the spectrum, Eq. (2.50), predicted by slow-roll inflation fits this value imposes an important constraint on the inflationary energy scale

$$\left(\frac{V}{\epsilon}\right)^{1/4} \simeq 0.027 M_P \simeq 6.6 \times 10^{16} \text{ GeV}, \qquad (2.55)$$

with V and  $\epsilon$  assumed to be evaluated at the horizon crossing of the scale  $k_0$ . Since the slow-roll conditions require  $\epsilon < 1$ , the constraint implies that the inflationary energy scale must be at least a couple of orders of magnitude below the Planck scale, although it can be much smaller for smaller  $\epsilon$ . Observations of the tensor part of the spectrum, which in slow-roll inflation is proportional to the potential only, could help determine the value of the inflationary potential and the slow-roll parameter  $\epsilon$  separately.

Unfortunately, current data is not able to directly detect any tensor perturbations, but some bounds on their magnitude can be inferred. Observational constraints on the tensor spectrum are usually expressed in terms of the relation between the tensor and the scalar power spectrum [50]

$$r \equiv \frac{\mathcal{P}_t(k)}{\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{R}}(k)} \simeq 16\epsilon \simeq -8n_t, \qquad (2.56)$$

which is proportional to the tensor spectral index in the slow-roll approximation. In fact, this relation is often termed the consistency equation for slow-roll inflation, since a measurement of the two amplitudes involved could disprove the framework, if they were found not to satisfy the proportionality relation. The tensor spectral index, nevertheless, remains completely unconstrained by observations and is usually not even considered a free parameter in cosmological data analysis, but its value is enforced by the consistency condition Eq. (2.56).

Observations of both the tensor-to-scalar ratio and the scalar spectral index provide further constraints on specific inflationary models. Due to degeneracies in the parameter space, these cannot be determined independently of one another. Assuming that the running of the scalar spectral index is negligible, the tensor-to-scalar ratio is constrained to r < 0.20 [8]. In this case the best-fit value for the scalar spectral index reads

$$n_s = 0.968 \pm 0.015, \tag{2.57}$$

indicating a preference for a slightly tilted spectrum, consistent with slow-roll inflation. If significant running of the spectral index is allowed for, however, the bounds are considerably relaxed. At present, the data shows no preference for a running spectral index, but the possibility cannot be ruled out.

Another important observable is the statistical nature of the primordial perturbations [51]. Since inflation requires such flat potentials, the fluctuations in the inflaton field are very weakly coupled to one another. This implies that the primordial density fluctuations obey gaussian statistics. To date no non-gaussian correlations have been seen in the CMB, but the existence of small non-gaussianities cannot be excluded [8].

#### 2.4.3 Models of inflation

Single-field inflationary models can be classified into two general categories: large-field and small-field models, according to the change in the vacuum expectation value (vev) of the inflaton during inflation. Also a third category, hybrid inflation, is closely related to the single-field models, even though it requires the presence of two scalar fields. Here we very briefly outline the main features of each category; more details can be found in Refs. [11, 48].

#### Large-field models

In large-field models the inflaton field is initially displaced far from its minimum, usually even at values larger than the Planck scale, from where it rolls towards its minimum at the origin. The typical example is chaotic inflation [41], referring to models with monomial potentials  $V(\phi) \propto \phi^p$ . These models are characterized by chaotic initial conditions, which presumably correspond to some sort of quantum gravity or string state. Within this chaotic quantum gravity state, it can generically be assumed, without detailed knowledge of its nature, that a large enough region eventually becomes dominated by some scalar field and starts to inflate. This explanation for the initial conditions is a big advantage of the chaotic model. The required large field values of the inflaton, on the other hand, are a potential source of problems, although it can be argued that they pose no real problem if the self-coupling of the inflation is small so that the value of the potential stays well below  $M_P^A$ .

In the most recent CMB observations, the precision is high enough that some of the chaotic inflation models can be excluded by the data [8]. This is the case in particular for the p = 4 case, which previously was considered a viable inflationary model on theoretical grounds. The simplest case with a quadratic potential, however, still remains in agreement with data.

#### Small-field models

Sub-Planckian field values can be achieved in models with polynomial potentials. In such models, the inflationary energy scale is typically smaller than for large field models, and consequently tighter constraints on the flatness of the potential are usually implied, with the risk of requiring fine-tuning. For example, in small-field inflation the initial value of the inflaton is often required to be specified very precisely. Due to the low inflationary scale, these models can usually not be constrained by observations. On the other hand, small-field models are in general easier to connect to some known physics, since non-renormalizable extensions of the Standard Model can be trusted at least to some extent. The inflationary scenario discussed in Chapter 5 provides an example of a model within this category.

#### Hybrid models

In hybrid models of inflation [52], the expansion occurs through the interplay of two scalar fields. The dynamics during inflation is that of a single field in slow-roll, whereas the end of inflation is induced by the second field settling in its true minimum. For this reason, hybrid models can usually be constructed with sub-Planckian vevs and have a close connection to particle physics [53]. Nevertheless, the parameter space of the simplest hybrid models is strongly constrained by CMB observations, unless significant running of the spectral index is allowed for [8].

#### 2.5 Beyond inflation

From a phenomenological perspective, the fact that a model as simple as single-field slow-roll inflation is able to solve several fundamental cosmological problems renders the inflationary scenario a very attractive possibility. The additional feature that even the most elementary models, such as chaotic inflation with a quadratic potential, can account for the primordial spectrum of temperature fluctuations, seemingly in perfect agreement with cosmological observations, only further adds to its appeal. However simple and compelling, scalar field inflation is, nevertheless, not entirely satisfactory from a theoretical point of view. Some of its problems can merely be accounted issues of naturalness and fine-tuning, but others are of a more conceptual nature. Here we review a few of the most pressing of these issues in short and discuss their implications for our understanding of the very early universe.

#### Shortcomings of inflation

As already alluded to above, the success of many inflationary models relies on having specific initial conditions for the inflaton field. Given that the main motivation for inflation is to provide a physical explanation for the otherwise highly fine-tuned initial conditions required for the success of the hot big bang, one might question whether there is really a call for inflation after all. Although one can reasonably argue that the fine-tuning of initial conditions required for inflation is less severe than that for the hot big bang, a resolution to this issue would certainly place the motivation for inflation on more solid ground.

Another important problem is the question of trans-Planckian effects in the primordial perturbations, see e.g. [54]. In scalar field inflation, the generation of primordial perturbations relies on microscopic quantum fluctuations during inflation being magnified by the enormous expansion of space into cosmic scale perturbations. The initial state of these quantum fluctuations is typically assumed to be given by the Bunch-Davies vacuum of de Sitter space. The choice of vacuum, however, can only be affirmed by assuming that a given fluctuation mode can be followed to arbitrarily small scales, since in general the notion of a vacuum in an expanding spacetime is not unique. Nonetheless, the calculation of the perturbations is performed in the semi-classical theory, where scalar fields are treated quantum mechanically, while the background geometry is treated classically in Einstein's theory of General Relativity. It is obvious that such a framework cannot in general be expected to be valid at length scales smaller than the Planck scale. Hence, the most attractive feature of the inflationary paradigm, the prediction of the origin of the primordial perturbations, is based on calculations whose validity cannot be guaranteed.

While this might give reason to question the validity of inflationary predictions altogether, it also opens up the possibility of probing physics beyond the Planck scale through inflation. Several approaches towards estimating the possible magnitude and nature of such trans-Planckian corrections have been suggested. Although the question is not entirely settled, the magnitude of the effect is believed to be fairly small, but might, in fact, be observable in the near future [55].

#### Looking beyond inflation

Apart from the problems discussed above, there are a number of issues that were originally considered problems of the hot big bang model, which inflation completely fails to address, leaving them fully unresolved. One such issue, which we will discuss further in Chapter 6, is the problem of the initial singularity, which cannot be avoided in a cosmology based on Einstein's field equations if the matter source obeys the weak energy condition. The singularity theorem has also been generalized to apply to any manifold on which the local Hubble parameter measured by an observer on a null or time-like geodesic is bounded from below by a positive constant in the past [56]. This implies that even in scalar field-driven inflationary cosmology, a past singularity at some point in space is inevitable. A consistent model of the primordial universe, on the other hand, would either need to be non-singular or have a controlled singularity that does not lie outside its domain of validity.

One might note that the problems discussed above can all be associated with our ignorance about the physics which governs the energy scales around the Planck scale, which inflation comes very close to probing. Some of these problems could thus be naturally resolved by whatever theory of quantum gravity that resolves the ultraviolet problems of the Standard Model. This quantum gravity theory may well lead to a period of cosmological inflation, making the primordial perturbations a testing ground for fundamental physics. However, the possibility of alternative scenarios for the early universe should perhaps not be forgotten. Single-field slow-roll inflation is after all only one possible way of making inflation theoretically possible, but inflation does not necessarily require a scalar field at all. Moreover, the flatness and horizon problems and even the generation of primordial perturbations may eventually be explained without any period of inflation whatsoever.

## Chapter 3

# Supersymmetry and friends

In the previous chapter we have highlighted several cosmological problems that cannot be satisfactorily addressed with the physics of the Standard Model. In the enclosed research papers, to be discussed in Chapters 4-6, we consider a number of these issues, assuming that physics beyond the Standard Model exhibits supersymmetry. To facilitate the coming presentations, we here briefly review the basics of the supersymmetric framework. As the main focus of this thesis is on the cosmological questions, we refrain from arguing the case for supersymmetry and by no means attempt to provide a complete introduction to this vast topic. We simply present, in a rather concise form, the tools and concepts that are required for following the treatment in the subsequent chapters.

Since the early universe corresponds to high energy scales, supersymmetry in this context implies supergravity, and possibly also string theory, see e.g. [57]. The former two are reviewed in Sections 3.1 and 3.2, respectively, with emphasis on the scalar sector of the theories. More detailed accounts of the subjects covered can be found in several excellent reviews on low-energy supersymmetry [58, 59]. Section 3.3 is then devoted to supersymmetric flat directions, which play a particularly important role in the early universe [60]. Although we will on several occasions further on in this thesis touch upon the subject of string theory, we choose not to discuss it here, since even a very compact introduction to the relevant topics would take up a disproportionate part of this work. Instead, we refer the reader to some basic texts on string theory [61].

#### 3.1 Supersymmetry

Supersymmetry can be realized either as a global or a local symmetry. We will first consider the case of global supersymmetry, and make the generalization to local supersymmetry below. In order to make the connection to low-energy physics, we focus on N = 1 supersymmetry in four dimensions. The supersymmetry algebra then has two irreducible representations containing fields of spin less than or equal to one: chiral and vector supermultiplets.

The chiral superfield  $\Phi(\theta, \bar{\theta}, x)$  carries the field contents of the chiral supermultiplet: a Weyl spinor  $\psi_{\alpha}(x)$  and a complex scalar  $\phi(x)$ . In addition, it contains an auxiliary complex scalar field F(x), which encodes off-shell degrees of freedom. The vector superfield  $V(\theta, \bar{\theta}, x)$  contains a massless gauge field  $A_{\mu}(x)$  and its superpartner, a Weyl spinor  $\lambda_{\alpha}(x)$ , along with a real auxiliary scalar field D(x).

To write down the action for a set of chiral superfields  $\Phi_n$ , transforming in some representation of a gauge group G, a vector superfield  $V^a$  is introduced for each gauge generator [62]. In the representation defined by the scalar fields (excluding the possible Fayet-Iliopoulos term) the most general renormalizable Lagrangian is then

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{n} \int d^{4}\theta \Phi_{n}^{\dagger} e^{V} \Phi_{n} + \frac{1}{4g^{2}} \int d^{2}\theta W_{\alpha}^{2} + \text{h.c.} + \int d^{2}\theta W(\Phi_{n}) + \text{h.c.}$$
(3.1)

Here  $V = T^a V_a$ , where  $T^a$  are the hermitian generators of the gauge group G and  $W_{\alpha}$  is the superspace analogue of the gauge invariant field strength  $F_{\mu\nu}$ . The superpotential  $W(\Phi)$  is a holomorphic function of the chiral superfields, which determines the interactions between fields in the chiral multiplet. In a renormalizable theory the superpotential can be at most cubic in the fields, corresponding to a quartic potential.

#### The scalar potential

Of particular relevance for the topics treated in this thesis, is the potential for the scalar components of the chiral multiplet, which can be identified from the Lagrangian Eq. (3.1) as

$$V(\phi_n, \phi_n^*) = \sum_n |F_n|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_a D_a D^a.$$
 (3.2)

The F- and D-terms are obtained from the equations of motion of the auxiliary fields in the chiral and vector multiplets, respectively

$$F_n^* = \frac{\partial W}{\partial \phi_n}, \quad D^a = \sum_{m,n} \left( g^a \phi_m^* T_{mn}^a \phi_n \right). \tag{3.3}$$

In supersymmetry, unlike in the Standard Model, the scalar potential is evidently strongly constrained by gauge symmetries and supersymmetry. An important consequence of this is the existence of a number of directions in the space spanned by the scalar fields, known as flat directions, along which the potential is exactly zero. We will return to these in more detail in Section 3.3.

#### 3.1.1 The Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model

In the minimal supersymmetric extension of the Standard Model (MSSM), the gauge symmetry is still  $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$ , but every particle has a supersymmetric partner (sparticle) with the same quantum numbers. For each fermion, a chiral superfield with a spin zero sfermion is introduced. Likewise, every gauge field is partnered with a spin 1/2 gaugino into a vector superfield. In addition, two chiral Higgs doublets of opposite hypercharge, each containing a Higgs boson and a spin 1/2 higgsino, need to be introduced to couple to up- and down-type quarks respectively.

The superpotential of the chiral superfields in the MSSM can be written in the form

$$W = h_u \bar{u} Q H_u - h_d dQ H_d - h_e \bar{e} L H_d + \mu H_u H_d, \qquad (3.4)$$

where all gauge and flavor indices are suppressed. The quark and lepton superfields are denoted by Q, L,  $\bar{u}$ ,  $\bar{d}$  and  $\bar{e}$ , with barred fields representing SU(2) singlets, while  $H_u$ and  $H_d$  are the Higgs doublets. Finally  $h_u$ ,  $h_d$ ,  $h_e$  are the Yukawa coupling matrices in flavor space, and the  $\mu$ -term is a supersymmetric mass term for the Higgs fields. Although the term is a supersymmetry preserving quantity, it is forced to be of similar magnitude,  $\mu \sim 100$  GeV, as quantities that break supersymmetry, in order for the electro-weak symmetry breaking to be phenomenologically viable [63]. The scalar components of the Higgs bosons have the vacuum expectation values  $\langle H_u \rangle \equiv v_u = v \sin \beta$ and  $\langle H_d \rangle \equiv v_d = v \cos \beta$ , where v = 174 GeV is the electroweak breaking scale. Their ratio is thus given by

$$\tan \beta \equiv \frac{v_u}{v_d}.\tag{3.5}$$

The superpotential Eq. (3.4) is the minimal one required for a phenomenologically viable model. In addition, there is a set of dimension four terms permitted by the gauge symmetries. These terms, however, violate baryon and lepton number and hence produce proton decay, unless couplings are highly fine-tuned. A simple solution to the problem with proton stability, is to impose a discrete  $Z_2$  symmetry, known as *R*-parity [64]. Under this symmetry, all ordinary particles are even, while their superpartners are odd. Under exact *R*-parity, no mixing between particles and sparticles is allowed, which eliminates all of the dangerous operators. Apart from solving the immediate problem, *R*-parity has several phenomenological consequences. Most importantly, it predicts that the lightest supersymmetric particle (LSP) is stable and weakly interacting, making it an excellent dark matter candidate [65].

#### 3.1.2 Supersymmetry breaking

The supersymmetry algebra implies that particles in the same supermultiplet have equal masses, but so far no supersymmetric partners of any Standard Model particles have been observed. Consequently, if supersymmetry is indeed a symmetry of nature, it must be broken at low energies.

Global supersymmetry can be broken either spontaneously or explicitly. From a theoretical point of view, it is expected to be an exact symmetry that is spontaneously broken by a non-invariant vacuum state,  $Q_{\bar{a}}|0\rangle \neq 0$ , where  $Q_{\bar{a}}$  is the supersymmetry generator. The expectation value of the total energy

$$\langle H \rangle = \frac{1}{4} \left( \|Q_1^{\dagger}|0\rangle\|^2 + \|Q_1|0\rangle\|^2 + \|Q_2^{\dagger}|0\rangle\|^2 + \|Q_2|0\rangle\|^2 \right) \ge 0$$
(3.6)

works as an order parameter for spontaneous symmetry breaking. The vacuum energy is zero only when supersymmetry is unbroken. Consequently, supersymmetry is spontaneously broken if at least one of the F- and D-terms in the scalar potential Eq. (3.2) has a non-vanishing vev

$$\langle F_n \rangle \neq 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \langle D^a \rangle \neq 0.$$
 (3.7)

Spontaneous symmetry breaking in general implies the existence of a massless Nambu-Goldstone particle with the same quantum numbers as the symmetry generator. In supersymmetry this is the goldstino: the fermionic component of the supermultiplet in which the auxiliary field whose vev breaks supersymmetry resides.

In the absence of a well defined ultraviolet completion of the MSSM, numerous phenomenological models for spontaneous symmetry breaking have been proposed. The standard procedure amounts to extending the theory with some set of fields, the hidden sector, which are responsible for the symmetry breaking [66]. The models are classified as gravity-mediated if the interaction between the standard fields and the hidden sector is of gravitational strength. In this case the scale of the symmetry breaking particles is intermediate between the Planck and the weak scale. Alternatively, in the gaugemediated models, the breaking takes place at some much lower energy with gauge interactions serving as the messenger fields [67]. In the following section, we shall discuss the gravity mediated scenario in more detail, in the context of supergravity.

#### Soft breaking

At low energies, however, most of the supersymmetry breaking models simply give rise to an effective Lagrangian that is supersymmetric, apart from explicit supersymmetry breaking terms. From the low energy perspective, it is hence practical to ignore the details of supersymmetry breaking and simply parameterize its effect by introducing explicit supersymmetry breaking interactions.

Let us write the effective Lagrangian as  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{SUSY} + \mathcal{L}_{soft}$ , where  $\mathcal{L}_{soft}$  is the supersymmetry violating part. For such a theory to maintain its solution to the hierarchy problem, the explicit supersymmetry breaking terms must be soft, i.e. have couplings with positive mass dimension. The most general renormalizable soft supersymmetry breaking Lagrangian for the MSSM can be written as [68]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{soft}} = -\frac{1}{2} \left( M_a \lambda^a \lambda^a + \frac{1}{3} A^{ijk} \phi_i \phi_j \phi_k + b^{ij} \phi_i \phi_j \right) + \text{h.c.} - (m^2)^{ij} \phi_i^* \phi_j, \qquad (3.8)$$

where  $M_a$  and  $m^2$  stand for gaugino and scalar masses respectively, and  $A^{ijk}$  and  $b^{ij}$  are trilinear and bilinear scalar couplings. With  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{soft}}$  of the form above, quantum corrections to the Higgs mass from the supersymmetry breaking terms will be proportional to  $m_{\text{soft}}$ , the largest scale associated with  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{soft}}$ . To naturally produce the right value for the Higgs vev,  $m_{\text{soft}} \lesssim 1$  TeV is required.

#### 3.2 Supergravity

So far we have considered only global supersymmetry, with the additional assumption of renormalizability. If supersymmetry is not merely an accidental symmetry, however, it must be a local one. When the supersymmetry is made local, invariance under general coordinate transformations is necessarily imposed, and hence the theory automatically includes gravity. The theory of supergravity, like other theories of gravity, is in general thought to be non-renormalizable.<sup>1</sup> The field content of supergravity thus includes an additional representation: the gravity supermultiplet, with a massless graviton  $h_{\mu\nu}$  and its superpartner the spin 3/2 gravitino  $\Psi_{\mu}$ . The chiral and vector supermultiplets are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>However, some recent studies suggest that supergravity with eight sets of supersymmetry generators could be finite in the ultraviolet limit [69].
defined as in supersymmetry, but their interactions are generalized as the requirement of renormalizability is relaxed.

The full supergravity Lagrangian, which can be found e.g. in Ref. [70], will not be necessary for our purposes. Here we focus on the effective Lagrangian for the chiral and vector superfields, which reduces to the one of global supersymmetry in the limit  $M_P \to \infty$ . Including terms of up to two derivatives, the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \int d^4\theta \sum_n K(\Phi_n^*, \Phi_n) + \int d^2\theta \left( \sum_{ab} f_{ab}(\Phi_n) W_\alpha^a W^{\alpha b} + W(\Phi_n) + \text{h.c.} \right), \quad (3.9)$$

which contains within it the most general non-renormalizable supersymmetric theory, is fully specified by three functions as follows. The Kähler potential  $K(\Phi_n^*, \Phi_n)$  is a real, gauge invariant function of both the chiral fields and their conjugates; it determines the kinetic terms of the scalar fields. The gauge kinetic function  $f_{ab}(\Phi_n)$  is a dimensionless holomorphic function of the fields, symmetric in indices a and b, and gives the couplings between fields in the gauge multiplet. The superpotential  $W(\Phi_n)$  is defined as above but can now include any holomorphic and gauge invariant combination of the fields such that its dimension is  $[mass]^3$ .

#### The scalar potential

Again, we are particularly interested in the Lagrangian of the scalar components of the chiral superfields. Since the Kähler potential is an arbitrary real function of the fields, the scalar kinetic term is in general non-canonical. Using the convention where lower indices m and  $\bar{m}$  refer to derivation with respect to  $\phi_m$  and  $\phi_m^*$ , the kinetic term reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm kin} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{m,n} K_{\bar{n}m} \partial_{\mu} \phi_{\bar{n}}^* \partial^{\mu} \phi_m.$$
(3.10)

The scalar potential, which is a generalization of the potential in global supersymmetry, takes the form

$$V(\phi_n^*, \phi_n) = e^G \left( K^{m\bar{n}} G_m G_{\bar{n}} - 3 \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left( \text{Re} f_{ab}^{-1} \right) D^a D^b.$$
(3.11)

Here  $K^{m\bar{n}}$  is the inverse of the Kähler metric  $K_{\bar{n}m}$  and is used to raise lower indices. The potential has been written in terms of the function  $G = K + \ln(|W|^2)$ , which yields the supergravity generalization of the *F*-term

$$F^m = e^{G/2} K^{m\bar{n}} G_{\bar{n}}.$$
(3.12)

The contribution from the gauge sector is again encoded in the D-term, which here takes the form

$$D^{a} = -g \sum_{m,n} G_{m} T^{a}_{mn} \phi_{n}.$$
 (3.13)

#### 3.2.1 Supersymmetry breaking in supergravity

Similarly to global supersymmetry, supergravity is spontaneously broken when at least one of the F- or D-terms obtains a non-zero vev

$$\langle F^m \rangle \neq 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \langle D^a \rangle \neq 0.$$
 (3.14)

Unlike in supersymmetry, however, this does not necessarily imply that the scalar potential Eq. (3.11) and the energy have positive vevs. This allows for the vacuum energy to be arbitrarily small, which is an attractive feature in light of the very small value for the vacuum energy density measured by cosmological observations.

Supergravity provides a natural framework for gravity mediated models of supersymmetry breaking. In these models, local supersymmetry is assumed to be spontaneously broken in a hidden sector and mediated to the visible sector through nonrenormalizable Planck-suppressed couplings between the two sectors, see Ref. [59]. At tree-level, the soft supersymmetry breaking parameters can be derived straight from the Lagrangian Eq. (3.9). The details of the resulting soft terms thus depend on the particular supergravity model, i.e. on the form of the functions K,  $f_{ab}$  and W. Given a more fundamental theory, such as string theory, which yields supergravity as a low energy limit, these functions can in principle be derived by integrating out massive modes. In the absence of such a theory, however, one simply needs to treat them on phenomenological grounds.

#### *F*-term supergravity breaking

Here we consider supersymmetry breaking taking place in some hidden sector with gauge singlet fields, so that supersymmetry is broken by non-vanishing F-terms in the hidden sector. The scalar potential is then made up only by the first term in Eq. (3.11). The assumption of a hidden sector implies that the superpotential takes the form

$$W = \tilde{W}(h_a) + I(h_a, \Phi_i), \qquad (3.15)$$

where  $h_a$  denotes the hidden sector fields and  $\Phi_i$  the visible sector MSSM fields. We use the hat to denote quantities such as  $\hat{W}(h_a)$ , which are independent of  $\Phi_i$ , but are functions of the hidden sector fields. Given the assumptions above, the scalar potential Eq. (3.11) can be written as

$$V = |\hat{W}|^2 f + \left(\hat{W}I^*g + \text{h.c.}\right) + |I|^2 k, \qquad (3.16)$$

where

$$f = e^{K} \Big( K^{m\bar{n}} \Big( K_{m} K_{\bar{n}} + \frac{\hat{W}_{m} \hat{W}_{\bar{n}}^{*}}{|\hat{W}|^{2}} + \frac{K_{m} \hat{W}_{\bar{n}}^{*}}{\hat{W}^{*}} + \frac{K_{\bar{m}} \hat{W}_{n}}{\hat{W}} \Big) - 3 \Big), \qquad (3.17)$$

$$g = e^{K} \Big( K^{m\bar{n}} \Big( K_{m} K_{\bar{n}} + \frac{I_{m} \hat{W}_{\bar{n}}^{*}}{I \hat{W}^{*}} + \frac{K_{m} \hat{W}_{\bar{n}}^{*}}{\hat{W}^{*}} + \frac{K_{\bar{m}} I_{n}}{I} \Big) - 3 \Big), \qquad (3.18)$$

$$k = e^{K} \left( K^{m\bar{n}} \left( K_{m} K_{\bar{n}} + \frac{I_{m} I_{\bar{n}}^{*}}{|I|^{2}} + \frac{K_{m} I_{\bar{n}}^{*}}{I^{*}} + \frac{K_{\bar{m}} I_{n}}{I} \right) - 3 \right).$$
(3.19)

To find the explicit expression for the potential, the form of the Kähler potential as well as the superpotential must be specified, so that the functions f, g and k can be expanded in powers of  $\Phi_i$ . In general there are three different kinds of contribution to the potential for the visible sector fields. The first term in Eq. (3.16), which arises from the Kähler potential and the hidden sector superpotential, gives rise to the soft mass terms. The second term in Eq. (3.16), which mixes the hidden sector and the visible sector superpotentials, contributes to the trilinear soft terms. The last term yields the visible sector potential as in global supersymmetry but also contains higher order contributions, which are absent in the global case.

To get a rough idea of the structure of the low energy theory in *F*-term supergravity breaking, let us suppose that  $W(\Phi_i) = 0$ , and that the Kähler potential takes the minimal form  $K = \delta_{ij}$ . The potential for the visible sector scalars then reads

$$V(\phi_i^*, \phi_i) = e^{\hat{K}} |\hat{W}|^2 \sum |\phi_i|^2, \qquad (3.20)$$

and the scalars all have a common soft mass

$$m = \left\langle e^{\hat{K}/2} \frac{|W|}{M_P^2} \right\rangle = m_{3/2},$$
 (3.21)

the scale of which is set by the mass of the gravitino  $m_{3/2}$ . In supergravity breaking, the gravitino becomes massive by eating the degrees of freedom of the Nambu-Goldstone boson of broken supersymmetry, the goldstino, through the super-Higgs mechanism.

#### 3.2.2 The gravitino problem

Although the gravitino is a very weakly interacting particle, it plays an important role in the early universe. During reheating, when the energy density stored in the inflaton is converted into radiation, large amounts of gravitinos can be produced through scattering in the thermal bath. If gravitinos are overproduced during this period, they can cause serious problems in the later cosmological evolution [71, 72].

If the gravitino is heavy and unstable, as in gravity-mediated scenarios, it poses a threat to the success of nucleosynthesis. Since gravitinos couple to Standard Model particles with gravitational strength, they are long-lived and can decay after the onset of BBN. Energetic particles produced in their decays may subsequently dissociate light elements produced in nucleosynthesis, while other elements could be overproduced, thus spoiling the agreement with observations. Since the gravitino production rate is proportional to the temperature, avoiding the gravitino problem leads to constraints on the reheating temperature. In the minimal supergravity framework, depending on the values of the supersymmetric parameters, the reheating temperature must satisfy [73, 72]

$$T_{\rm RH} \lesssim 10^5 - 10^6 \,\,{\rm GeV},$$
 (3.22)

unless the gravitino mass is larger than about 10 TeV, in which case the upper bound is relaxed to  $10^9 - 10^{10}$  GeV.

In gauge-mediated models, on the other hand, the gravitino is generically light and stable, and constitutes the dark matter candidate. In this case the gravitino abundance must not exceed the dark matter abundance, since this would over-close the universe. Furthermore, the weakness of the gravitino coupling may cause the nextto-lightest supersymmetric particle (NLSP) to be long-lived, causing similar problems with nucleosynthesis as above. These considerations again lead to a strict upper bound on the reheat temperature which, depending on the nature of the NLSP, is constrained to [74]

$$T_{\rm RH} \lesssim 10^7 - 10^9 \,\,{\rm GeV}.$$
 (3.23)

In some cases the constraints are so stringent that gravitino masses larger than 10 GeV can be entirely excluded [72]. The strict bound on the reheating temperature implied by the gravitino problem creates a challenge for many scenarios of the early universe. In Chapter 4 we discuss the difficulties that the bound imposes on the model of thermal leptogenesis.

## **3.3** Supersymmetric flat directions

Let us return for a moment to the case of renormalizable globally supersymmetric theories. These theories generically possess a large vacuum degeneracy, which is manifested in the existence of a number of directions in the space of scalar fields along which the potential identically vanishes [75]. As mentioned above, these flat directions, collectively called the moduli space, are a consequence of supersymmetry and gauge symmetries, which together constrain the terms allowed in the Lagrangian far more than gauge symmetries alone. As we shall see some examples of in the following two chapters, flat directions have important consequences for cosmology, where the behavior of the theory at large field strengths is relevant, see [60] for an extensive review.

#### **3.3.1** Identifying the flat directions

In principle, a flat direction is identified by the requirement that the scalar potential Eq. (3.2) vanishes along it, amounting to the F- and D-flatness conditions

$$F_n^* = \frac{\partial W}{\partial \phi_n} = 0, \quad D^a = \sum_n \left(g^a \phi_m^* T_{mn}^a \phi_n\right) = 0. \tag{3.24}$$

A more convenient means of identification, however, is provided by the correspondence between flat directions and gauge-invariant, holomorphic polynomials of chiral superfields [76]. Any *D*-flat direction can be parameterized by such a gauge-invariant polynomial,  $X_m = \Phi_1 \Phi_2 \dots \Phi_m$ , which obeys a finite set of redundancy relations. The condition of *F*-flatness then imposes additional constraints on the operator  $X_m$ , determined by the form of the superpotential.

Let us study as an example a flat direction of the MSSM. The full set of monomials invariant under the MSSM gauge group, which parameterize the moduli space of the MSSM, has been identified and classified in Ref. [77]. An example of a D- and Fflat direction is provided by the operator  $X_3 = L_i L_j \bar{e}_k$ . The D-flatness condition is satisfied along directions whose scalar components take the form

$$L_i = \begin{pmatrix} \phi \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad L_j = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \phi \end{pmatrix}, \quad e_k = \phi,$$
 (3.25)

given that  $i \neq j$ . The complex field  $\phi$  parameterizes the vevs of the fields along the flat direction. It relates to the scalar component of the invariant operator as  $X_3 = c\phi^3$ , where c is a constant.

The MSSM superpotential Eq. (3.4) gives rise to one *F*-term that contains fields in the flat direction  $LL\bar{e}$ , which yields the *F*-flatness constraint

$$F_{H_d}^{\alpha} = h_e^{ij} L_i^{\alpha} \bar{e}_j = 0.$$
 (3.26)

The *D*-flatness condition Eq. (3.25) allows for nine family combinations of  $LL\bar{e}$ , out of which five are linearly independent, leaving in total three flat directions of this type after imposing the constraint from *F*-flatness.

#### 3.3.2 Lifting the flatness

The non-renormalization theorem of global supersymmetry [78] guarantees that the vacuum degeneracy along a flat direction will not be broken by perturbative quantum corrections. The flatness of the potential can, nevertheless, be lifted by higher order non-renormalizable operators in the superpotential as well as by explicit supersymmetry breaking effects.

Non-renormalizable superpotential terms formally arise from some more fundamental theory, such as string theory, when massive degrees of freedom are integrated out. In the absence of a specified fundamental theory, one generally includes any terms allowed by the symmetries of the low-energy model. Flat directions are then classified by the mass dimension of the lowest order allowed non-renormalizable term which lifts their potential. A flat direction of dimension n can be lifted by superpotential terms of the form [79, 80]

$$W \supset \frac{\lambda}{nM^{n-3}}\phi^n,$$
 (3.27)

$$W \supset \frac{\lambda}{M^{n-3}} \psi \phi^{n-1},$$
 (3.28)

where  $\lambda$  is an effective coupling constant. As above,  $\phi$  is the flat direction vev, which is related to the corresponding invariant operator as  $X_m = c\phi^m$ , and  $\psi$  is a visible sector scalar field that is not included in the flat direction. The scale M denotes the cutoff where new physics is expected to become important.

The non-renormalizable superpotential terms above both give rise to a contribution to the scalar potential of the form

$$V(\phi) \supset \frac{|\lambda|^2}{M^{2n-6}} |\phi|^{2n-2}.$$
 (3.29)

In addition to the superpotential, supersymmetry breaking will lift the degeneracy of the scalar field potential. In general, the contribution is given by soft supersymmetry breaking terms, which in the simplest case take the form [79, 80]

$$V(\phi) \supset m^2 |\phi|^2 + \frac{\lambda A}{nM^{n-3}} \phi^n, \qquad (3.30)$$

where n is larger than or equal to the number of fields in the flat direction. The explicit form of the contribution once again depends on the particular supersymmetry breaking mechanism and the details of the model.

Let us, for example, consider a flat direction lifted by a superpotential term of the form of Eq. (3.27). As above, we assume hidden sector *F*-term supergravity breaking. The leading terms that are induced in the potential can then be expressed as [79, 80]

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}m^2|\phi|^2 + \cos(n\theta + \theta_A)\frac{|A\lambda|}{nM^{n-3}}|\phi|^n + \frac{|\lambda|^2}{M^{2n-6}}|\phi|^{2n-2},$$
 (3.31)

where  $\theta$  and  $\theta_A$  are the complex phases of the flat direction and  $A\lambda$ , respectively. The parameters m,  $\lambda$ , A and  $\theta_A$  are in principle functions of the hidden sector fields. Their explicit expressions can be derived from Eqs. (3.16)–(3.19) when the Kähler potential and the hidden sector superpotential are given. In Chapter 5 we will discuss a particular model of this kind in more detail.

#### 3.3.3 Flat directions in the early universe

In the early universe supersymmetry is broken by the presence of a non-zero energy density, which can give a much larger contribution to the flat direction potential than the ones listed above. During inflation, for example, the energy density by definition takes on a large positive value. Also after inflation, when the universe is dominated by the oscillations of the inflaton, the vacuum energy is non-zero, hence breaking supersymmetry. Furthermore, supersymmetry is broken even during the radiation dominated era, by the distinct thermal occupation numbers of fermions and bosons. Such finite energy supersymmetry breaking is then transmitted to the flat direction by non-renormalizable interactions.

Including all possible contributions, the generic potential along a supersymmetric flat direction  $\phi$  is given by [79, 80]

$$V(\phi) = \left(m^2 - cH^2\right) |\phi|^2 + \left(\lambda \frac{A + aH}{nM^{n-3}}\phi^n + \text{h.c.}\right) + |\lambda|^2 \frac{|\phi|^{2n-2}}{M^{2n-6}},$$
(3.32)

where c, a and  $\lambda$  are dimensionless model-dependent couplings, and m and A are the soft breaking terms. The contribution from the finite energy supersymmetry breaking is encoded in the Hubble parameter dependent terms, which generically dominate the scalar potential as long as H > m. The location of the minimum of the potential depends on the sign of the parameter c. For negative c, the minimum resides at the origin, while for positive c and  $H \gg m$ , the minimum is at finite values of  $\phi$ . In this case, the flat direction condensate acquires a non-zero vev

$$|\phi_0| = \left(\frac{\beta H M^{n-3}}{\lambda}\right)^{\frac{1}{n-2}},\tag{3.33}$$

where  $\beta$  is a numerical constant which depends on a, c, and n. Depending on the order n at which the flat direction is lifted, the value of the non-zero vev  $|\phi_0|$  can be as large as the Planck scale. During inflation the Hubble parameter is nearly constant, and the flat direction condensate consequently sits at its minimum at  $\phi_0$ . After the end of

inflation, however, when the inflaton oscillates around the bottom of its potential, the Hubble rate and hence also the flat direction vev decrease with time. When  $H \sim m/3$ , the effective mass term changes sign, and the condensate rolls down towards its new minimum at  $\phi = 0$ .

#### Non-adiabatic particle production

If, at this point, the flat direction condensate passes close enough to the origin, production of particles coupled to the flat direction can take place through parametric resonance, analogously to preheating. Such non-adiabatic particle production from oscillating flat directions can have important repercussions in the early universe, see for example Ref. [81].

In general, however, the terms proportional to A and to aH in the potential Eq. (3.32) are complex with a non-vanishing relative phase  $\theta_a - \theta_A$ . In this case the condensate will spiral around the origin at  $\phi = 0$  with a non-zero  $\dot{\theta}$  and particle production can take place only if several flat directions are excited simultaneously [82, 81]. If the phase-dependent terms are absent, on the other hand, particle production may occur from only one excited flat direction. This is the case for example if the flat direction is lifted by a non-renormalizable superpotential term of the form Eq. (3.28), so that  $F_{\psi}$  is non-zero along the flat direction, but W = 0 along it. Furthermore, the superpotential may vanish along the flat direction, possibly due to a discrete *R*-symmetry. In such a case, when W identically vanishes, the potential during inflation is no longer given by Eq. (3.32), but takes the form [79, 80]

$$V(\phi) = H^2 M_p^2 f(\frac{|\phi|^2}{M_p^2}) + H^2 M_p^2 g(\frac{\phi^n}{M_p^n}).$$
(3.34)

In this case the typical value of the flat direction during inflation, rather than being given by Eq. (3.33), is of the order of the Planck scale.

It is also worth noting that the coefficients A and a of Eq. (3.32) depend on the specific form of the Kähler potential couplings and there are cases in which they are suppressed by inverse powers of  $M_p$ . For instance, if the inflaton is a composite field, it will appear in the Kähler potential only through bilinear combinations and  $a \sim H/M_p$ . Moreover, in the case of D-term inflation [83] (see Section 5.1) a vanishes identically and no phase-dependent terms are generated when W = 0 along the flat direction. We have placed particular emphasis on identifying situations in which non-adiabatic particle production from flat directions is feasible here, since we will explore one possible consequence of this effect in the following chapter. Papers

# Chapter 4

# Thermal leptogenesis and supersymmetry

In Chapter 2 we have presented the observational evidence for a baryon asymmetry, and argued that it must have been generated through some dynamical process during the early radiation dominated era. Since Standard Model physics alone is not sufficient to fulfill the criteria necessary for a dynamical generation of the asymmetry, the process of baryogenesis must take place within some theory beyond the SM. In the current chapter we consider the possibility that the baryon asymmetry is generated through leptogenesis, which can be realized when the Standard Model is extended with a set of heavy right-handed neutrinos, as is suggested by the see-saw mechanism for neutrino masses [84].

We begin by presenting a few of the most commonly proposed baryogenesis models below. In Section 4.2 we then review the see-saw mechanism and explain how it can fulfill the Sakharov criteria for baryogenesis. This is followed by a crude quantitative presentation of the thermal leptogenesis scenario in Section 4.3. Subsequently, we review the consequences for the model if supersymmetry is realized in the early universe, and discuss, in particular, the inherent conflict with the gravitino bound. In Section 4.5, we finally outline the possible solution to this problem which was presented in the enclosed research paper [1], making use of the non-adiabatic production of particles from flat directions discussed above. For more thorough reviews of thermal leptogensis, we refer the reader to Refs. [85, 86].

# 4.1 Models of baryogenesis

The Standard Model fails to produce the observed baryon asymmetry during the electro-weak phase transition for two distinct reasons. Firstly, the CP violation is too small to induce an asymmetry of the observed magnitude. Secondly, the experimental lower bound on the Higgs mass implies that the phase transition cannot be of first order, as required. The new physics responsible for baryogenesis must consequently provide additional sources of CP violation, and either modify the Higgs sector to enhance the phase transition, or provide a completely different process for departure from equilibrium. In addition, if the asymmetry is produced before the electro-weak

phase transition by a process other than sphalerons, this processes must violate B - L in order to avoid sphalerons subsequently erasing the asymmetry.

The simplest option in the search for a viable baryogenesis model is then perhaps to look for modifications to the Standard Model with new ingredients in the Higgs sector, which could alter the strength of the phase transition. One such example is the two Higgs doublet model [87], where the Higgs potential has more parameters and is CP-violating, unlike the Higgs potential of the Standard Model. The most well-known example, however, is probably the MSSM electroweak baryogenesis [45, 88], where the presence of a light stop would modify the Higgs potential in the required way. Light Higgsinos and gauginos, on the other hand, would provide the required enhancement of the CP-violation. Whereas the scenario has a drawback in the small window of the supersymmetric parameters for which baryogenesis is viable, it has the virtue of soon being subject to experimental tests at the LHC.

Giving up on electro-weak baryogenesis [89], there is no shortage of models proposed in the literature. The first scenarios were formulated in terms of grand unified theories (GUT), where baryon number is violated by the interactions of heavy gauge bosons and leptoquarks, while the departure from equilibrium could be provided in the decay of these heavy fields, see Ref. [10]. The GUT baryogenesis scenario, however, generally has difficulties with proton decay and unwanted relics, enforcing a lower bound on the mass of the decaying boson, which is usually much higher than the reheating temperature in generic models inflation. Other early proposals include the Affleck-Dine baryogenesis [90], where the asymmetry arises in the potential of a classical scalar field, for example a supersymmetric flat direction, which later decays into particles.

Thermal leptogenesis [91] is another scenario where the out-of-equilibrium decay of heavy particles is the source of the baryon asymmetry. However, in this case the asymmetry is produced in the lepton sector. Electro-weak sphaleron transitions can then convert the lepton asymmetry into a baryon asymmetry [92], allowing for baryogenesis through leptogenesis. The minimal successful leptogenesis scenario requires only the addition of heavy right-handed neutrinos, as suggested by the see-saw mechanism for neutrino masses [84]. The Yukawa couplings of the heavy neutrinos provide the necessary new source of CP violation. Our focus in this chapter will be on the simplest and, perhaps, theoretically best motivated realization of leptogenesis: thermal leptogenesis with hierarchical singlet neutrinos.

# 4.2 Neutrino mass and leptogenesis

Before getting into the details of the thermal leptogenesis scenario, we here briefly present the observational evidence for finite neutrino masses, and explain how the seesaw mechanism with heavy right-handed neutrinos can account for them. Furthermore, we show that the same ingredients required to generate the light neutrino masses are sufficient to satisfy the Sakharov conditions necessary for baryogenesis.

#### Evidence for neutrino masses

Although, in the Standard Model neutrinos are massless, there is by now ample evidence from neutrino oscillation experiments that at least two neutrinos have non-zero masses. Measurements of solar and atmospheric neutrino fluxes, confirmed also by reactor and accelerator experiments, determine two mass-squared differences [32]

$$\Delta m_{\rm sol}^2 = (7.59 \pm 0.20) \times 10^{-5} \,\,{\rm eV}^2, \tag{4.1}$$

$$\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2 = (2.43 \pm 0.13) \times 10^{-3} \,\,{\rm eV}^2. \tag{4.2}$$

While the oscillation experiments measure only the mass differences, an obvious implication is that the mass of the heaviest neutrino must be at least  $m_{\rm atm} \equiv \sqrt{m_{\rm atm}^2} \sim 0.05$  eV. The absolute mass scale can furthermore be probed through  $\beta$ - and  $2\beta$ -decays as well as cosmology. The consensus of all these measurements, assuming three neutrino flavours, is for masses in the sub-eV range

$$m_i < 1 \text{ eV},\tag{4.3}$$

where i = (1, 2, 3). For a more detailed discussion of the observational constraints on the neutrino mass, the reader is referred to e.g. Ref. [93].

#### The see-saw mechanism

The Standard Model neutrinos can acquire Dirac mass terms if a set of right handed neutrinos is added to the theory, but the smallness of the masses is difficult to explain without fine-tuning the Yukawa couplings. In high-energy see-saw models [84], on the other hand, sufficiently small Majorana neutrino masses are naturally induced, when heavy particles are integrated out.

In the simplest realization of the see-saw mechanism, the so-called Type I see-saw,<sup>1</sup> the Standard Model is extended by two or three singlet fermions, or right-handed (RH) neutrinos,  $N_i$  with large Majorana masses  $M_i$ . Expressed in the basis in which the Yukawa couplings for the charged leptons as well as the Majorana mass matrix are diagonal, the extended Lagrangian reads schematically

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{\rm SM} + \left( i \bar{N}_i \partial N_i - \frac{1}{2} M_i N_i^2 + h_{i\alpha} \bar{N}_i \ell_\alpha H + \text{h.c.} \right).$$
(4.4)

Here  $\ell_{\alpha}$  indicates the lepton doublet with flavour  $\alpha = (e, \mu, \tau)$  respectively, and H is the Higgs field. The effective light neutrino mass matrix  $m_{\nu}$  is related to the RH neutrino mass matrix M through the see-saw formula,

$$m_{\nu} = -m_D \frac{1}{M} m_D^T, \qquad (4.5)$$

where  $m_D = hv$  is the Dirac neutrino mass matrix generated after spontaneous symmetry breaking by the Yukawa coupling matrix h and the Higgs vev v = 174 GeV.

With a Dirac mass at the electroweak scale, light neutrino masses  $m_i \lesssim 1$  eV are generated, as long as the RH neutrino masses are large, typically close to the grand unified scale. The see-saw mechanism thus elegantly solves the problem of generating small neutrino masses in a natural way. The attractiveness of the model is further enhanced by the fact that heavy RH neutrinos have a natural connection with grand unification; e.g. the grand unified group SO(10) [96] predicts the existence of such fermionic singlets.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Also type II (with SU(2)-triplet scalars) [94] and type III (with SU(2)-triplet fermions) [95] see-saw models exist.

#### The Sakharov conditions

Generating small neutrino masses is not the only virtue of the see-saw mechanism: it also contains all the necessary ingredients for baryogenesis through thermal leptogenesis, as first proposed by Fukugita and Yanagida [91]. Let us now see how the Sakharov conditions are satisfied in thermal leptogenesis.

1. The RH neutrinos violate lepton number through their decay into leptons and antileptons  $N \to \ell H, \bar{\ell}\bar{H}$ . In addition, sphaleron transitions, which break *B* and *L* but conserve B - L, can transfer lepton number into baryon number. Within the temperature range [97]

$$T_{\rm EW} \lesssim T \lesssim 10^{12} \, {\rm GeV},$$
 (4.6)

when sphalerons are in thermal equilibrium and unsuppressed, lepton number produced in neutrino decays can thus be transferred into baryon number.

2. The Yukawa matrix  $h_{i\alpha}$  in the high-energy Lagrangian Eq. (4.4) is in general complex and thus contains *CP*-violating phases. Out of nine complex parameters, three can be absorbed into the lepton wave function, leaving six physical *CP*-violating phases. Consequently, the neutrinos decay with different rates into leptons and antileptons, producing a net *CP* asymmetry

$$\varepsilon_{i} = -\frac{\sum_{\alpha} \Gamma(N_{i} \to \ell_{\alpha} H) - \sum_{\alpha} \Gamma(N_{i} \to \bar{\ell}_{\alpha} \bar{H})}{\sum_{\alpha} \Gamma(N_{i} \to \ell_{\alpha} H) + \sum_{\alpha} \Gamma(N_{i} \to \bar{\ell}_{\alpha} \bar{H})}.$$
(4.7)

3. The out-of-equilibrium condition is provided by the expansion of the universe: interaction rates slower than the Hubble rate are incapable of keeping particle distributions in equilibrium. It is convenient to define the decay parameters

$$K_i \equiv \frac{\Gamma_D(N_i \to \ell H, \bar{\ell}\bar{H})}{H(T = M_i)},\tag{4.8}$$

so that the heavy neutrino  $N_i$  is out of thermal equilibrium for  $K_i < 1$ . If this is the case during the decay of the heavy neutrinos, all the Sakharov conditions are indeed fulfilled.

Consequently, if the light neutrino masses are indeed generated through the see-saw mechanism, all the necessary ingredients for baryogenesis are also provided.

## 4.3 Thermal leptogenesis

Assuming that the light neutrino masses are indeed generated through heavy RH neutrinos, a population of these neutrinos will be produced by scattering processes during or after reheating, as long as the reheating temperature is above the mass of the neutrinos. As the temperature drops below the neutrino mass, their equilibrium number density becomes exponentially suppressed, and the neutrinos begin to decay. Since the RH neutrino decay is *CP*-violating, an asymmetry in the number of leptons and anti-leptons is produced. In general, however, the neutrinos do not decay fast enough to maintain their equilibrium density. If this is indeed the case, some of the produced asymmetry remains, and is partly transferred into a baryon asymmetry by sphaleron transitions.

In this section, we estimate the amount of baryon asymmetry that can be generated through this mechanism of thermal leptogenesis and compare it to the observations. We consider the minimal scenario, where the mass spectrum for the heavy neutrinos is hierarchical  $M_1 \ll M_2, M_3$ , and the lightest neutrino  $N_1$  is assumed to give the main contribution to the asymmetry. This approximation is well justified since neutrino mixing data seems to favor a picture where the asymmetry generated by the two heavier neutrinos is depleted before decay and can be safely ignored, even for a mild hierarchical RH neutrino masses. To further simplify the treatment, we also ignore the effects of lepton flavor. For a more detailed account of the estimate performed here, see Refs. [98, 99]. Exhaustive reviews on the implications of going beyond the simplifying assumptions made here can be found in Refs. [85, 86]

#### 4.3.1 The produced baryon asymmetry

Given an initial  $N_1$  abundance, there are three main factors that affect the final amount of baryon asymmetry that is produced, each corresponding roughly to one of the Sakharov conditions. These are the *CP* asymmetry, the efficiency of various interactions, as well as the effect of the sphaleron processes. Below we briefly estimate the magnitude of the effect of each of these factors on the final asymmetry.

#### The CP asymmetry

The CP asymmetry  $\varepsilon$  parametrizes the amount of lepton asymmetry that is generated in the RH neutrino decay. In particular, for every  $1/\varepsilon$  neutrinos that decay, the asymmetry in lepton number is increased by one. The CP asymmetry Eq. (4.7) arises from the interference between the tree-level amplitude and the one-loop self-energy and vertex correction diagrams contributing to the neutrino decay. In a basis where the RH neutrino mass matrix is diagonal, a perturbative calculation for hierarchical neutrinos yields [100, 101]

$$\varepsilon_1 \simeq \frac{3}{16\pi} \sum_{i=2,3} \frac{\text{Im}\left[ (h^{\dagger} h)_{i1}^2 \right]}{(h^{\dagger} h)_{11}} \frac{M_1}{M_i}.$$
(4.9)

Since we are ignorant of the neutrino Yukawa couplings, it is useful to write the CP asymmetry in the form

$$\varepsilon_1 \simeq \frac{3}{16\pi} \frac{M_1(m_3 - m_1)}{v^2} \sin \delta_L,$$
(4.10)

where  $\sin \delta_L$  is known as the leptogenesis phase. The remaining part of the expression reaches its maximum value when the neutrinos are fully hierarchical, implying  $m_1 = 0$ and  $m_3 = m_{\text{atm}}$ , giving the maximal *CP* asymmetry [102]

$$\varepsilon_1^{\max} = \frac{3}{16\pi} \frac{M_1 m_{\text{atm}}}{v^2},$$
(4.11)

where v = 174 GeV is the electroweak breaking scale.

At this point, let us note that the CP asymmetry in the processes that produce the neutrino population is very closely related to the CP asymmetry of the neutrino decays presented here. In particular, in the case of hierarchical neutrinos, the CP asymmetry in the scattering interactions by which the  $N_1$  population is produced is equal in magnitude but opposite in sign to the CP asymmetry in  $N_1$  decay. A priori, this may seem to imply that the two asymmetries cancel, making the final lepton asymmetry vanish; however, a non-zero final lepton asymmetry survives if the initial anti-asymmetry produced with the neutrino population is depleted by scattering, decays, and inverse decays. This depletion is called washout, and is crucial for the success of thermal leptogenesis.

#### The efficiency factor

The final lepton number depends on what amount of the initial anti-asymmetry generated in  $N_1$  production is washed out, as well as on the final amount of  $N_1$  neutrinos that remains present at the time of decay. The evolution of the number densities of the heavy neutrinos and the lepton number both depend on the relation between the neutrino decay rate and the Hubble expansion rate. Since these are inherently non-equilibrium processes, they are studied in terms of the Boltzmann equations.

To keep the treatment at a sufficient level of accuracy, there are four classes of processes that need to be taken into account: decays and inverse decays with  $\Delta L = \pm 1$ ,  $\Delta L = 1$  scattering processes, and  $\Delta L = 2$  scattering processes mediated by the heavier neutrinos. The relevant Boltzmann equations, describing the dynamics of these non-equilibrium processes, can be written in the form [103, 104]

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}N_{N_1}}{\mathrm{d}z} = -(D+S)\left(N_{N_1} - N_{N_1}^{\mathrm{eq}}\right),\tag{4.12}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}N_{B-L}}{\mathrm{d}z} = \varepsilon_1 \left(D+S\right) \left(N_{N_1} - N_{N_1}^{\mathrm{eq}}\right) - W_1 N_{B-L}, \tag{4.13}$$

where  $N_X$  denotes the abundance of X per RH neutrino in ultra-relativistic thermal equilibrium. Furthermore, we have introduced the notation  $D \equiv \Gamma_D/(Hz)$ , similarly also for S and W, where  $z = M_1/T$  and H is the Hubble parameter. The D term accounts for the effect of decays and inverse decays on the neutrino abundance, while S represents the effect of  $\Delta L = 1$  scatterings. Finally, W accounts for the washout due to inverse decays,  $\Delta L = 1$  scatterings and the non-resonant  $\Delta L = 2$  scattering processes. Note that the second equation governing the asymmetry is written in terms of B - L, which is unaffected by sphaleron processes.

Assuming that the asymmetry is dominantly generated by the lightest RH neutrino, which is typically the case for a hierarchical heavy neutrino spectrum [105], the solution for the final B - L asymmetry reads [106]

$$N_{B-L}^{\text{out}} = \varepsilon_1 \,\kappa = -\varepsilon_1 \,\int_{z_i n}^{\infty} \,\mathrm{d}z' \,(D+S) \,(N_{N_1} - N_{N_1}^{\text{eq}}) \,e^{-\int_{z'}^{\infty} \,\mathrm{d}z'' \,W(z'')},\tag{4.14}$$

where we have defined the efficiency factor  $\kappa$ . For given neutrino masses, the relevance of the various terms in the Boltzmann equations and hence the size of  $\kappa$  depends crucially on the value of the decay parameter  $K_1$  defined in Eq. (4.8). In the weak washout regime,  $K_1 \ll 1$ , the produced asymmetry is not considerably reduced by washout effects. However, since in this case any initially existing asymmetry is not entirely washed either, the scenario is very sensitive to initial conditions as well as thermal corrections [107]. In the strong washout regime,  $K_1 \gtrsim 3$ , on the other hand, a thermal neutrino abundance is produced regardless of the initial conditions, rendering the scenario far more predictive. In particular for  $5 \leq K_1 \leq 100$ , the efficiency factor can be approximated as [108]

$$\kappa \simeq \frac{1}{2K_1^{1.2}} \sim 0.1 - 0.01.$$
(4.15)

In the weak washout regime, this result can be decreased by up to two orders of magnitude [98, 99].

Which regime is most relevant depends on the values of the neutrino masses through the decay parameter. It is useful to rewrite in terms of two dimensionful parameters of the order of the light neutrino masses, so that  $K_1 = \tilde{m}_1/m_*$ , where  $\tilde{m}_1$  is the effective neutrino mass [103]

$$\tilde{m}_{1} \equiv \frac{(m_{\rm D}^{\dagger} m_{\rm D})_{ii}}{M_{i}} = 8\pi \frac{v^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}} \Gamma_{D}, \qquad (4.16)$$

and  $m_{\star}$  is the equilibrium neutrino mass

$$m_{\star} \equiv 8\pi \frac{v^2}{M_1^2} H(T = M_1) \simeq 10^{-3} \text{ eV}.$$
 (4.17)

It can be shown [109] that for most types of neutrino spectra  $\tilde{m}_1 \gtrsim m_{\rm sol}$ , where  $m_{\rm sol}$  is given by Eq. (4.1). In this case leptogenesis occurs in the strong washout regime, and the efficiency factor is well approximated by Eq. (4.15).

#### The sphaleron contribution

Finally, only a part of the final lepton asymmetry is converted into a baryon asymmetry by the sphalerons, expressed through the sphaleron constant  $C_{\rm sph}$ . The constant can be calculated by an analysis of the chemical potentials of all particle species in the high temperature phase where sphalerons are active. The asymmetry in lepton flavor  $\alpha$  contributes through sphaleron processes to  $B/N_f - L_{\alpha}$ ,  $N_f$  being the number of flavors, which is conserved in the Standard Model. The baryon number can be related to the conserved B - L through the sphaleron constant [92]

$$C_{\rm sph} = \frac{8N_f + 13N_H}{22N_f + 13N_H},\tag{4.18}$$

where  $N_H$  the number of Higgs doublets, yielding  $C_{\rm sph} = 28/79$  for the Standard Model.<sup>2</sup>

For simplicity we have considered in our estimate mainly the effects of processes occurring on a time scale comparable to the expansion rate of the universe, which are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Here we have assumed that the sphalerons go out of equilibrium before the electroweak phase transition. If, instead, the sphalerons remain in equilibrium until after the phase transition, we would have  $C_{\rm sph} = 12/37$  [110].

accounted for by the Boltzmann equations. Thus we have neglected the so-called spectator processes [111], which are not directly related to the generation of the asymmetry, but are fast and could affect it indirectly by changing the densities of the particles involved. These processes impose certain relations among the chemical potentials of various particle species, as in the case of the sphaleron mentioned above. Indeed, supposing that the sphalerons are in equilibrium during the leptogenesis process, they are responsible for transmitting the L asymmetry produced in the neutrino decays into a B-L asymmetry in a non-trivial way, whereas here we have simply assumed that the asymmetry is directly produced in B-L instead of L. Other such processes are the gauge interactions, Yukawa interactions involving the heavier fermions, as well as the QCD sphalerons. However, the effect of spectator processes are not expected to induce corrections larger than at most 30% [112].

#### 4.3.2 Bounds from observations

The baryon asymmetry predicted by leptogenesis should be compared to the observed baryon-to-photon ratio  $\eta$ , which is measured at recombination. Putting the results of the previous section together, the value at recombination of the baryon-to-photon ratio produced in thermal leptogenesis can be expressed as

$$\eta = C_{\rm sph} \frac{N_{B-L}^{\rm out}}{N_{\gamma}^{\rm rec}} = C_{\rm sph} \frac{\varepsilon_1 \,\kappa}{N_{\gamma}^{\rm rec}}.\tag{4.19}$$

Assuming a standard thermal history, the number of photons per RH neutrino in ultrarelativistic thermal equilibrium at recombination reads

$$N_{\gamma}^{\rm rec} = \frac{4}{3} \frac{g_*^{\rm SM} + \frac{7}{4}}{g_*^{\rm rec}} \simeq 37.$$
(4.20)

For a given efficiency factor, the maximal *CP* asymmetry Eq. (4.11), corresponds to a maximal baryon asymmetry  $\eta^{\text{max}}$ . Demanding that this maximal asymmetry is large enough to explain the observed asymmetry,  $\eta^{\text{CMB}} = (6.225 \pm 0.170) \times 10^{-10}$ , imposes a lower bound on the RH neutrino mass

$$M_1 \gtrsim \frac{16\pi}{3} \frac{N_{\gamma}^{\text{rec}}}{C_{\text{sph}}} \frac{v^2}{\kappa} \frac{\eta^{\text{CMB}}}{m_{\text{atm}}} \simeq 5 \times 10^8 \text{ GeV } \kappa^{-1}.$$
(4.21)

The lowest possible  $M_1$  is obtained for  $\kappa = 1$ , corresponding to the limit of thermal initial abundance of heavy neutrinos  $N_1$  and zero washout. For  $\kappa$  evaluated at  $K_1 \simeq 3.5$ , on the limit to the strong washout regime, the lower bound becomes [113]

$$M_1 \gtrsim 4 \times 10^9 \,\text{GeV}.\tag{4.22}$$

The lower bound on  $M_1$  also translates into a lower bound on the initial temperature of leptogenesis. Since we are assuming thermal production of the  $N_1$  neutrinos, the minimal initial temperature that allows for successful leptogenesis can be identified with a lower bound on the reheating temperature  $T_{\rm RH}$  after inflation. In the weak washout regime, the bound on the neutrino mass roughly coincides with the minimal reheating temperature, whereas in the strong washout regime the minimal temperature can be up to one order of magnitude smaller [99, 107, 86]. In either case, there is a lower bound on the reheating temperature of the order

$$T_{\rm RH} \gtrsim 10^8 - 10^9 \,\,{\rm GeV}.$$
 (4.23)

## 4.4 Leptogenesis and supersymmetry

Unlike many of the baryogenesis models proposed in the literature, which in one way or another rely on supersymmetry to produce a sufficient baryon asymmetry, thermal leptogenesis is a perfectly viable scenario in the absence of supersymmetry. In fact, it even appears to be more viable when supersymmetry is not present. This is not because supersymmetry would drastically change the predictions of leptogenesis, but due to the strict upper bound on the reheating temperature in supersymmetric theories. Nevertheless, it is useful to explore the option of supersymmetric leptogenesis. Not only because supersymmetry is a very plausible extension to the Standard Model, but also to alleviate the hierarchy problem that arises through the introduction of the see-saw mass scale. Let us take a brief look at how supersymmetry affects the scenario.

#### 4.4.1 Modifications to the standard scenario

The minimal supersymmetric leptogenesis model consists of the MSSM with three added heavy neutrinos, which are complemented by their superpartners, the sneutrinos  $\tilde{N}_i$ . The leptonic part of the MSSM superpotential Eq. (3.4) is then extended to read

$$W = \frac{1}{2}M_i N_i N_i + h_{i\alpha} N_i L_{\alpha} H_u - h_e \bar{e} L H_d, \qquad (4.24)$$

where  $N_i$  is now a singlet neutrino superfield, containing the RH neutrino and sneutrino. Although the addition of the sneutrinos brings new structure in the supersymmetric version of leptogenesis, quantitatively the scenario turns out to be very similar to the standard case.

For the CP asymmetry, the addition of the superpartners brings new contributing diagrams. Firstly, there is the addition from the decay of the heavy neutrinos into sleptons, practically doubling the number of loop diagrams, which in the hierarchical limit amounts to an increase of the CP asymmetry approximately by a factor of two. Furthermore, there are additional sources coming from the decay of sneutrinos into leptons and sleptons. In general also the soft supersymmetry breaking terms give relevant contributions, but for thermal leptogenesis they amount only to small corrections and can be neglected. In this case, the heavy neutrinos and sneutrinos have equal masses and decay rates, leading to equal CP-asymmetries. In the hierarchical limit, the total CP asymmetry including both the neutrino and sneutrino contribution can thus be written as [101]

$$\varepsilon_1 \simeq -\frac{3}{4\pi} \sum_{i=2,3} \frac{\text{Im}\left[(h^{\dagger} h)_{i1}^2\right]}{(h^{\dagger} h)_{11}} \frac{M_1}{M_i}.$$
(4.25)

Comparing this result to Eq. (4.9), we see that the new decay channels in the MSSM yield an enhancement of the *CP* asymmetry by a factor of four.

However, there are also changes in the other factors affecting the final asymmetry [85]. Due to the additional slepton final states, the decay rate of  $N_1$  is twice faster than in the standard scenario. In the strong washout regime, the associated inverse decay reactions enhance the washout by a factor of two. In the weak washout regime, on the other hand, the neutrino production becomes more efficient, increasing the asymmetry by the same factor. Furthermore, since the expansion rate of the universe is proportional to  $\sqrt{g_*}$ , it is roughly faster by a factor of  $\sqrt{2}$  in the supersymmetric version. This reduces the time during which the strong washout processes can erase the asymmetry, enhancing the final asymmetry by this same factor. In the weak washout regime, on the other hand, it reduces the time for neutrino production, yielding a final suppression of  $\sqrt{2}$ .

Finally, since in the MSSM there are two Higgses, the coefficient  $C_{\rm sph}$  is altered from its value in the SM to 8/23, but remains of similar size. Altogether, the modifications presented here amount only to an overall change in the final asymmetry by approximately a factor of two. This implies that the constraints on  $M_1$  and  $T_{\rm RH}$ , Eqs. (4.21) and (4.23) respectively, derived in the previous section remain essentially unchanged [107].

#### 4.4.2 On the gravitino bound

In the supersymmetric scenario, the lower bound Eq. (4.23) on the reheating temperature is in conflict with the upper bound Eq. (3.22), which is necessary to avoid the overproduction of gravitinos during reheating. Practically, the severe upper bound makes the thermal generation of heavy neutrinos impossible, rendering the supersymmetric scenario with a hierarchical RH neutrino spectrum unviable. This is a serious drawback for the thermal leptogenesis scenario, even if several modifications leading out of this dilemma have been proposed in the literature.

To avoid this conflict, one can firstly modify the assumptions on the nature of the gravitino. If the gravitino is stable, the bound from nucleosynthesis depends on the nature of the next-to-lightest supersymmetric particle, see Eq. (3.23), and the bound can be relaxed even up to  $10^9$  GeV [74]. If, in addition, one assumes that there is a small violation of *R*-parity, the NLSP can decay before the onset of nucleosynthesis, thus evading the bound on the reheating temperature entirely. The stringent limit on the reheating temperature can be also be avoided by relaxing the assumptions on the gravitino mass. This is the case, for example, for gravitinos lighter than 1 keV, which may occur in gauge mediated supersymmetry breaking, as well as for gravitinos heavier than about 50 TeV, which can arise through anomaly mediation [114].

Alternatively, some properties of the neutrino spectrum can be modified. Soft leptogenesis [115] is a supersymmetric scenario, where the violation of lepton number as well as the required CP violation are sourced by the soft supersymmetry breaking terms A and b, see Eq. (3.8), respectively associated with the Yukawa coupling and mass of the lightest RH neutrino. The lower bound on the reheating temperature in this scenario, which requires only one heavy neutrino, can be as low as  $10^6$  GeV [107]. In resonant leptogenesis [100, 116], on the other hand, the RH neutrinos are nearly degenerate in mass and the self-energy contributions to the CP asymmetries are enhanced; consequently, the correct baryon asymmetry can be produced even at temperatures as low as a TeV. Another interesting variation is the scenario where the right-handed sneutrino develops a large amplitude, dominating the total energy density [117]. In this case the sneutrino decay reheats the universe, producing a lepton asymmetry, and values of the reheating temperature even as low as  $10^6$  GeV avoid the gravitino problem.

Finally, one can give up the assumption of thermal production of RH neutrinos. The lightest RH neutrino can be produced non-thermally for example during preheating [118], or from the decay of the inflaton [119], relaxing the lower bound on the reheating temperature by up to two orders of magnitude compared to Eq. (4.23).

## 4.5 Leptogenesis with flat directions

The solutions to the tension between the minimal supersymmetric leptogenesis scenario and the gravitino bound presented above, all rely on modifying the theory by changing the properties or interactions of some of the fields involved. In the enclosed research paper [1] we present another possible solution to the problem, which does not require the modification of any component. To the contrary, this solution is already incorporated in the model, due to the presence of flat directions in the supersymmetric scalar potential. In the previous chapter, we mentioned how, after inflation when the flat direction oscillates around the new minimum of its potential, particle production can occur. Following Ref. [1], we here investigate the possibility of producing the heavy neutrino population through this mechanism, and estimate under which conditions such a scenario can lead to successful baryogenesis.

#### 4.5.1 Choosing the setup

In order for particle production to take place, the oscillating flat direction condensate must pass very close to the origin. In general this is not the case, but the flat direction spirals around the origin, possibly leading to a large baryon asymmetry through the Affleck-Dine mechanism [90, 80]; however, we will not consider that possibility further here. Instead, following the discussion at the very end of the previous chapter, we are lead to consider flat directions along which the induced A-terms of Eq. (3.32) are suppressed. Examples of such directions are the n = 4 direction ue as well as the n = 9direction Que [77], both of which are lifted by non-renormalizable superpotential terms of the form of Eq. (3.28).

The most efficient non-adiabatic production of heavy states occurs through the process analogous to instant preheating [39], which is thus the mechanism we focus on here. When the flat direction passes by the origin, non-adiabatic production of particles coupled to the flat direction occurs. As discussed in Section 2.3, when the condensate then continues its oscillation, the produced particles become massive and may efficiently decay into other massive states.

Our aim is to estimate the amount of right-handed  $N_1$  neutrinos that can be produced in the final state, from the non-perturbative decay of a flat direction  $\phi$  into some intermediate state:  $\phi \to X \to N_1$ . We choose to focus on the scalar Higgs  $H_u$ , which couples to  $N_1$  via the superpotential term  $h_{1\alpha}N_1L_{\alpha}H_u$ , although other states will be produced as well. In order to guarantee a sufficient  $H_u$  production, we will furthermore focus on flat directions involving the third generation quark  $u_3$ .

#### 4.5.2 $N_1$ production through instant preheating

With our choice of flat directions, the up-Higgs is coupled to the condensate through the Lagrangian term  $h_t^2 |\phi|^2 |H_u|^2$ . Consequently, the Higgs has an effective mass

$$m_{H_u}^2 = \tilde{m}_{H_u}^2 + h_t^2 |\phi|^2, \qquad (4.26)$$

where  $\tilde{m}_{H_u}^2$  is the corresponding soft-breaking mass parameter. When the flat direction condensate first passes through the origin, particle production takes place in the region where adiabaticity is violated [39]. Following Eq. (2.33), production of up-Higgses with the mass Eq. (4.26), is thus efficient within the region

$$|\phi| \lesssim |\phi_*| = \left(\frac{m|\phi_0|}{h_t}\right)^{1/2},\tag{4.27}$$

where m is the soft mass of the flat direction, and  $|\phi_0|$  its initial amplitude. The number density of up-Higgses that is produced in this interval can be estimated to

$$n_{H_u} \simeq \frac{(h_t m |\phi_0|)^{3/2}}{8\pi^3},$$
(4.28)

where we have assumed that the bare mass of the up-Higgs  $\widetilde{m}_{H_u}^2$  is negligible compared to the average momentum of the produced particles

Once the flat direction condensate has passed through the origin on its first oscillation, the produced up-Higgses become heavier and heavier, as the condensate continues its oscillation up the other side of its potential. When the effective up-Higgs mass Eq. (4.26) becomes larger than the mass  $M_1$  of the lightest RH neutrino, the up-Higgses can promptly decay into  $N_1$  neutrinos through the superpotential coupling  $h_{i\alpha}N_iL_{\alpha}H_u$ . In particular, if at least one of the Yukawa couplings  $h_{i\alpha}$  is not very small and the field  $Q_3$  is not included in the flat direction, most of the up-Higgs's decay channels are blocked by the large effective masses induced by the flat direction at large  $\phi$ , and  $H_u$  will decay dominantly into  $N_1$  neutrinos and leptons.

Let us estimate the maximal  $N_1$  mass  $M_1^{\text{max}} \simeq h_t \phi^{\text{max}}$  that can be generated through this production process. To this end we need to determine the maximum value  $\phi^{\text{max}}$  that the condensate can reach during its first oscillation, after its passage through the origin. The equation of motion for  $\phi$  takes the form

$$\ddot{\phi} + m^2 \phi = -h_t \frac{|\phi|}{\phi} n_{H_u}, \qquad (4.29)$$

where the term on the right-hand side corresponds to the  $\phi$ -dependent energy density generated by the produced  $H_u$  particles when  $\phi$  crosses the origin. It acts as a friction term damping the  $\phi$  oscillations. Solving the equation of motion Eq. (4.29), we obtain an estimate for the maximal mass

$$M_1^{\text{max}} \simeq \frac{4\pi^3 \sqrt{m\phi_0}}{h_t^{3/2}} = 4 \times 10^{12} \text{ GeV} \left(\frac{\phi_0}{M_P}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{m}{100 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{1/2}, \tag{4.30}$$

where the numerical estimate assumes a top-Yukawa coupling  $h_t \simeq 0.6$  at high energy scales. As expected, the production mechanism of instant preheating can indeed lead to very heavy RH neutrinos.

#### 4.5.3 The baryon asymmetry

After reaching its maximum value at the first oscillation, the flat direction vev starts decreasing again, with the consequence that also the mass of the up-Higgs Eq. (4.26) decreases. Eventually the up-Higgs mass becomes small enough that the RH neutrinos produced at the top of the flat direction oscillation may efficiently decay back into up-Higgses and leptons. As in the standard thermal leptogenesis scenario, the heavy neutrino decay produces a lepton asymmetry, dictated by the CP asymmetry  $\varepsilon$ , which can later be partly transformed into a baryon asymmetry by sphaleron processes.

Here we evaluate the maximum amount of baryon asymmetry that can be produced in this way. To correspond with the notation of the original article [1], we use the alternative expression for the baryon asymmetry  $Y_B = (8.75 \pm 0.23) \times 10^{-11}$ , which is related to  $\eta$  as follows

$$Y_B = \frac{n_B}{s} = \frac{n_\gamma}{2\pi^2 g_* T^3/45} \eta \simeq \frac{\eta}{7.04}.$$
(4.31)

This definition, which is normalized with respect to the entropy density s, is useful in that it remains constant as long as the number of degrees of freedom in the plasma are unchanged.

As a first approximation, we assume that all the up-Higgses decay into  $N_1$  neutrinos at the top of the first oscillation. We then estimate that the decay of the RH neutrinos into up-Higgses and leptons produces a lepton asymmetry

$$n_L \simeq \varepsilon \, n_{N_1} \simeq \varepsilon \, \frac{(h_t m |\phi_0|)^{3/2}}{8\pi^3}. \tag{4.32}$$

As soon as the RH neutrinos decay, their energy density  $\rho_{N_1} = M_1 n_{N_1}$  gets converted into a "thermal" bath with an effective temperature  $T^4 \sim (30\rho_{N_1})/(g_*\pi^2)$ , where  $g_*$ is the corresponding number of relativistic degrees of freedom. We estimate that T is smaller than  $M_1$  for

$$M_1 > 10^9 \text{ GeV} \left(\frac{|\phi_0|}{M_p}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{m}{100 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{1/2},$$
 (4.33)

implying that no washout factor should appear in the estimate of the final lepton asymmetry Eq. (4.32): since the mass of the RH neutrinos generated during the preheating stage is expected to be much larger than this lower bound,  $\Delta L = 1$  inverse decays are not taking place. Similarly, it can be argued that the  $\Delta L = 2$  processes are out of equilibrium. Furthermore, since only processes with leptons in the final state can generate an asymmetry, there is no cancellation between the asymmetry produced in the  $N_1$  decays and the possible asymmetry produced in the  $N_1$  production through inverse decays. Finally, flavor effects are not expected to be important in determining the final baryon asymmetry, since the  $\Delta L = 1$  inverse decays are out of equilibrium. During the non-perturbative decay of the flat direction, the inflaton field continues to oscillate around the minimum of its potential, until eventually reheating takes over and the inflaton decays into relativistic degrees of freedom. To be able to compare the baryon density to the relativistic entropy density, we need to determine the baryon asymmetry at the time of reheating, which after sphaleron conversion reads

$$Y_B = C_{\rm sph} \frac{n_L}{s} \frac{H_{\rm RH}^2}{H_{\rm osc}} \simeq \frac{8}{23} \varepsilon \frac{n_{N_1}}{s} \frac{H_{\rm RH}^2}{H_{\rm osc}^2}.$$
(4.34)

Here the sphaleron constant is given by Eq. (4.18) with  $N_H = 2$ , and the last factor accounts for the dilution of the asymmetry due to the expansion of the universe between the time of neutrino production until the beginning of reheating. At the time of the first flat direction oscillation, when the lepton asymmetry is produced, the Hubble constant reads  $H_{\rm osc} \simeq m/3$ , see Eq. (3.32), whereas the value at reheating  $H_{\rm RH}$  can be inferred from Eq. (2.29). Expressing the neutrino number density as in Eq. (4.32), we finally reach an estimate for the baryon asymmetry

$$Y_B \simeq \frac{9 \varepsilon h_t^{3/2} T_{\rm RH} |\phi_0|^{3/2}}{92\pi^3 m^{1/2} M_P^2} = 10^{-6} \varepsilon \left(\frac{T_{\rm RH}}{10^7 \text{ GeV}}\right) \left(\frac{|\phi_0|}{M_P}\right)^{3/2} \left(\frac{100 \text{ GeV}}{m}\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (4.35)

In the supersymmetric case, the maximal CP asymmetry for normal hierarchical light neutrinos is given by Eqs. (4.25) and (4.11), where  $m_{\rm atm} \simeq 0.05$  eV. From Eq. (4.35) we therefore estimate that a sufficient baryon asymmetry is generated if the mass  $M_1$  of the lightest RH neutrino satisfies the bound

$$M_1 \gtrsim 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ GeV}\left(\frac{10^7 \text{ GeV}}{T_{\text{RH}}}\right) \left(\frac{M_P}{|\phi_0|}\right)^{3/2} \left(\frac{m}{100 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (4.36)

This lower bound on the neutrino mass together with the estimated maximal mass in Eq. (4.30), implies that successful baryogenesis can occur only for

$$\phi_0 \gtrsim 0.2 M_P \left(\frac{10^7 \text{ GeV}}{T_{\text{RH}}}\right)^{1/2}$$
 (4.37)

In other words, the flat direction condensate has to start its oscillation from field values close to the Planck scale. Although this limit on  $\phi_0$  is independent of  $h_t$ , the presence of the top Yukawa coupling is crucial to guarantee that the flat direction decays abundantly into up-Higgses  $H_u$ .

#### 4.5.4 Discussion and conclusions

To conclude, we have shown that the observed baryon asymmetry can be explained within the supersymmetric leptogenesis scenario for low reheating temperatures and a RH hierarchical mass spectrum, thus avoiding the gravitino bound. Although the proposed solution may be considered as a non-thermal production of RH neutrinos, the main result is that it does not involve any extra assumption, such as a large coupling between the RH neutrinos and the inflaton field.

However, we found that the solution requires two conditions to be met: the initial value of the flat direction must be close to the Planck scale, and the phase-dependent

terms in the flat direction potential must either vanish, or be sufficiently small for particle production to be efficient. The mechanism might, nevertheless, work also in models with smaller values of  $M_1$ , since the baryon asymmetry could be generated by the decays of the heavier RH neutrinos. The up-Higgs could decay into the RH neutrino  $N_2$  (or  $N_3$ ) instead of into the lightest RH neutrino  $N_1$ , if the condensate reaches the value  $\phi = M_2/h_t$  before the up-Higgs decays into  $N_1$  neutrinos. This condition can be satisfied if the Yukawa couplings  $h_{i\alpha}$  are hierarchical and  $|h_{1\alpha}| \ll 1$ . If this is the case, one should replace  $M_1$  with  $M_2$  (or  $M_3$ ) in Eqs. (4.33) and (4.36).

Moreover, in hybrid inflation, the flat direction might couple differently to the slowrolling inflaton and to the field responsible for the end of inflation. In this case, the curvature of the flat direction potential might change its sign promptly at the end of the slow-roll period. The flat direction would then oscillate in its potential with a frequency of the order of the inflationary Hubble scale [120], with the consequence that a much larger number of up-Higgs quanta could be produced, relaxing the bound on  $\phi_0$ .

# Chapter 5

# Inflation with supersymmetric flat directions

In Chapter 2 we have presented the virtues of the inflationary paradigm, and explained how it can be realized in terms of a scalar field. Furthermore, we discussed observational constraints on the form of the inflaton potential. From a theoretical point of view, however, a satisfactory model of inflation cannot be limited to specifying the inflationary potential, but should address the relation of the inflaton to the Standard Model, or at least to other physics expected to lie there beyond. In this chapter we will address this question further.

Our main focus will be on a particular inflationary model, in which the inflaton is a flat direction of the MSSM [121]. However, we begin the chapter by a general overview of the problems related to identifying an inflaton in high-energy physics. In Section 5.2 we then present the MSSM inflation model, and review its construction and inflationary predictions. We also discuss some of its major drawbacks, mainly the large fine-tuning required to ensure the flatness of the inflationary potential. In the final section, we present a supergravity embedding of the MSSM inflationary model, which was proposed in the included research paper [2], in order to alleviate the fine-tuning problem.

# 5.1 Embedding inflation into particle physics

The most apparent problem in connecting *scalar* field inflation to known physics is perhaps just that — it requires a scalar field, yet to date none has ever been observed. Moreover, the Standard Model Higgs has not proved its worth as a suitable inflaton candidate, despite courageous attempts [122]. Inflationary model builders are thus directed to consider higher energies, beyond the Standard Model in their quest for a scalar field inflaton. In this regard supersymmetry with the large number of scalar fields it brings about appears a particularly fruitful framework.

Another potential difficulty is the very flat inflaton potential that is necessary for slow-roll inflation to produce a sufficient number of e-folds. Even from a phenomenological perspective, where the main challenge is in constructing internally consistent slow-roll potentials, fine-tuning of parameters is sometimes required. When inflation is considered in a particle physics framework, however, one furthermore has to ensure that the potential remains flat also under radiative corrections. Supersymmetry provides a useful framework also in this respect, since one of the main motivations for supersymmetry beyond the Standard Model is the cancellation of quadratic divergencies that it provides for scalar masses. In addition, the multitude of flat directions present in the supersymmetric scalar field space provide ample inflaton candidates with nearly flat potentials, when lifted by non-renormalizable terms or quantum effects. In light of all this, it seems there should be no obstacles to identifying inflationary models within supersymmetry. Indeed, viable inflationary theories, mainly of the polynomial or hybrid type, can be constructed with fairly simple choices of super- and Kähler potentials [53]. There is, nevertheless, a caveat to all of this: at the fundamental level supersymmetry is expected to be local, and hence supergravity effects must be taken into account.

#### Inflation in supersymmetric theories

We have seen in Chapter 3 that the supersymmetric scalar potential can be written as the sum of two contributions, the F-term and the D-term. In most supersymmetric inflation models, the potential is dominated by the F-term. These models, however, are plagued by what is called the  $\eta$ -problem. As discussed in Section 3.3, supergravity generically induces a mass for scalar fields during inflation of the order of H, see Eq. (3.32). For the inflaton itself, this mass renders  $\eta \sim 1$ , in conflict with the slow-roll requirement. In order to avoid the problem, one can invoke non-generic forms of the super- and Kähler potentials, which guarantee that the mass becomes suppressed, or simply suppose that the term is accidentally suppressed. Alternatively, one can rely on quantum corrections to drive the mass to a small value. A different strategy is to suppose that the D-term dominates [83], but also these models suffer from difficulties. While the supergravity correction to the inflaton mass is absent in *D*-term inflation, the inflaton field value is required to be at least of the order of  $M_P$ , making the model susceptible to large contributions from non-renormalizable terms. More details on the subjects mentioned here, and an extensive list of references can be found in Refs. [48, 53].

At the end of the day, we seem to be faced with the limitations of the supersymmetric framework. While it may provide the scalar field inflaton with a raison d'être, it fails to yield a complete field theory picture. Most of the supersymmetric models of inflation proposed to date require high enough energies that the connection to low-energy supersymmetry, motivated by the Standard Model remains at most elusive. Nevertheless, without providing any guidance, the models require us to make educated guesses about their specific properties in the regime where non-renormalizable quantum effects become important. For a more rigid top-down approach to inflationary model building, one may thus want to turn to string theory.

In string theory, there is no lack of potential inflaton candidates, as the various parameters describing the background geometries and particular compactifications, the moduli, are all scalar fields. With the added amount of freedom that comes from fluxes, torsion and possible non-perturbative effects, one might expect viable inflationary potentials in string theory to be abundant. However, identifying an inflaton within the moduli sector has proved surprisingly difficult. Due to some groundbreaking work, such as the KKLT scenario [123], where the joint contribution of non-perturbative effects and an explicit supersymmetry breaking term induced by anti-D3 branes allows for de-Sitter vacua with all but one degree of freedom stabilized, some viable examples of modular inflation have recently been constructed [124]. Moreover, a more general understanding of the conditions necessary for realizing slow-roll inflation in the moduli sector of string models has been achieved [125]. Nevertheless, any inflationary model in string theory as of yet comes with the price of high intricacy, and the lack of a well-formulated Standard Model sector of particle physics.

In this respect, the inflationary model recently proposed by Allahverdi et al., where inflation is driven by a flat direction of the MSSM [121], provides a welcome contrast. Both the inflationary period and the generation of the Standard Model fields during reheating are explained in a self-consistent manner by the physics of the flat direction. Furthermore, the inflaton couplings to Standard Model particles are known and, at least in principle, measurable in laboratory experiments such as the LHC or a future Linear Collider; even the inflaton mass is directly related to the slepton or squark masses and can thus be probed in the laboratory [126].

# 5.2 MSSM inflation

Here we review the construction as well as inflationary parameters of the MSSM inflation model, following closely the original references [121, 127]. While the setting of this model into the MSSM provides its many virtues, it also gives rise to some major drawbacks. The exceptionally low scale of inflation requires the inflaton potential to be extremely flat, with the usual consequence of fine-tuning problems. We also briefly discuss this issue here, before attempting to address it in Section 5.3.

#### 5.2.1 The potential

Assuming that only one flat directions is excited, and that any other fields are relaxed at the origin, phenomenologically viable slow roll inflation can arise along the flat directions  $LL\bar{e}$  and  $\bar{u}d\bar{d}$ . Both directions are of dimension six, and are lifted by a superpotential term of the form  $W = \lambda \phi^6/6M^3$ . Assuming hidden sector F-term supersymmetry breaking, the leading order potential along these directions is then given by Eq. (3.31) and reads

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}m^2|\phi|^2 + \cos(6\theta + \theta_A)\frac{|A\lambda|}{6M^3}|\phi|^6 + \frac{|\lambda|^2}{M^6}|\phi|^{10}.$$
 (5.1)

While both the first and the last term in the potential are positive definite, the A-term will give a negative contribution whenever  $\cos(n\theta + \theta_A) < 0$ . Choosing the phase such that the A-term is minimized along the angular direction:  $\cos(n\theta + \theta_A) = -1$ , one obtains, for the radial direction, the inflationary potential of Ref. [121]

$$V(|\phi|) = \frac{1}{2}m^2|\phi|^2 - \frac{|A\lambda|}{6M^3}|\phi|^6 + \frac{|\lambda|^2}{M^6}|\phi|^{10}.$$
(5.2)

As such, this potential is generically not flat enough to yield a successful period of inflation. It is noticed, however, that the potential has a secondary minimum at

$$|\phi_0| = \left(\frac{mM_P^3}{\sqrt{10}|\lambda|}\right)^{1/4},$$
(5.3)

provided that  $A^2 \ge 40m^2$ . Furthermore, this minimum becomes a saddle point if the soft parameters satisfy the condition [121, 127]

$$A^2 = 40m^2. (5.4)$$

In this case  $V'(\phi_0) = V''(\phi_0) = 0$  and the potential in the vicinity of the saddle point is flat enough to support inflation. Provided that the flat direction is initially close to the saddle point  $\phi_0$ , with  $\dot{\phi} \simeq 0$ , and that the energy density of the flat direction dominates the universe, a sufficient period of slow roll inflation ensues.

#### 5.2.2 Inflationary parameters and predicitions

The energy scale of MSSM inflation effectively depends on the soft mass of the flat direction and on the coupling  $\lambda$ , through the value of the inflaton at the saddle point. For the phenomenologically motivated value of the soft mass  $m \simeq 1$  TeV, and taking  $|\lambda| \simeq 1$ , the inflaton field value at the saddle point becomes

$$|\phi_0| \simeq 3 \times 10^{14} \text{ GeV},$$
 (5.5)

which is considerably lower than typical field values in single-field inflation. The corresponding energy scale, which can be approximated by the potential Eq. (5.2) evaluated at the saddle point, reads

$$V_{\rm inf} \simeq V(|\phi_0|) = \frac{4}{15}m^2 |\phi_0|^2 \sim 10^{34} \ ({\rm GeV})^4.$$
 (5.6)

This corresponds to the inflationary Hubble scale [121, 127]

$$H_{\rm inf} \simeq \left(\frac{V_{\rm inf}}{3M_P^2}\right)^{1/2} \simeq 0.1 \text{ GeV}.$$
(5.7)

Although the Hubble scale is very low compared to typical slow roll models, the inflationary predictions turn out to be very similar. Moreover, thanks to the correspondingly low value of the inflaton vev, the problem of Planckian field values, which causes a challenge for many conventional models, is entirely avoided here.

#### Slow-roll parameters and number of e-folds

The number of e-folds during the inflationary period, as well as the expressions for the slow-roll parameters, can be determined from the expansion of the inflationary potential Eq. (5.2) around the saddle point

$$V(|\phi|) \simeq V(|\phi_0|) + \frac{1}{6}V'''(|\phi_0|)(|\phi| - |\phi_0|)^3 = V(|\phi_0|) + \frac{16}{3}\frac{m^2}{|\phi_0|}(|\phi| - |\phi_0|)^3.$$
(5.8)

The slow roll parameters, Eqs. (2.24) and (2.25), thus take the form

$$\epsilon \simeq 1800 \frac{M_P^2}{|\phi_0|^2} \left(\frac{|\phi| - |\phi_0|}{|\phi_0|}\right)^4,$$
(5.9)

$$\eta \simeq 120 \frac{M_P^2}{|\phi_0|^2} \left( \frac{|\phi| - |\phi_0|}{|\phi_0|} \right).$$
 (5.10)

The slow-roll condition Eq. (2.26) becomes violated when  $|\eta| \simeq 1$ , at the field value

$$|\phi| \simeq |\phi_0| - \frac{|\phi_0|^3}{120M_P^2} \equiv |\phi_{\text{end}}|,$$
 (5.11)

which defines the end of inflation.

The number of e-folds of inflation Eq. (2.48) calculated from some field value  $|\phi|$  during inflation then reads

$$N(|\phi|) = \int_{|\phi|}^{|\phi_{\text{end}}|} \frac{H}{|\dot{\phi}|} d|\phi| \simeq \frac{|\phi_0|^3}{60M_P^2(|\phi_0| - |\phi|)}.$$
 (5.12)

When  $|\phi|$  is very close to the saddle point  $|\phi_0|$ , quantum fluctuations are stronger than the classical motion, and the field is in the regime of eternal inflation [128]. The classical force begins to dominate when  $H^2 \simeq |\dot{\phi}|$ , which corresponds to the field value

$$|\phi| \simeq |\phi_0| - \left(\frac{m}{M_P}\right)^{1/2} \frac{|\phi_0|^2}{M_P}.$$
 (5.13)

Taking this as the initial inflaton field value, we obtain an estimate for the total amount of e-folds during inflation

$$N_{\rm tot} \simeq \frac{|\phi_0|}{60(mM_P)^{1/2}} \sim 10^3.$$
 (5.14)

The numerical estimate, which corresponds to the same values for the soft parameters as above, is sufficient to explain the observations of flatness, homogeneity and absence of topological relics. Due to the low scale of inflation, the number e-folds  $N_*$  since the largest currently visible scales exited the horizon will be much lower than the typical 60 or so [129]. If the inflaton decays immediately after the end of inflation, we obtain [121, 127]

$$N_* \sim 50,$$
 (5.15)

or slightly under, depending on the energy scale of inflation.

#### Amplitude and spectral index

For the observed amplitude of perturbations to be produced with such a low scale of inflation, the potential must be extremely flat, which is indeed the case here. With the given potential, the amplitude of the curvature perturbations Eq. (2.50), evaluated at the horizon crossing of the cosmic scales reads

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{R}}^{1/2} \simeq \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{H_{\inf}^2}{|\dot{\phi_*}|} \simeq \frac{4\sqrt{5}}{\pi} N_*^2 \frac{mM_P}{|\phi_0|^2} \sim 10^{-5}, \tag{5.16}$$

and the numerical estimate is again performed for  $m \sim 1$  TeV and  $|\phi_0| \sim 3 \times 10^{14}$  GeV. With a slight tuning of the parameters m and  $\lambda$ , the exact observational value can easily be obtained. That this is indeed possible for phenomenologically viable values of the soft parameters is a non-trivial result. In fact this is what singles out the n = 6flat directions from higher order ones as the only feasible inflaton candidates [127]. For lower order flat directions  $(n \leq 5)$ , on the other hand, no A-term arises in the potential, which obviously makes them unsuitable. Furthermore, the spectral index of the curvature perturbation reads

$$n_s = 1 + 2\eta - 6\epsilon \simeq 1 - \frac{4}{N_*} \sim 0.92, \tag{5.17}$$

with a running of -0.002. Due to the low inflationary scale, no observable tensor perturbations are produced. In the absence of tensor modes, the scalar spectral index deviates with about  $3\sigma$  from the observed value  $n_s = 0.96$  [4]. The tilt can, nevertheless, be enhanced to fit the observational value by tuning the effective coupling  $\lambda$  to be smaller than 1. Moreover, slight deviations from the saddle point condition Eq. (5.4), to the extent that the success of the model allows for, can modify the spectral index up to  $n_s \simeq 1$  [130, 127].

#### 5.2.3 The problem of fine-tuning

The MSSM inflationary model is unique in providing phenomenologically viable inflation within the MSSM, without the inclusion of any extra gauge singlets. It is important to point out, however, that the success of the model depends crucially on the saddle point condition Eq. (5.4) being fulfilled. Because of the low scale of inflation, the condition must be satisfied to an accuracy of about  $10^{-18}$ , in order to produce the observed amplitude for the curvature perturbations [130, 127, 2, 131]. In other words, the MSSM inflationary scenario seems to require an unsatisfactory fine-tuning of the soft supersymmetry breaking parameters in the inflaton potential to the accuracy of  $10^{-9}$ . Since the soft parameters are determined by the supersymmetry breaking mechanism, however, it is reasonable to ask whether the saddle point condition could simply be a consequence of the realisation of a particular supersymmetry breaking scheme. This issue has been investigated in the enclosed research paper [2], and will be discussed in more detail in the following section.

Another problem within this inflationary model, equally due to the exceptionally low inflationary scale, is the required fine-tuning of the inflaton initial conditions. The slow roll conditions are satisfied only in the immediate vicinity of the saddle point, and the initial value of the inflaton must thus be set very close to the saddle point in order to obtain a sufficiently long period of inflation. Also in this question, a rigorous solution must involve physics at higher energies, which govern the stage before the onset of the inflationary period. For example, the initial conditions might be connected to the details of the supersymmetry breaking mechanism. The problem has also been addressed within the string theory landscape [132], where the MSSM inflation could occur as a last stage of a chain of inflationary periods driven by energy densities of several false vacua, but the issue remains unresolved.

### 5.3 A supergravity origin for MSSM inflation

Since in the MSSM the soft supersymmetry breaking parameters are put in by hand, there can in that context be no explanation for the saddle point condition Eq. (5.4), other than simple fine-tuning. It is nevertheless clear that the relation reflects physics that is beyond the MSSM, in particular the mechanism of supersymmetry breaking. In gravity mediated supersymmetry breaking, where the soft parameters are usually expected to be of similar order of magnitude, such a relation might arise naturally. In the enclosed research paper [2], we study what constraints the saddle point condition places on the supergravity model, and identify a class of hidden sector supergravity models, in which the saddle point condition is indeed identically satisfied.

#### 5.3.1 Identifying the model

We work in the hidden sector picture and consider F-term supersymmetry breaking, since D-flat directions remain so also in supergravity. For the dimension six flat directions that we are considering as the inflaton, the superpotential to lowest order reads

$$W = \hat{W} + I = \hat{W}(h_a) + \frac{\hat{\lambda}(h_a)}{6} |\phi|^6, \qquad (5.18)$$

where  $h_a$  refers to the hidden sector fields and the hat denotes quantities that are functions of the hidden sector fields only, cf. Eqs (3.15) and (3.27) in Chapter 3. The superpotential may also contain any higher order terms allowed by symmetries, but these will not affect the analysis and are therefore suppressed. In order to proceed we assume a generic perturbative form for the Kähler potential

$$K = \hat{K}(h_a, h_a^*) + \hat{Z}_2(h_a, h_a^*) \frac{|\phi|^2}{M_P^2} + \hat{Z}_4(h_a, h_a^*) \frac{|\phi|^4}{M_P^4} + \dots$$
(5.19)

In Eqs. (3.16) - (3.19), the scalar potential in hidden sector supergravity is expressed in terms of the superpotential W and the Kähler potential K. For the form of the functions given here, the lowest order terms correspond to the inflaton potential Eq. (5.1) with the soft parameters

$$m^{2} = 2M_{P}^{2}e^{\hat{G}}\left(\hat{Z}_{2}(\hat{G}^{a}\hat{G}_{a}-2)+\hat{G}_{a}\hat{G}_{\bar{a}}(\hat{Z}_{2}^{a}\hat{Z}_{2}^{\bar{b}}\hat{Z}_{2}^{-1}-\hat{Z}_{2}^{a\bar{b}})\right),$$
(5.20)

$$|A| = 2M_P e^{\hat{G}/2} \hat{Z}_2^{1/2} \left| \hat{G}^a (\hat{K}_a + \hat{\lambda}_a \hat{\lambda}^{-1} - 6\hat{Z}_{\bar{a}} \hat{Z}_2^{-1}) + 3 \right|, \qquad (5.21)$$

$$|\lambda| = e^{\hat{K}/2} |\hat{\lambda}| \hat{Z}_2^{-1/2}, \qquad (5.22)$$

$$\theta_A = \arg\left(\hat{G}^a(\hat{K}_a + \hat{\lambda}_a\hat{\lambda}^{-1} - 6\hat{Z}_{\bar{a}}\hat{Z}_2^{-1}) + 3\right) + \arg(\hat{W}^*) + \arg(\hat{\lambda}). \quad (5.23)$$

Recall that lower indices indicate derivatives, in particular indices a, b refer to derivates with respect to the hidden sector fields. The lower case indices are raised with the inverse of the hidden sector Kähler metric  $\hat{K}^{a\bar{b}}$ .

#### The saddle point condition

The saddle point condition  $A^2 = 40m^2$  can now be written as a partial differential equation for the hidden sector dependent functions in the potential

$$\left| \hat{G}^{a} \left( \hat{K}_{a} + \hat{\lambda}_{a} \hat{\lambda}^{-1} - 6 \hat{Z}_{\bar{a}} \hat{Z}_{2}^{-1} \right) + 3 \right|^{2} = 20 \left( \hat{G}^{a} \hat{G}_{a} - 2 + \hat{G}_{a} \hat{G}_{\bar{b}} \times \left( \hat{Z}_{2}^{a} \hat{Z}_{2}^{\bar{b}} \hat{Z}_{2}^{-2} - \hat{Z}_{2}^{a\bar{b}} \hat{Z}_{2}^{-1} \right) \right).$$
 (5.24)

Since the functions  $\hat{K}$ ,  $\hat{Z}_2$  in the Kähler potential are non-analytic by definition, whereas the superpotential and the functions  $\hat{W}$  and  $\hat{\lambda}$  are analytic, the differential equation only has trivial solutions for arbitrary values of the hidden sector fields. However, by neglecting the hidden sector dependence of the superpotential, in other worlds by treating the quantities  $\hat{W}$  and  $\hat{\lambda}$  as constants, non-trivial solutions can be found. Inspired by the no-scale supergravity model, we make an Ansatz for an unspecified number of hidden sector fields

$$K = \sum_{a} \beta_{a} \log(h_{a} + h_{a}^{*}) + \kappa \prod_{a} (h_{a} + h_{a}^{*})^{\alpha_{a}} \phi^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\phi^{4})$$
(5.25)

where  $\alpha_a, \beta_a$  and  $\kappa$  are constants. The Ansatz solves Eq. (5.24) provided that the parameters  $\alpha = \sum_a \alpha_a$  and  $\beta = \sum_a \beta_a$  satisfy

$$\alpha(36\alpha + 16 - 12\beta) + (\beta + 7)^2 = 0 , \qquad (5.26)$$

while  $\kappa$  can take on arbitrary values. For Kähler potentials of this form, the saddle point condition in MSSM inflation thus holds irrespectively of the values of the hidden sector fields.

#### 5.3.2 Higher order corrections

At this point, it is important to recall that the success of the MSSM inflationary model requires the potential to be extremely flat in the vicinity of the saddle point. In solving the saddle point condition, however, we have considered only the leading order part of the supergravity scalar potential. Thus, one may wonder whether corrections arising from the expansion of the potential Eq. (3.16) to higher orders will destroy this flatness. In Ref. [2], it is shown that supergravity corrections to the potential may be orders of magnitude larger than the allowed deviation from the exact saddle point condition. Therefore, it is not enough to determine the Kähler potential up to second order, but also higher order terms must be taken into account.

In order to guarantee the flatness of the inflaton potential, constraints must be put also on the next to leading as well as the next to next to leading order supergravity corrections. Analogously to the leading order results, we find a form of the Kähler potential for which all these conditions are satisfied identically, i.e. irrespective of the values of hidden sector fields. This class of Kähler potentials can be written in the form

$$K = \sum_{a} \beta_{a} \log(h_{a} + h_{a}^{*}) + \kappa \prod_{a} (h_{a} + h_{a}^{*})^{\alpha_{a}} \phi^{2} + \mu \left(\kappa \prod_{a} (h_{a} + h_{a}^{*})^{\alpha_{a}}\right)^{2} \phi^{4} + \nu \left(\kappa \prod_{a} (h_{a} + h_{a}^{*})^{\alpha_{a}}\right)^{3} \phi^{6} + \mathcal{O}(\phi^{8}) , \qquad (5.27)$$

where we have introduced the new parameters  $\mu$  and  $\nu$ . The introduction of these additional terms amounts to further constraints on the parameters  $\alpha_a$  and  $\beta_a$ , while  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  remain adjustable. Some examples of these constraints are given in Table (5.1) below.

Table 5.1:	Constraints on	1 the parameter	s of the	Kähler	potential	Eq. (	(5.27)	imposed	by t	the
flatness of a	the MSSM infla	ton potential.								

$\beta = \sum_{a} \beta_{a}$	$\alpha = \sum_{a} \alpha_{a}$	$\gamma = \sum_a \alpha_m^2 / \beta_a$	$\delta = \sum_a \alpha_a^3 / \beta_a^2$
- 3	$-\frac{4}{9}$	$\frac{1}{9}$	$\frac{91}{324}$
-7	0	0	δ
-7	$-\frac{25}{9}$	$-\frac{10}{9}$	$-\frac{1654}{1863}+\frac{162}{23}\nu$
- 11	$-\frac{1}{9}$	$\frac{1}{21}$	$-\frac{8465}{75411}+\frac{162}{19}\nu$
- 11	-4	$-\frac{29}{21}$	$-\frac{2491}{2940} + \frac{36}{5}\nu$

#### 5.3.3 Discussion and conclusions

To summarize, we have found a class of supergravity hidden sector Kähler potentials for which the saddle point condition Eq. (5.4) is identically satisfied to the required degree. This strongly suggest that the extremely flat MSSM inflaton potential could indeed arise naturally as a consequence of the structure of the underlying supergravity model. However, it is worth noting that our analysis is far from complete, since the dependence of the hidden sector on the superpotential has been entirely neglected [133]. Thus we are not allowing for a proper dynamical treatment of the stabilization of the hidden sector fields into their vacuum expectation values. Nevertheless, since the model requires that the flat direction is the only dynamical variable during inflation, it is implicitly assumed that the hidden sector fields are stabilized before the beginning of inflation, either by the neglected superpotential terms or through some other mechanism. A detailed analysis of these effects requires precise knowledge of the nature and dynamics of the hidden sector fields, which can only be provided by some fundamental theory at large scales.

In this context, it is interesting to note that Kähler potentials of the form found here appear fairly commonly in various compactifications of string theory. For example, Abelian orbifold compactifications of heterotic string theory [134], as well as intersecting D-brane models [135] yield Kähler potentials of this form, although Eq. (5.26) represents a non-trivial constraint for the parameters. In the string context  $-\beta$  generically measures the number of hidden sector fields, in which case one would expect an integer value for  $\beta$ . In Table (5.1) we list some solutions to Eq. (5.26), which admit nonzero soft supersymmetry breaking terms as well as integer values for  $\beta$ .

Furthermore, the flatness of the inflation should be guaranteed also in the presence of radiative corrections in supergravity. An analysis of one-loop corrections to the leading order potential shows that the location of the saddle point is shifted by the running of the soft parameters [127]; however, the running of the supergravity corrections to the leading order potential, discussed in the previous section, should also be taken into account. The supergravity embedding that we have proposed here does not as such address this problem, since the requirement of the flatness of the potential is simply translated into the constraints on the Kähler potential; however, we point out that there is a continuous trajectory in the Kähler potential parameters for which the saddle point condition is identically satisfied, which could have some underlying interpretation, for example as a consequence of some symmetry [2, 131].

# Chapter 6

# Beyond inflation with string theory

In this final substantial chapter of the thesis, we leave the standard model of cosmology, which has provided the frame for the discussion so far, to one side and venture into a slightly more speculative domain. In Section 2.5 we discussed some of the conceptual shortcomings of the inflationary hot big bang cosmology, and suggested that they might have a resolution in the context of an ultraviolet complete theory at the Planck scale. Here we focus on a particular string theoretical scenario of the very early universe: string gas cosmology, which suggests a resolution to the initial singularity plaguing the standard cosmological scenario.

Following the general introduction, here below, to the string gas cosmology scenario and the very early universe in string theory, we present the quantitative side of the scenario in Section 6.2. Subsequently, we shift gears and review some basic results concerning the decay of unstable D-branes in string theory. This is to prepare for the discussion in Section 6.4, of the resolution to the initial condition problem of string gas cosmology, which is proposed in the enclosed research paper [3].

# 6.1 String theory and the initial singularity

String theory is expected to describe physics on scales up to the Planck scale or beyond, possibly resolving some of the shortcomings of the standard cosmological model. In a truly fundamental theory, it would be possible to track the cosmological perturbations for all times, implying that the trans-Planckian physics and its signatures would be known. Furthermore, such a theory should be able to resolve the initial singularity, which cannot be addressed within the big bang model. Several proposals using the ingredients of string theory to address some of these issues have been made, most notably perhaps the pre-Big Bang cosmology [136] and various bouncing cosmologies [137], often involving the dynamics of branes [138]. Another proposed scenario is string gas cosmology [139, 140], which originates in an early attempt of Brandenberger and Vafa to naturally explain the dimensionality of spacetime.

#### String gas cosmology

String gas cosmology focuses, in particular, on the effect of the winding degrees of freedom in string theory as well as the implications of the T-duality symmetry. The basic postulate of the model is that the universe is a compact space, usually taken to be a torus, which is filled with a thermal gas of closed strings [140]. Furthermore, it is usually assumed that the universe begins string sized and close to the Hagedorn temperature, which is believed to be the maximal temperature for a perturbative string ensemble.

Already a simple qualitative consideration of the string gas scenario has quite fundamental implications on the picture of the early universe. The degrees of freedom in the string gas consist of the three types of closed string modes: momentum modes, describing the center of mass motion of strings; winding modes, expressing the number of times a string is wound around a given torus one-cycle; and finally oscillatory modes. For comparison, the only degrees of freedom which point particles have are momentum modes. The energy of the momentum modes is quantized in units of the inverse torus radii, while the energy of winding modes is directly proportional to the radii. The oscillatory modes have radius-independent energies.

The presence of the string winding modes leads to a symmetry of the string mass spectrum under the inversion of the torus radii, along with the interchange of the corresponding momentum and winding quantum numbers, which is a special case of the more general T-duality symmetry. This symmetry implies the existence of an effective minimal length scale, which in turn suggests a resolution of both the spatial and temperature singularities of the early universe. While the string gas scenario provides a resolution to the singularity problem in this way, the origin of the scenario itself is not explained, and the string gas is implicitly assumed to have an infinite history. The fact that this assumption is indeed consistent, is perhaps a part of the models main asset, but within a fundamental theory there should be a more rigorous explanation for the initial conditions.

#### Initial conditions

Let us break the question of initial conditions into two parts: the origin of spacetime itself, and the origin of the matter or energy within the spacetime. The first question amounts to how to resolve the initial spacelike singularity of big bang cosmology. To this end, let us mention a model describing the disappearance of space by closed string tachyon condensation, which has been proposed some time ago [141]. The time-reversal of this process could be interpreted as the emergence of space from nothing, and has indeed recently been connected to string gas cosmology [142].

However this still leaves open the second question of how the string gas came to exist. In another recently proposed scenario, energy in a spacetime can originate from a decaying brane, for which an initial condition can be prepared at the origin of time [143]. Basically, the spacetime comes into existence with a large amount of stored energy which gets released immediately after. In a similar manner, we address the second part of the question of initial conditions within string gas cosmology in the third enclosed research paper [3], by studying specifically if a thermal gas of closed strings could arise as a consequence of the decay of a setup of unstable D-branes, through open string tachyon condensation.

# 6.2 String gas cosmology

String gas cosmology is usually formulated within the framework of dilaton gravity, which is the simplest modification of Einstein's gravity that respects the T-duality symmetry. Although it cannot account for all of the degrees of freedom in the Hagedorn phase, replacing the full string theory by this low-energy effective theory is cosmologically motivated by the assumption of slowly varying fields, i.e. the adiabatic approximation, which allows one to stay at tree level in  $\alpha'$  and at weak string coupling  $g_s \ll 1$ . Here we briefly recapitulate the main features of the model; several more extensive reviews, following a similar treatment, can be found in the literature [144].

#### 6.2.1 The cosmological evolution

Working in the critical string dimension and assuming there are no fluxes present, the D-dimensional dilaton gravity action in the string frame takes the form

$$S_{\text{string}} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_D^2} \int d^D x \sqrt{-G} e^{-2\phi} \left( R + 4(\nabla\phi)^2 \right).$$
(6.1)

Here  $\kappa_D$  is the *D*-dimensional reduced gravitational constant, *G* is the determinant of the background spacetime metric, *R* the usual Ricci scalar, and  $\phi$  the dilaton. Assuming furthermore, as in FRW cosmology, a homogeneous spacetime, the background fields *G* and  $\phi$  are at most functions of time, and the background metric can be written in the familiar RW form  $ds^2 = -dt^2 + \sum_i a_i^2(t) dx_i^2$ . Rewritten in terms of the number of e-folds  $N_i = \log a_i(t)$  and the shifted dilaton  $\varphi = 2\phi - \sum_i N_i$ , the action Eq. (6.1) takes a form that is manifestly invariant under the T-duality transformation

$$N_i \rightarrow -N_i,$$
 (6.2)

$$\varphi \rightarrow \varphi.$$
 (6.3)

When the dilaton gravity action Eq. (6.1) is coupled to the matter action of a gas of free strings

$$S_m = \int dt \sqrt{-G_{00}} \ F(N_i, \beta \sqrt{-G_{00}}), \tag{6.4}$$

where F denotes the string gas free energy, and is varied with respect to the fields, one obtains the evolution equations of string gas cosmology [145]

$$\dot{\varphi}^2 - \sum_{i=1}^{D-1} \dot{N}_i^2 = e^{\varphi} E, \tag{6.5}$$

$$\ddot{N}_i - \dot{\varphi}\dot{N}_i = \frac{1}{2}e^{\varphi}P_i, \tag{6.6}$$

$$\ddot{\varphi} - \sum_{i=1}^{D-1} \dot{N}_i^2 = \frac{1}{2} e^{\varphi} E.$$
(6.7)
Here E = F + TS is the total energy of the string gas and  $P_i = -\partial F / \partial N_i$  the pressure in the *i*-th direction multiplied by the total volume.

The cosmology that emerges from these equations is determined by the behavior of the string gas energy and pressure as functions of the scale factor. Due to the different form of the scale factor dependence of the energy levels of the winding and momentum modes, the winding modes give a negative contribution to the total pressure, while the momentum modes give a positive one. Hence Eq. (6.6) implies that winding modes tend to prevent expansion, whereas the momentum modes induce it. In the assumed initial state, where the universe is string scale sized and filled with a dense string gas with a temperature close to the Hagedorn temperature, the energy is nearly constant,  $E \sim T_H S$ , and the numbers of winding and momentum modes are equal, so that the total pressure vanishes. As a consequence the scale factor remains constant on average, making this initial phase a semi-stable period.

In the absence of winding modes, space is free to expand, in which case the temperature drops, so that the massive string modes eventually go out of equilibrium and the universe enters a standard radiation dominated era. During this period, the radii evolve as  $a_i \sim t^{2/D}$  as is usual during radiation domination while the original dilaton  $\phi = (\varphi + \sum_i N_i)/2$  approaches a constant.

### 6.2.2 A three-dimensional universe

String gas cosmology has been advocated as a mechanism that dynamically generates a universe with precisely three large spatial dimensions [139, 145]. This argument is based on the observation that the winding modes give a negative contribution to the string gas pressure, and thus oppose expansion. In order for a spatial dimension to be able to grow large, the winding modes wrapped around this dimension must therefore be annihilated by intersecting with winding modes of opposite orientation. Since string worldsheets are two-dimensional, the argument goes, a pair of strings have non-zero probability of intersecting only in four or less spacetime dimensions, so that at most three spatial dimensions can grow large. The conclusion of this qualitative consideration has been confirmed in various studies [146, 147], but when cosmological dynamics, in particular the effect of the dilaton, are taken into consideration, the simple argument no longer holds.

In a numerical study of the Boltzmann equations governing the string annihilation in the framework of dilaton gravity [148], it was found that the coupling to the dilaton, which is rolling towards weak coupling, in general causes the strings to freeze out too fast for the anisotropic annihilation to take place. In particular, for initial conditions that admit a large number of winding modes, i.e. for small initial values of the dilaton, the strings tend to freeze out so that all dimensions remain small. For a small initial number of winding modes, on the other hand, all strings typically annihilate and the whole compact space grows large. Only for a very narrow range of intermediate initial conditions is it likely that three dimensions grow large.

## 6.3 String production from unstable D-branes

While string gas cosmology may provide a finite history for three large dimensions, the string gas itself is implicitly assumed to have an infinite history. In the enclosed research paper [3] we study whether such a gas of strings could arise as a consequence of the decay of unstable D-branes, in order to address this conceptual shortcoming of string gas cosmology. Before going in on the details of the proposed scenario, let us begin by reviewing some facts relating to the decay of D-branes. For an extensive review, the reader is referred to Ref. [149].

#### 6.3.1 D-brane decay

The D-branes of bosonic string theory are unstable. As a sign of this, the spectrum of open strings on a brane contains a tachyonic mode. Furthermore, supersymmetric Type II string theories contain unstable non-BPS D-branes, but also pairs of stable BPS D-branes of opposite charge become unstable at subcritical separation. Here we nevertheless restrict ourselves to bosonic string theory for simplicity.

In bosonic string theory, unstable branes will decay into closed strings. We analyze the decay at tree level, where interactions between emitted closed strings can be neglected. Since the mass of a D-brane is proportional to the inverse of the string coupling  $g_s$ , in the limit of weak coupling D-branes admit a simple description in closed string theory as extra objects inserted in the theory. Therefore an unstable D-brane acts as a classical time-dependent source for closed string fields. The final state for a *p*-dimensional D-brane, or D*p*-brane, is a coherent state of closed strings [150],

$$|\psi\rangle \sim : \exp\left\{-i\sum_{s}\int d^{p+1}x \ J_s(x)\cdot\phi_s(x)\right\} : |0\rangle,$$
(6.8)

where  $J_s(x)$  is the source terms for the closed string fields  $\phi_s(x)$ , and the sum is over all possible fields. In the case of full brane decay, the source  $J_s$  reads, after a Fourier transformation,

$$\tilde{J}_s = \pi T_p \frac{\sin(E_s \ln(\lambda))}{\sinh(\pi E_s)}.$$
(6.9)

Here  $T_p$  is the tension of the *p*-dimensional brane, which is inversely proportional to the closed string coupling constant, so that at weak coupling the brane stores a large energy density. The parameter  $\lambda$  controls the brane lifetime

$$\tau \sim -\ln[\sin(\pi\lambda)],\tag{6.10}$$

and can take values in the range  $0 \le \lambda \le 1/2$ .

#### 6.3.2 The decay products

To begin with, we consider decaying branes in a non-compact space, so that there are no winding modes. In this case, the string energy is given by

$$E_s = E_s(N, k_\perp) = \sqrt{4l_s^{-2}(N-1) + \vec{k}_\perp^2}, \qquad (6.11)$$

where  $l_s$  is the string length. The total energy and number density of emitted closed strings from the decay of a *p*-dimensional D-brane then read [150]

$$\frac{\bar{E}}{V_p} = \pi^{11} (2\pi)^{2(6-p)} \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} d(N) \int \frac{d^{25-p} k_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^{25-p}} \frac{|\tilde{J}_s|^2}{2}$$
(6.12)

$$\frac{\bar{N}}{V_p} = \pi^{11} (2\pi)^{2(6-p)} \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} d(N) \int \frac{d^{25-p} k_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^{25-p}} \frac{|\tilde{J}_s|^2}{2E_s(N,k_{\perp})}.$$
(6.13)

The sum in the equations is over all final closed string states of symmetric oscillator excitations between left- and right-moving sectors, where d(N) denotes the density of states at level N.

Due to the exponential growth of the density of left-right symmetric closed string states

$$d(N) \sim N^{-27/4} e^{4\pi\sqrt{N}} , \qquad (6.14)$$

the main contribution to the total number and energy of strings produced in the decay comes from the highest energies. Evaluating the large energy behavior of Eqs. (6.12) and (6.13), one finds that the total amount of energy per unit *p*-volume carried by all the closed string modes emitted during the decay [151] is infinite for  $p \leq 2$ . Since the initial D-brane has a finite energy, the total energy carried by the closed strings cannot really be infinite, but the divergence is due to the breakdown of perturbation theory. The finite result for  $p \geq 3$ , on the other hand, implies that the single closed string channel alone does not carry away all of the initial energy of the brane. Since multi-string emission channels are suppressed by powers of the string coupling, the result means that higher dimensional branes do not decay completely – the final state contains a lower dimensional brane. This implies that the decay must be inhomogeneous, although the process is not fully understood at the moment [152].

Let us study as an example the p = 0 case. By Eq. (6.12) the total energy produced is infinite, but we expect that, once the backreaction of the closed string emission process is taken into account, there will be a natural cut-off on the sum over N, rendering the answer finite. In particular, since the original brane energy is of the order of  $g_s^{-1}$ , the cut-off should be of the same order. Let us reinterpret the results adopting the cut-off M, such that

$$\sum_{N \le M^2/4} N^{-1/2} \sim M. \tag{6.15}$$

Since we are looking at a D0-brane, there is no other decay channel, and all the energy is converted into closed string radiation. The total energy carried by the strings is then of the order of M. For  $M \ll g_s^{-1}$  this energy is small compared to the energy of the brane, but if we cut the sum off at  $M \sim g_s^{-1}$ , all the brane energy will be emitted into closed strings.

### 6.4 An origin for the string gas

Above we have described the decay of unstable branes into an ensemble of closed strings. The analysis suggests that decaying D-branes may indeed produce a state that is similar to the initial state of string gas cosmology. In the research paper [3] we propose a particular D-brane setup as a possible initial state, and study its evolution during and after the brane decay.

#### 6.4.1 A proposal for the initial state

For simplicity, we continue to work in bosonic string theory, and hence in 26 dimensions. In order to make contact with the setup of string gas cosmology, we take all the spatial directions to be compactified on the torus  $T^{25}$ , with equal string scale radii in all directions. The most natural initial state on this torus would be a space-filling unstable D25-brane, or a stack of them. However, we have seen above that branes with  $p \geq 3$  presumably decay into lower dimensional branes, and the process is currently poorly understood. For a pure string gas without any branes, we are thus directed to consider lower dimensional branes which decay completely. Hence we choose an initial configuration consisting of D1-branes wrapped in each direction  $X^i$ . For homogeneity we assume an equal number of D1-branes in every direction, all having the same lifetime.

A D*p*-brane with all its tangential and perpendicular directions compactified on a torus is related to a D0-brane via T-duality. Thus we expect similar results to hold for this system as those obtained in the previous section. In particular, since under a T-duality transformation momentum along a circle gets mapped to the winding charge along the dual circle, we expect that all the energy of a D*p*-brane wrapped on a torus will be converted into closed string radiation, with most of the energy is stored in the highly wound closed string modes of mass around  $g_s^{-1}$  [153].

#### 6.4.2 Thermalization of the string gas

To arrive at the initial state of string gas cosmology, the decay should produce a string ensemble with a thermal distribution. The number distribution of the strings produced through the brane decay can be expressed as follows

$$\bar{n}(N,k_{\perp}) = \frac{|\tilde{J}_s|^2}{2E_s(N,k_{\perp})} .$$
(6.16)

Generically this does not correspond to a thermal distribution of strings, although the deviation becomes small for highly energetic strings near the Hagedorn temperature. This is due to the fact that  $|\tilde{J}_s|^2 \sim e^{-2\pi E_s}$  for large energies, implying that the number distribution  $\bar{n}$  approaches a thermal distribution at the Hagedorn temperature  $T_H = 1/2\pi$ .

In the analysis of the brane decay, however, one assumes zero coupling for the closed strings. This is of course an idealization, as the emitted strings will interact and backreact on the decay. Under suitable circumstances, these interactions will thermalize the string distribution. We estimate the thermalization time scale  $t_{\rm th}$  of the string ensemble to

$$t_{\rm th} \simeq \frac{\sqrt{E_s}}{g_s^4} l_s^{-1} \sim g_s^{-9/2} l_s^{-1}, \tag{6.17}$$

where we have used the fact that most of the energy is stored in slowly moving heavy strings of mass  $E_s \sim g_s^{-1}$ .

Let us make a comparison between this result and the lifetime of the initial unstable brane Eq. (6.10), controlled by the parameter  $\lambda$ . For a generic choice of  $\lambda$ , the lifetime is very short: of the order of the string scale, and the brane decay is a very rapid process. Since the thermalization timescale Eq. (6.17) in this case is much longer than the timescale of the brane decay, it is justified to treat the brane decay and the subsequent thermalization of the strings separately. Thus we have good reason to believe that the decay of unstable branes may indeed give rise to a thermal string gas. Furthermore, the spacetime stress tensor for the outgoing closed strings [154] has been computed and is known to quickly settle to zero total pressure [149], which is indeed one of the assumptions on the initial phase of string gas cosmology. Consequently, it is also natural to assume that the volume of the torus remains essentially unchanged during the brane decay.

#### 6.4.3 Time evolution of the dilaton

So far we have argued that our proposed setup of decaying branes produces a universe that looks qualitatively like the initial state of string gas cosmology. In addition, we need to make sure that the process is internally consistent and that it creates a final state that fulfills the adiabatic and weak coupling assumptions of dilaton gravity. During the decay, the brane sources the low-energy effective fields; in particular the dilaton time evolves. Hence, one might worry that the dilaton ends up being too large, contradicting the initial assumption of weak string coupling and insignificant back-reaction.

In the brane decay process, the evolution of the dilaton is governed by an equation of motion given by the details of the brane setup. During the period of thermalization following the decay, the exact evolution of the dilaton is unknown. However, one can argue that the explicit form of the distribution of the background strings has only a small effect on the propagation of the dilaton. What counts are the ensemble averaged quantities such as the mean comoving energy of the gas, which does not change during thermalization. Hence, we are led to assume that the dilaton should reach values that are consistent with the dilaton gravity era already at end of the brane decay process.

Neglecting any back-reaction from emitted strings, the evolution of the dilaton during the full brane decay is governed by the equation of motion [150]

$$-\partial_t^2 \phi = a \Big[ \frac{1}{1 + \hat{\lambda} e^t} + \frac{1}{1 + \hat{\lambda} e^{-t}} - 1 \Big] .$$
 (6.18)

Here  $\hat{\lambda} = \sin \pi \lambda$  and *a* is a positive constant, which is related to the initial tension of the unstable brane. From now on we set a = 1. Solving Eq. (6.18) we find the time dependence of the dilaton

$$\phi(t) = Li_2(-\hat{\lambda}^{-1}e^t) - Li_2(-\hat{\lambda}e^t) + C_1t + C_2 , \qquad (6.19)$$

where  $Li_2(z)$  is the dilogarithm, and  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are constants of integration. In our notation, the branes begin to decay at t = 0 and have lifetimes of  $\tau = -\log \hat{\lambda}$ , which are

input parameters. The constants  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  can be determined by assigning  $\phi(t)$  and  $\dot{\phi}(t)$  initial or final values, corresponding to initial values for the string gas cosmology era.

Consistency with the dilaton gravity approximation calls for final values of the time derivative in the range  $-1 \leq \dot{\varphi}(\tau) < 0$ . Note that the dilaton solution above is for the string frame dilaton  $\phi$ , whereas these values are for the shifted dilaton  $\varphi$ . Assuming that the torus radii stay fixed during the brane decay, however, these are simply related as  $\dot{\varphi}(\tau) = 2\dot{\phi}(\tau)$ . Furthermore, the value of the dilaton itself is required to be negative, both during the brane decay process and the string gas cosmology scenario, in order to preserve weak coupling.



Figure 6.1:  $\phi(t)$  for varying  $\phi(0)$ . From top to bottom we have  $\phi(0) \simeq \ln 1$ ,  $\ln 10^{-4}$ ,  $\ln 10^{-8}$  and  $\ln 10^{-12}$ , with  $\tau = 5t_s$  and  $\dot{\varphi}(\tau) = -1$ .



Figure 6.2:  $\phi(t)$  for varying  $\dot{\varphi}(\tau)$ . From top to bottom we have  $\dot{\varphi}(\tau) = 0, -0.25, -0.5, -0.75$ and -1, with initial value  $\phi(0) = -20$ , corresponding to  $\phi(0) = -20 \simeq \ln 10^{-8}$  and  $\tau = 5t_s$ .

The Figures (6.1) and (6.2) show the dilaton evolution during brane decay for different initial values and different final values of its derivative, respectively. The figures address the consistency of the weak string coupling. Fig. (6.1) illustrates how, starting from large negative values of the dilaton, the typical decay time is too short for the dilaton to grow significantly. Fig. (6.2) shows that different choices for time derivatives of the dilaton in the end of the decay also cause no significant change in the dilaton evolution. Fig. (6.3), on the other hand, illustrates the dependence of the dilaton evolution on the lifetime of the decaying brane.



Figure 6.3:  $\phi(t)$  for varying  $\tau$ . From bottom to top we have  $\tau = 1, 5, 7$  and 9, with initial value  $\phi(0) = -20$  and  $\dot{\phi}(\tau) = -1$ .

#### 6.4.4 Three large dimensions

In the previous section, we studied the evolution of the dilaton during brane decay, and found that it can indeed lead to values that are consistent with the dilaton gravity picture. Let us now take one step further and investigate under what circumstances it might lead to the values favored for three dimensions to grow large. As argued above, it is reasonable to assume that the dilaton gravity era and the study of the Boltzmann equations sets in just after the branes have decayed. In the analysis of Ref. [148], the direction of time is chosen so that  $\dot{\varphi} < 0$ , as is done here. Furthermore, the initial value of the derivative is chosen to be  $\varphi(\tau) = -1$ , which is just the borderline value allowed by the dilaton gravity approximation. In this case, there is a gap of initial values $\Delta \varphi(\tau) \simeq 0.5$ , around the value  $\varphi(\tau) \sim -2.5$ , for which three dimensions are likely to become unwrapped [148].



Figure 6.4:  $\phi(t)$  plotted for different combinations of  $\phi(0)$  and  $\tau$ . From top to bottom, we have  $\phi(0) = -0.5, -6, -15, -27$  and  $\tau = 1, 5, 7, 9$ , with  $\dot{\phi}(\tau) = -1$ .

In Fig. 4, we have plotted a number of combinations of  $\phi(t)$  and  $\tau$ , all of which lead

the dilaton to values within the favored range. The figure illustrates that it is possible to reach the favored range of initial values for a variety of decay configurations. In particular, one can start from very weak coupling and still reach the preferred range for a decay time  $\tau \simeq 10t_s$  that is short in comparison to the time of thermalization. This once again verifies that the decay may be discussed separately from the other dynamics. Thus we may conclude that the somewhat arbitrary fine-tuning of the dilaton initial value that is required in the study of Ref. [148] here has a physical interpretation in terms of the lifetimes of the unstable branes.

#### 6.4.5 Discussion and conclusions

In this paper we discussed the issue of the origin of the thermal string gas, whose existence is usually assumed in string gas cosmology. We studied low-dimensional unstable D-branes wrapped on a torus in bosonic string theory, and found that the string gas could indeed naturally be produced by the decay process of the branes. One virtue of the scenario is that there is freedom in choosing the details of the initial condition, and this is reflected in the subsequent development. For example, a space filling brane appears to produce string-brane gas [147], while a configuration of lower dimensional branes can produce pure string gas.

Besides adding to the control of various properties of the string gas through the physical properties of the branes, the introduction of the brane setup provides a resolution to the problem of initial conditions for the string gas. In contrast to simply assuming an infinite history for the string gas, the setup allows for the possibility of initial conditions at some finite point in time. These initial conditions fall into three categories: a scenario, where the unstable brane is first created as a condensate of incoming closed strings; a scenario, where the unstable brane pops out from imaginary time; and a scenario, where the brane initial state is prepared by a complex time contour at the initial spacelike singularity. As a consequence of having different possibilities for controllable initial conditions for the string gas, in turn, there is a better chance of understanding any possible imprints or signatures of observable interest that the gas might leave behind.

While such features certainly seem promising, let us recall that we have in our treatment made a number of simplifying assumptions. For example we initially assume a weak string coupling so that any back-reaction can be neglected, although we then find that during the decay the dilaton grows, implying that interactions with the emitted closed strings should be taken into account. Furthermore we focus only on low-dimensional branes that are wrapped on a torus with all its radii equal, assuming an equal number of branes at every direction of the torus, each decaying equally fast. Finally, we argue that the thermalization timescale of the produced strings is much longer than the decay time, and hence treating the brane decay and string dynamics separately is justified. In a more rigorous treatment, any of the assumptions mentioned here can be challenged, but we leave this and other modifications of the scenario for future work. Especially the details of the thermalization leave room for more detailed analysis, with possibly interesting effects.

# Chapter 7

## Summary

The main purpose of the thesis at hand has been to study various problems at the interface between high energy particle physics, in particular supersymmetry, and cosmology. The interplay between these two historically quite distinct fields has proven a fruitful enterprise from either point of view. While particle theory points cosmological models into the right direction, the early universe provides a unique laboratory for studying particle physics at very high energies. However, there is a more subtle level of interplay as well, where problems of naturalness, or seemingly arbitrary assumptions can be seen in a more favorable light, by looking at the problem from another angle or placing it into a different context. The topics treated in this thesis can, in one way or another, all be placed into this category.

The thermal leptogenesis scenario is very well motivated from a low-energy point of view, through the see-saw mechanism for neutrino masses; however, the conflict between the scenario and the gravitino bound in the presence of supersymmetry, has always been a severe issue from a theoretical perspective. Although several modifications rendering the scenario compatible with the bound have been proposed, they have all involved adding some new structure to the MSSM with heavy neutrinos, so that the simplest and theoretically most favored model has remained incompatible. Nevertheless, we have shown that just by taking into consideration the flat directions, which might in any case be present in the scenario, a sufficient lepton asymmetry can indeed be produced even when the reheating temperature is low enough to avoid overproduction of gravitinos.

Furthermore, by embedding the MSSM inflation model into specifically chosen models of hidden sector supergravity, we have been able to provide an origin for the cancellation of parameters that causes the extremely flat potential required for sufficient inflation at such low energy scales. From a theoretical point of view, this considerably lessens the gravity of the strong fine-tuning that the model is plagued with, although many questions regarding the high energy continuation of these supergravity models still remain unaddressed. Similarly, in the case of string gas cosmology, taking into account the presence of unstable branes in string theory, we are able to provide the scenario with well-defined initial conditions at some finite point in time, as opposed to assuming it has an infinite history. Furthermore, the details of this initial condition are reflected in the subsequent development as distinct properties of the resulting cosmology, which can thus be controlled more accurately.

Naturally, also the solutions that we have proposed are set within a particular formalism, which imposes some limits on the applicability of their conclusions. While this is important to keep in mind, it should not be allowed to undermine the progress that can be made through such progressive steps. At some point down the line, any of the scenarios presented here might be set into a broader context that might affirm or contradict the assumptions and conclusions made here. In the end, whether any of the topics treated in this work actually provide descriptions true to nature remains to be determined by future observations.

## Bibliography

- G. F. Giudice, L. Mether, A. Riotto, and F. Riva, "Supersymmetric Leptogenesis and the Gravitino Bound," *Phys. Lett.* B664 (2008) 21–24, arXiv:0804.0166 [hep-ph].
- [2] K. Enqvist, L. Mether, and S. Nurmi, "Supergravity origin of the MSSM inflation," JCAP 0711 (2007) 014, arXiv:0706.2355 [hep-th].
- [3] K. Enqvist, N. Jokela, E. Keski-Vakkuri, and L. Mether, "On the origin of thermal string gas," JCAP 0710 (2007) 001, arXiv:0706.2294 [hep-th].
- [4] WMAP Collaboration, J. Dunkley et al., "Five-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Likelihoods and Parameters from the WMAP data," Astrophys. J. Suppl. 180 (2009) 306-329, arXiv:0803.0586 [astro-ph].
- [5] S. Weinberg, "A Model of Leptons," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **19** (1967) 1264–1266.
  S. L. Glashow, "Partial Symmetries of Weak Interactions," *Nucl. Phys.* **22** (1961) 579–588.
- [6] P. Ramond, "Dual Theory for Free Fermions," *Phys. Rev.* D3 (1971) 2415–2418.
  A. Neveu and J. H. Schwarz, "Quark Model of Dual Pions," *Phys. Rev.* D4 (1971) 1109–1111.

D. V. Volkov and V. P. Akulov, "Possible universal neutrino interaction," *JETP Lett.* **16** (1972) 438–440.

Y. A. Golfand and E. P. Likhtman, "Extension of the Algebra of Poincare Group Generators and Violation of p Invariance," *JETP Lett.* **13** (1971) 323–326.

J. Wess and B. Zumino, "Supergauge Transformations in Four-Dimensions," *Nucl. Phys.* B70 (1974) 39–50.

- [7] J. Ellis, "Prospects for Discovering Supersymmetry at the LHC," Eur. Phys. J. C59 (2009) 335-343, arXiv:0810.1178 [hep-ph].
- [8] WMAP Collaboration, E. Komatsu *et al.*, "Five-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Cosmological Interpretation," *Astrophys. J. Suppl.* 180 (2009) 330–376, arXiv:0803.0547 [astro-ph].

- [9] L. Bergstrom, "Dark Matter Candidates," New J. Phys. 11 (2009) 105006, arXiv:0903.4849 [hep-ph].
- [10] E. W. Kolb and M. S. Turner, "The Early universe," Front. Phys. 69 (1990) 1–547.
- [11] A. R. Liddle and D. H. Lyth, "Cosmological inflation and large-scale structure,". ISBN-13-9780521828499.
- [12] V. Mukhanov, "Physical foundations of cosmology,". Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr. (2005) 421 p.
- [13] E. Hubble, "A relation between distance and radial velocity among extra-galactic nebulae," *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* **15** (1929) 168–173.
- [14] A. A. Penzias and R. W. Wilson, "A Measurement of excess antenna temperature at 4080- Mc/s," Astrophys. J. 142 (1965) 419–421.
- [15] C. L. Bennett *et al.*, "4-Year COBE DMR Cosmic Microwave Background Observations: Maps and Basic Results," *Astrophys. J.* 464 (1996) L1–L4, arXiv:astro-ph/9601067.
- [16] SDSS Collaboration, M. Tegmark et al., "Cosmological Constraints from the SDSS Luminous Red Galaxies," Phys. Rev. D74 (2006) 123507, arXiv:astro-ph/0608632.
- [17] The 2dFGRS Collaboration, S. Cole *et al.*, "The 2dF Galaxy Redshift Survey: Power-spectrum analysis of the final dataset and cosmological implications," *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.* 362 (2005) 505–534, arXiv:astro-ph/0501174.
- [18] The SNLS Collaboration, P. Astier *et al.*, "The Supernova Legacy Survey: Measurement of Omega(M), Omega(Lambda) and w from the First Year Data Set," *Astron. Astrophys.* 447 (2006) 31–48, arXiv:astro-ph/0510447.

Supernova Cosmology Project Collaboration, M. Kowalski *et al.*, "Improved Cosmological Constraints from New, Old and Combined Supernova Datasets," *Astrophys. J.* 686 (2008) 749–778, arXiv:0804.4142 [astro-ph].

- [19] K. A. Olive and J. A. Peacock, "Big-Bang cosmology," *Phys.Lett.B667:1,2008*. (2008).
- [20] B. D. Fields and S. Sarkar, "Big-Bang nucleosynthesis," Phys.Lett.B667:1,2008. (2008).
- [21] G. Steigman, "Primordial Nucleosynthesis in the Precision Cosmology Era," Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 57 (2007) 463-491, arXiv:0712.1100 [astro-ph].
- [22] S. Dodelson, "Modern cosmology,". Amsterdam, Netherlands: Academic Pr. (2003) 440 p.
- [23] D. Scott and G. F. Smoot, "Cosmic microwave background," Phys.Lett. B667 (2008).

- [24] A. D. Sakharov, "Violation of CP Invariance, c Asymmetry, and Baryon Asymmetry of the Universe," *JETP Lett.* 5 (1967) 24–27.
- [25] O. Bertolami, D. Colladay, V. A. Kostelecky, and R. Potting, "CPT violation and baryogenesis," *Phys. Lett.* B395 (1997) 178-183, arXiv:hep-ph/9612437.
  A. D. Dolgov, "CPT violation and particle-antiparticle asymmetry in cosmology," arXiv:0903.4318 [hep-ph].
- [26] V. A. Rubakov and M. E. Shaposhnikov, "Electroweak baryon number non-conservation in the early universe and in high-energy collisions," Usp. Fiz. Nauk 166 (1996) 493–537, arXiv:hep-ph/9603208.
- [27] M. Kobayashi and T. Maskawa, "CP Violation in the Renormalizable Theory of Weak Interaction," Prog. Theor. Phys. 49 (1973) 652–657.
- [28] G. 't Hooft, "Symmetry breaking through Bell-Jackiw anomalies," Phys. Rev. Lett. 37 (1976) 8–11.
- [29] P. Arnold and L. D. McLerran, "Sphalerons, Small Fluctuations and Baryon Number Violation in Electroweak Theory," Phys. Rev. D36 (1987) 581.
- [30] V. A. Kuzmin, V. A. Rubakov, and M. E. Shaposhnikov, "On the Anomalous Electroweak Baryon Number Nonconservation in the Early Universe," *Phys. Lett.* B155 (1985) 36.
- [31] K. Jansen, "Status of the Finite Temperature Electroweak Phase Transition on the Lattice," Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 47 (1996) 196-211, arXiv:hep-lat/9509018.

G. W. Anderson and L. J. Hall, "The Electroweak phase transition and baryogenesis," *Phys. Rev.* D45 (1992) 2685–2698.

- [32] Particle Data Group Collaboration, C. Amsler *et al.*, "Review of particle physics," *Phys. Lett.* B667 (2008) 1.
- [33] M. B. Gavela, P. Hernandez, J. Orloff, and O. Pene, "Standard Model CP-violation and Baryon asymmetry," *Mod. Phys. Lett.* A9 (1994) 795–810, arXiv:hep-ph/9312215.
- [34] A. H. Guth, "The Inflationary Universe: A Possible Solution to the Horizon and Flatness Problems," *Phys. Rev.* D23 (1981) 347–356.

A. A. Starobinsky, "Spectrum of relict gravitational radiation and the early state of the universe," *JETP Lett.* **30** (1979) 682–685.

A. A. Starobinsky, "A new type of isotropic cosmological models without singularity," *Phys. Lett.* **B91** (1980) 99–102.

[35] A. R. Liddle, P. Parsons, and J. D. Barrow, "Formalizing the slow roll approximation in inflation," *Phys. Rev.* D50 (1994) 7222-7232, arXiv:astro-ph/9408015. D. S. Salopek and J. R. Bond, "Nonlinear evolution of long wavelength metric fluctuations in inflationary models," *Phys. Rev.* **D42** (1990) 3936–3962.

- [36] A. D. Dolgov and A. D. Linde, "Baryon Asymmetry in Inflationary Universe," *Phys. Lett.* B116 (1982) 329.
  L. F. Abbott, E. Farhi, and M. B. Wise, "Particle Production in the New Inflationary Cosmology," *Phys. Lett.* B117 (1982) 29.
- [37] L. Kofman, A. D. Linde, and A. A. Starobinsky, "Reheating after inflation," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 73 (1994) 3195–3198, arXiv:hep-th/9405187.
- [38] L. Kofman, A. D. Linde, and A. A. Starobinsky, "Towards the theory of reheating after inflation," *Phys. Rev.* D56 (1997) 3258-3295, arXiv:hep-ph/9704452.
- [39] G. N. Felder, L. Kofman, and A. D. Linde, "Instant preheating," *Phys. Rev.* D59 (1999) 123523, arXiv:hep-ph/9812289.
- [40] A. Vilenkin and L. H. Ford, "Gravitational Effects upon Cosmological Phase Transitions," *Phys. Rev.* D26 (1982) 1231.
  A. A. Starobinsky, "Dynamics of Phase Transition in the New Inflationary Universe Scenario and Generation of Perturbations," *Phys. Lett.* B117 (1982) 175–178.
- [41] A. D. Linde, "Scalar Field Fluctuations in Expanding Universe and the New Inflationary Universe Scenario," *Phys. Lett.* B116 (1982) 335.
- [42] A. Riotto, "Inflation and the theory of cosmological perturbations," arXiv:hep-ph/0210162.
- [43] J. M. Bardeen, "Gauge Invariant Cosmological Perturbations," *Phys. Rev.* D22 (1980) 1882–1905.
  H. Kodama and M. Sasaki, "Cosmological Perturbation Theory," *Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl.* 78 (1984) 1–166.
- [44] V. F. Mukhanov, H. A. Feldman, and R. H. Brandenberger, "Theory of cosmological perturbations. Part 1. Classical perturbations. Part 2. Quantum theory of perturbations. Part 3. Extensions," *Phys. Rept.* **215** (1992) 203–333.
- [45] T. S. Bunch and P. C. W. Davies, "Quantum Field Theory in de Sitter Space: Renormalization by Point Splitting," Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A360 (1978) 117–134.
- [46] N. D. Birrell and P. C. W. Davies, "QUANTUM FIELDS IN CURVED SPACE,". Cambridge, Uk: Univ. Pr. (1982) 340p.
- [47] D. Wands, K. A. Malik, D. H. Lyth, and A. R. Liddle, "A new approach to the evolution of cosmological perturbations on large scales," *Phys. Rev.* D62 (2000) 043527, arXiv:astro-ph/0003278.

C. Gordon, "Adiabatic and entropy perturbations in cosmology," arXiv:astro-ph/0112523.

- [48] D. H. Lyth, "Particle physics models of inflation," Lect. Notes Phys. 738 (2008) 81-118, arXiv:hep-th/0702128.
- [49] A. Kosowsky and M. S. Turner, "CBR anisotropy and the running of the scalar spectral index," Phys. Rev. D52 (1995) 1739–1743, arXiv:astro-ph/9504071.
- [50] A. R. Liddle and D. H. Lyth, "COBE, gravitational waves, inflation and extended inflation," *Phys. Lett.* B291 (1992) 391–398, arXiv:astro-ph/9208007.
- [51] N. Bartolo, E. Komatsu, S. Matarrese, and A. Riotto, "Non-Gaussianity from inflation: Theory and observations," *Phys. Rept.* 402 (2004) 103–266, arXiv:astro-ph/0406398.
- [52] A. D. Linde, "Hybrid inflation," Phys. Rev. D49 (1994) 748-754, arXiv:astro-ph/9307002.
- [53] D. H. Lyth and A. Riotto, "Particle physics models of inflation and the cosmological density perturbation," *Phys. Rept.* **314** (1999) 1–146, arXiv:hep-ph/9807278.
- [54] U. H. Danielsson, "Lectures on string theory and cosmology," Class. Quant. Grav. 22 (2005) S1-S40, arXiv:hep-th/0409274.

R. Brandenberger and X.-m. Zhang, "The Trans-Planckian Problem for Inflationary Cosmology Revisited," arXiv:0903.2065 [hep-th].

[55] U. H. Danielsson, "Transplanckian signatures in WMAP3?," arXiv:astro-ph/0606474.

J. Hamann, S. Hannestad, M. S. Sloth, and Y. Y. Y. Wong, "Observing trans-Planckian ripples in the primordial power spectrum with future large scale structure probes," *JCAP* **0809** (2008) 015, arXiv:0807.4528 [astro-ph].

- [56] A. Borde and A. Vilenkin, "Eternal inflation and the initial singularity," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **72** (1994) 3305-3309, arXiv:gr-qc/9312022.
  A. Borde, A. H. Guth, and A. Vilenkin, "Inflationary space-times are incompletein past directions," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **90** (2003) 151301, arXiv:gr-qc/0110012.
- [57] D. Bailin and A. Love, "Supersymmetric gauge field theory and string theory,". Bristol, UK: IOP (1994) 322 p. (Graduate student series in physics).
  M. Dine, "Supersymmetry and string theory: Beyond the standard model,". Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Pr. (2007) 515 p.
- [58] M. Dine, "Supersymmetry phenomenology (with a broad brush)," arXiv:hep-ph/9612389.
  S. P. Martin, "A Supersymmetry Primer," arXiv:hep-ph/9709356.

- [59] D. J. H. Chung et al., "The soft supersymmetry-breaking Lagrangian: Theory and applications," Phys. Rept. 407 (2005) 1–203, arXiv:hep-ph/0312378.
- [60] K. Enqvist and A. Mazumdar, "Cosmological consequences of MSSM flat directions," Phys. Rept. 380 (2003) 99-234, arXiv:hep-ph/0209244.
- [61] M. B. Green, J. H. Schwarz, and E. Witten, "SUPERSTRING THEORY. VOL. 1: INTRODUCTION,". Cambridge, Uk: Univ. Pr. (1987) 469 P. (Cambridge Monographs On Mathematical Physics).

M. B. Green, J. H. Schwarz, and E. Witten, "SUPERSTRING THEORY. VOL. 2: LOOP AMPLITUDES, ANOMALIES AND PHENOMENOLOGY,". Cambridge, Uk: Univ. Pr. (1987) 596 P. (Cambridge Monographs On Mathematical Physics).

J. Polchinski, "String theory. Vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string,". Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr. (1998) 402 p.

J. Polchinski, "String theory. Vol. 2: Superstring theory and beyond,". Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr. (1998) 531 p.

K. Becker, M. Becker, and J. H. Schwarz, "String theory and M-theory: A modern introduction,". Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Pr. (2007) 739 p.

- [62] A. Salam and J. A. Strathdee, "Supergauge Transformations," Nucl. Phys. B76 (1974) 477–482.
- [63] N. Polonsky, "The mu-parameter of supersymmetry," arXiv:hep-ph/9911329.
- [64] G. R. Farrar and P. Fayet, "Phenomenology of the Production, Decay, and Detection of New Hadronic States Associated with Supersymmetry," *Phys. Lett.* B76 (1978) 575–579.

S. Dimopoulos and H. Georgi, "Softly Broken Supersymmetry and SU(5)," *Nucl. Phys.* **B193** (1981) 150.

S. Weinberg, "Supersymmetry at Ordinary Energies. 1. Masses and Conservation Laws," *Phys. Rev.* **D26** (1982) 287.

N. Sakai and T. Yanagida, "Proton Decay in a Class of Supersymmetric Grand Unified Models," *Nucl. Phys.* **B197** (1982) 533.

S. Dimopoulos, S. Raby, and F. Wilczek, "Proton Decay in Supersymmetric Models," *Phys. Lett.* **B112** (1982) 133.

[65] H. Goldberg, "Constraint on the photino mass from cosmology," Phys. Rev. Lett. 50 (1983) 1419.

J. R. Ellis, J. S. Hagelin, D. V. Nanopoulos, K. A. Olive, and M. Srednicki, "Supersymmetric relics from the big bang," *Nucl. Phys.* **B238** (1984) 453–476.

[66] H. P. Nilles, "Dynamically Broken Supergravity and the Hierarchy Problem," *Phys. Lett.* B115 (1982) 193. H. P. Nilles, "Supergravity Generates Hierarchies," Nucl. Phys. **B217** (1983) 366.

H. P. Nilles, M. Srednicki, and D. Wyler, "Weak Interaction Breakdown Induced by Supergravity," *Phys. Lett.* **B120** (1983) 346.

- [67] G. F. Giudice and R. Rattazzi, "Theories with gauge-mediated supersymmetry breaking," *Phys. Rept.* **322** (1999) 419–499, arXiv:hep-ph/9801271.
- [68] L. Girardello and M. T. Grisaru, "Soft Breaking of Supersymmetry," Nucl. Phys. B194 (1982) 65.

K. Inoue, A. Kakuto, H. Komatsu, and S. Takeshita, "Low-Energy Parameters and Particle Masses in a Supersymmetric Grand Unified Model," *Prog. Theor. Phys.* 67 (1982) 1889.

K. Inoue, A. Kakuto, H. Komatsu, and S. Takeshita, "Aspects of Grand Unified Models with Softly Broken Supersymmetry," *Prog. Theor. Phys.* 68 (1982) 927.

K. Inoue, A. Kakuto, H. Komatsu, and S. Takeshita, "Renormalization of Supersymmetry Breaking Parameters Revisited," *Prog. Theor. Phys.* **71** (1984) 413.

[69] Z. Bern, L. J. Dixon, and R. Roiban, "Is N = 8 Supergravity Ultraviolet Finite?," Phys. Lett. B644 (2007) 265-271, arXiv:hep-th/0611086.

Z. Bern *et al.*, "Three-Loop Superfiniteness of N=8 Supergravity," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **98** (2007) 161303, arXiv:hep-th/0702112.

 [70] H. P. Nilles, "Supersymmetry, Supergravity and Particle Physics," *Phys. Rept.* 110 (1984) 1–162.

J. Wess and J. Bagger, "Supersymmetry and supergravity,". Princeton, USA: Univ. Pr. (1992) 259 p.

- [71] H. Pagels and J. R. Primack, "Supersymmetry, Cosmology and New TeV Physics," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 48 (1982) 223.
  M. Y. Khlopov and A. D. Linde, "Is It Easy to Save the Gravitino?," *Phys. Lett.* B138 (1984) 265–268.
  J. R. Ellis, D. V. Nanopoulos, and S. Sarkar, "The Cosmology of Decaying Gravitinos," *Nucl. Phys.* B259 (1985) 175.
- [72] M. Kawasaki, K. Kohri, T. Moroi, and A. Yotsuyanagi, "Big-Bang Nucleosynthesis and Gravitino," *Phys. Rev.* D78 (2008) 065011, arXiv:0804.3745 [hep-ph].
- [73] M. Kawasaki, K. Kohri, and T. Moroi, "Hadronic decay of late-decaying particles and big-bang nucleosynthesis," *Phys. Lett.* B625 (2005) 7–12, arXiv:astro-ph/0402490.
- [74] J. Pradler and F. D. Steffen, "Constraints on the reheating temperature in gravitino dark matter scenarios," *Phys. Lett.* B648 (2007) 224-235, arXiv:hep-ph/0612291.

J. Pradler and F. D. Steffen, "Thermal Gravitino Production and Collider Tests of Leptogenesis," <i>Phys. Rev.</i> D75 (2007) 023509, arXiv:hep-ph/0608344.
D. G. Cerdeno, KY. Choi, K. Jedamzik, L. Roszkowski, and R. Ruiz de Austri, "Gravitino dark matter in the CMSSM with improved constraints from BBN," <i>JCAP</i> 0606 (2006) 005, arXiv:hep-ph/0509275.
J. Pradler and F. D. Steffen, "Implications of Catalyzed BBN in the CMSSM with Gravitino Dark Matter," <i>Phys. Lett.</i> <b>B666</b> (2008) 181–184, arXiv:0710.2213 [hep-ph].
F. Buccella, J. P. Derendinger, S. Ferrara, and C. A. Savoy, "Patterns of Symmetry Breaking in Supersymmetric Gauge Theories," <i>Phys. Lett.</i> B115 (1982) 375.
C. Procesi and G. W. Schwarz, "THE GEOMETRY OF ORBIT SPACES AND GAUGE SYMMETRY BREAKING IN SUPERSYMMETRIC GAUGE THEORIES," <i>Phys. Lett.</i> <b>B161</b> (1985) 117–121.
R. Gatto and G. Sartori, "ZEROS OF THE D TERM AND COMPLEXIFICATION OF THE GAUGE GROUP IN SUPERSYMMETRIC THEORIES," <i>Phys. Lett.</i> <b>B157</b> (1985) 389.
G. Sartori, "UNIVERSALITY IN ORBIT SPACES OF SYMMETRY GROUPS AND IN SPONTANEOUS SYMMETRY BREAKING," <i>Mod. Phys.</i> <i>Lett.</i> A4 (1989) 91.

- [76] M. A. Luty and W. Taylor, "Varieties of vacua in classical supersymmetric gauge theories," *Phys. Rev.* D53 (1996) 3399–3405, arXiv:hep-th/9506098.
- [77] T. Gherghetta, C. F. Kolda, and S. P. Martin, "Flat directions in the scalar potential of the supersymmetric standard model," *Nucl. Phys.* B468 (1996) 37–58, arXiv:hep-ph/9510370.
- [78] M. T. Grisaru, W. Siegel, and M. Rocek, "Improved Methods for Supergraphs," Nucl. Phys. B159 (1979) 429.
  N. Seiberg, "Naturalness Versus Supersymmetric Non-renormalization Theorems," Phys. Lett. B318 (1993) 469-475, arXiv:hep-ph/9309335.
- [79] M. Dine, L. Randall, and S. D. Thomas, "Supersymmetry breaking in the early universe," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 75 (1995) 398-401, arXiv:hep-ph/9503303.
- [80] M. Dine, L. Randall, and S. D. Thomas, "Baryogenesis from flat directions of the supersymmetric standard model," *Nucl. Phys.* B458 (1996) 291–326, arXiv:hep-ph/9507453.
- [81] M. Postma and A. Mazumdar, "Resonant decay of flat directions: Applications to curvaton scenarios, Affleck-Dine baryogenesis, and leptogenesis from a sneutrino condensate," JCAP 0401 (2004) 005, arXiv:hep-ph/0304246.
- [82] R. Allahverdi, R. H. A. D. Shaw, and B. A. Campbell, "Parametric resonance for complex fields," *Phys. Lett.* B473 (2000) 246–257, arXiv:hep-ph/9909256.

Z. Chacko, H. Murayama, and M. Perelstein, "Preheating in supersymmetric theories," *Phys. Rev.* D68 (2003) 063515, arXiv:hep-ph/0211369.

R. Allahverdi and A. Mazumdar, "Longevity of supersymmetric flat directions," *JCAP* 0708 (2007) 023, arXiv:hep-ph/0608296.

K. A. Olive and M. Peloso, "The fate of SUSY flat directions and their role in reheating," *Phys. Rev.* D74 (2006) 103514, arXiv:hep-ph/0608096.

- [83] P. Binetruy and G. R. Dvali, "D-term inflation," Phys. Lett. B388 (1996) 241-246, arXiv:hep-ph/9606342.
- [84] P. Minkowski, "mu → e gamma at a Rate of One Out of 1-Billion Muon Decays?," Phys. Lett. B67 (1977) 421.

T. Yanagida, "Horizontal gauge symmetry and masses of neutrinos,". In Proceedings of the Workshop on the Baryon Number of the Universe and Unified Theories, Tsukuba, Japan, 13-14 Feb 1979.

M. Gell-Mann, P. Ramond, and R. Slansky, "COMPLEX SPINORS AND UNIFIED THEORIES,". Print-80-0576 (CERN).

R. N. Mohapatra and G. Senjanovic, "Neutrino Masses and Mixings in Gauge Models with Spontaneous Parity Violation," *Phys. Rev.* **D23** (1981) 165.

R. Barbieri, D. V. Nanopoulos, G. Morchio, and F. Strocchi, "Neutrino Masses in Grand Unified Theories," *Phys. Lett.* **B90** (1980) 91.

- [85] S. Davidson, E. Nardi, and Y. Nir, "Leptogenesis," Phys. Rept. 466 (2008) 105-177, arXiv:0802.2962 [hep-ph].
- [86] S. Blanchet, "A New Era of Leptogenesis," arXiv:0807.1408 [hep-ph].
- [87] M. Losada, "High temperature dimensional reduction of the MSSM and other multi-scalar models," *Phys. Rev.* D56 (1997) 2893-2913, arXiv:hep-ph/9605266.
- [88] D. Delepine, J. M. Gerard, R. Gonzalez Felipe, and J. Weyers, "A light stop and electroweak baryogenesis," *Phys. Lett.* B386 (1996) 183–188, arXiv:hep-ph/9604440.
- [89] A. Y. Ignatiev, N. V. Krasnikov, V. A. Kuzmin, and A. N. Tavkhelidze, "Universal CP Noninvariant Superweak Interaction and Baryon Asymmetry of the Universe," *Phys. Lett.* B76 (1978) 436–438.

M. Yoshimura, "Unified Gauge Theories and the Baryon Number of the Universe," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **41** (1978) 281–284.

J. R. Ellis, M. K. Gaillard, and D. V. Nanopoulos, "Baryon Number Generation in Grand Unified Theories," *Phys. Lett.* **B80** (1979) 360.

D. Toussaint, S. B. Treiman, F. Wilczek, and A. Zee, "Matter - Antimatter Accounting, Thermodynamics, and Black Hole Radiation," *Phys. Rev.* D19 (1979) 1036–1045.

S. Dimopoulos and L. Susskind, "On the Baryon Number of the Universe," *Phys. Rev.* D18 (1978) 4500–4509.

S. Weinberg, "Cosmological Production of Baryons," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **42** (1979) 850–853.

- [90] I. Affleck and M. Dine, "A New Mechanism for Baryogenesis," Nucl. Phys. B249 (1985) 361.
- [91] M. Fukugita and T. Yanagida, "Baryogenesis Without Grand Unification," *Phys. Lett.* B174 (1986) 45.
- [92] S. Y. Khlebnikov and M. E. Shaposhnikov, "The Statistical Theory of Anomalous Fermion Number Nonconservation," *Nucl. Phys.* B308 (1988) 885–912.
- [93] A. Strumia and F. Vissani, "Neutrino masses and mixings and.," arXiv:hep-ph/0606054.
- [94] M. Magg and C. Wetterich, "NEUTRINO MASS PROBLEM AND GAUGE HIERARCHY," Phys. Lett. B94 (1980) 61.
  G. Lazarides, Q. Shafi, and C. Wetterich, "Proton Lifetime and Fermion Masses in an SO(10) Model," Nucl. Phys. B181 (1981) 287.
  C. Wetterich, "Neutrino Masses and the Scale of B-L Violation," Nucl. Phys. B187 (1981) 343.
- [95] A. Davidson, "Are neutrino masses necessarily hierarchical? A Universal seesaw analysis," Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 13 (1990) 555-557.
  E. Ma, "Pathways to Naturally Small Neutrino Masses," Phys. Rev. Lett. 81 (1998) 1171-1174, arXiv:hep-ph/9805219.
- [96] H. Fritzsch and P. Minkowski, "Unified Interactions of Leptons and Hadrons," Ann. Phys. 93 (1975) 193–266.
- [97] D. Bodeker, G. D. Moore, and K. Rummukainen, "Chern-Simons number diffusion and hard thermal loops on the lattice," *Phys. Rev.* D61 (2000) 056003, arXiv:hep-ph/9907545.

P. Arnold, D. Son, and L. G. Yaffe, "The hot baryon violation rate is O(alpha(w)\*\*5 T\*\*4)," *Phys. Rev.* **D55** (1997) 6264-6273, arXiv:hep-ph/9609481.

G. D. Moore, "Sphaleron rate in the symmetric electroweak phase," *Phys. Rev.* **D62** (2000) 085011, arXiv:hep-ph/0001216.

- [98] W. Buchmuller, R. D. Peccei, and T. Yanagida, "Leptogenesis as the origin of matter," Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 55 (2005) 311-355, arXiv:hep-ph/0502169.
- [99] W. Buchmuller, P. Di Bari, and M. Plumacher, "Leptogenesis for pedestrians," Ann. Phys. 315 (2005) 305–351, arXiv:hep-ph/0401240.

- [100] M. Flanz, E. A. Paschos, and U. Sarkar, "Baryogenesis from a lepton asymmetric universe," *Phys. Lett.* B345 (1995) 248-252, arXiv:hep-ph/9411366.
- [101] L. Covi, E. Roulet, and F. Vissani, "CP violating decays in leptogenesis scenarios," *Phys. Lett.* B384 (1996) 169–174, arXiv:hep-ph/9605319.
- [102] S. Davidson and A. Ibarra, "A lower bound on the right-handed neutrino mass from leptogenesis," *Phys. Lett.* B535 (2002) 25–32, arXiv:hep-ph/0202239.
- [103] M. Plumacher, "Baryogenesis and lepton number violation," Z. Phys. C74 (1997) 549-559, arXiv:hep-ph/9604229.
- [104] M. A. Luty, "Baryogenesis via leptogenesis," *Phys. Rev.* D45 (1992) 455-465.
  G. C. Branco *et al.*, "Minimal scenarios for leptogenesis and CP violation," *Phys. Rev.* D67 (2003) 073025, arXiv:hep-ph/0211001.
- [105] S. Blanchet and P. Di Bari, "Leptogenesis beyond the limit of hierarchical heavy neutrino masses," JCAP 0606 (2006) 023, arXiv:hep-ph/0603107.
- [106] W. Buchmuller, P. Di Bari, and M. Plumacher, "Cosmic microwave background, matter-antimatter asymmetry and neutrino masses," *Nucl. Phys.* B643 (2002) 367–390, arXiv:hep-ph/0205349.
- [107] G. F. Giudice, A. Notari, M. Raidal, A. Riotto, and A. Strumia, "Towards a complete theory of thermal leptogenesis in the SM and MSSM," *Nucl. Phys.* B685 (2004) 89–149, arXiv:hep-ph/0310123.
- [108] P. Di Bari, "Leptogenesis, neutrino mixing data and the absolute neutrino mass scale," arXiv:hep-ph/0406115.
- [109] W. Buchmuller, P. Di Bari, and M. Plumacher, "The neutrino mass window for baryogenesis," Nucl. Phys. B665 (2003) 445-468, arXiv:hep-ph/0302092.
- [110] M. Laine and M. E. Shaposhnikov, "A remark on sphaleron erasure of baryon asymmetry," *Phys. Rev.* D61 (2000) 117302, arXiv:hep-ph/9911473.
- [111] W. Buchmuller and M. Plumacher, "Spectator processes and baryogenesis," *Phys. Lett.* B511 (2001) 74–76, arXiv:hep-ph/0104189.
- [112] E. Nardi, Y. Nir, J. Racker, and E. Roulet, "On Higgs and sphaleron effects during the leptogenesis era," JHEP 01 (2006) 068, arXiv:hep-ph/0512052.
- [113] P. Di Bari, "Seesaw geometry and leptogenesis," Nucl. Phys. B727 (2005) 318-354, arXiv:hep-ph/0502082.
- [114] G. F. Giudice, M. A. Luty, H. Murayama, and R. Rattazzi, "Gaugino Mass without Singlets," JHEP 12 (1998) 027, arXiv:hep-ph/9810442.

[115] Y. Grossman, T. Kashti, Y. Nir, and E. Roulet, "Leptogenesis from Supersymmetry Breaking," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **91** (2003) 251801, arXiv:hep-ph/0307081.

G. D'Ambrosio, G. F. Giudice, and M. Raidal, "Soft leptogenesis," *Phys. Lett.* **B575** (2003) 75–84, arXiv:hep-ph/0308031.

 [116] L. Covi and E. Roulet, "Baryogenesis from mixed particle decays," *Phys. Lett.* B399 (1997) 113-118, arXiv:hep-ph/9611425.

A. Pilaftsis, "CP violation and baryogenesis due to heavy Majorana neutrinos," *Phys. Rev.* **D56** (1997) 5431–5451, arXiv:hep-ph/9707235.

A. Pilaftsis and T. E. J. Underwood, "Resonant leptogenesis," Nucl. Phys. B692 (2004) 303–345, arXiv:hep-ph/0309342.

[117] K. Hamaguchi, H. Murayama, and T. Yanagida, "Leptogenesis from sneutrino-dominated early universe," *Phys. Rev.* D65 (2002) 043512, arXiv:hep-ph/0109030.

H. Murayama and T. Yanagida, "Leptogenesis in supersymmetric standard model with right- handed neutrino," *Phys. Lett.* **B322** (1994) 349–354, arXiv:hep-ph/9310297.

- [118] G. F. Giudice, M. Peloso, A. Riotto, and I. Tkachev, "Production of massive fermions at preheating and leptogenesis," *JHEP* 08 (1999) 014, arXiv:hep-ph/9905242.
- [119] T. Asaka, K. Hamaguchi, M. Kawasaki, and T. Yanagida, "Leptogenesis in inflaton decay," *Phys. Lett.* B464 (1999) 12–18, arXiv:hep-ph/9906366.

F. Hahn-Woernle and M. Plumacher, "Effects of reheating on leptogenesis," *Nucl. Phys.* B806 (2009) 68-83, arXiv:0801.3972 [hep-ph].

- [120] A. Riotto and F. Riva, "Curvature Perturbation from Supersymmetric Flat Directions," Phys. Lett. B670 (2008) 169–173, arXiv:0806.3382 [hep-ph].
- [121] R. Allahverdi, K. Enqvist, J. Garcia-Bellido, and A. Mazumdar, "Gauge invariant MSSM inflaton," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 97 (2006) 191304, arXiv:hep-ph/0605035.
- [122] A. O. Barvinsky, A. Y. Kamenshchik, and A. A. Starobinsky, "Inflation scenario via the Standard Model Higgs boson and LHC," JCAP 0811 (2008) 021, arXiv:0809.2104 [hep-ph].

F. L. Bezrukov, A. Magnin, and M. Shaposhnikov, "Standard Model Higgs boson mass from inflation," *Phys. Lett.* B675 (2009) 88–92, arXiv:0812.4950 [hep-ph].

[123] S. Kachru, R. Kallosh, A. D. Linde, and S. P. Trivedi, "De Sitter vacua in string theory," *Phys. Rev.* D68 (2003) 046005, arXiv:hep-th/0301240. [124] J. J. Blanco-Pillado *et al.*, "Racetrack inflation," *JHEP* **11** (2004) 063, arXiv:hep-th/0406230.

J. P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, "Kaehler moduli inflation," *JHEP* **01** (2006) 146, arXiv:hep-th/0509012.

J. R. Bond, L. Kofman, S. Prokushkin, and P. M. Vaudrevange, "Roulette inflation with Kaehler moduli and their axions," *Phys. Rev.* D75 (2007) 123511, arXiv:hep-th/0612197.

A. D. Linde and A. Westphal, "Accidental Inflation in String Theory," *JCAP* 0803 (2008) 005, arXiv:0712.1610 [hep-th].

[125] I. Ben-Dayan, R. Brustein, and S. P. de Alwis, "Models of Modular Inflation and Their Phenomenological Consequences," JCAP 0807 (2008) 011, arXiv:0802.3160 [hep-th].

L. Covi *et al.*, "Constraints on modular inflation in supergravity and string theory," *JHEP* **08** (2008) 055, arXiv:0805.3290 [hep-th].

- [126] R. Allahverdi, B. Dutta, and A. Mazumdar, "Probing the parameter space for an MSSM inflation and the neutralino dark matter," *Phys. Rev.* D75 (2007) 075018, arXiv:hep-ph/0702112.
- [127] R. Allahverdi, K. Enqvist, J. Garcia-Bellido, A. Jokinen, and A. Mazumdar, "MSSM flat direction inflation: slow roll, stability, fine tunning and reheating," *JCAP* 0706 (2007) 019, arXiv:hep-ph/0610134.
- [128] A. D. Linde, "ETERNAL CHAOTIC INFLATION," Mod. Phys. Lett. A1 (1986) 81.
  A. H. Guth, "Eternal Inflation," arXiv:astro-ph/0101507.
- [129] A. R. Liddle and S. M. Leach, "How long before the end of inflation were observable perturbations produced?," *Phys. Rev.* D68 (2003) 103503, arXiv:astro-ph/0305263.
- [130] R. Allahverdi and A. Mazumdar, "Spectral tilt in A-term inflation," arXiv:hep-ph/0610069.
  J. C. Bueno Sanchez, K. Dimopoulos, and D. H. Lyth, "A-term inflation and

the MSSM," *JCAP1* 0701 (2007) 015.

- [131] S. Nurmi, "Kahler potentials for the MSSM inflation and the spectral index," JCAP 0801 (2008) 016, arXiv:0710.1613 [hep-th].
- [132] R. Allahverdi, A. R. Frey, and A. Mazumdar, "Graceful exit from a stringy landscape via MSSM inflation," *Phys. Rev.* D76 (2007) 026001, arXiv:hep-th/0701233.
- [133] Z. Lalak and K. Turzynski, "Back-door fine-tuning in supersymmetric low scale inflation," *Phys. Lett.* B659 (2008) 669–675, arXiv:0710.0613 [hep-th].

- [134] L. E. Ibanez and D. Lust, "Duality anomaly cancellation, minimal string unification and the effective low-energy Lagrangian of 4-D strings," *Nucl. Phys.* B382 (1992) 305-364, arXiv:hep-th/9202046.
- [135] D. Lust, S. Reffert, and S. Stieberger, "MSSM with soft SUSY breaking terms from D7-branes with fluxes," *Nucl. Phys.* B727 (2005) 264–300, arXiv:hep-th/0410074.
- [136] M. Gasperini and G. Veneziano, "String Theory and Pre-big bang Cosmology," arXiv:hep-th/0703055.
- [137] M. Novello and S. E. P. Bergliaffa, "Bouncing Cosmologies," Phys. Rept. 463 (2008) 127–213, arXiv:0802.1634 [astro-ph].
- [138] F. Quevedo, "Lectures on string/brane cosmology," Class. Quant. Grav. 19 (2002) 5721-5779, arXiv:hep-th/0210292.
- [139] R. H. Brandenberger and C. Vafa, "Superstrings in the Early Universe," Nucl. Phys. B316 (1989) 391.
- [140] R. H. Brandenberger, "Challenges for string gas cosmology," arXiv:hep-th/0509099.
- [141] S. Hellerman and I. Swanson, "Cosmological solutions of supercritical string theory," *Phys. Rev.* D77 (2008) 126011, arXiv:hep-th/0611317.
  Y. Nakayama, S.-J. Rey, and Y. Sugawara, "The nothing at the beginning of the universe made precise," arXiv:hep-th/0606127.
  J. McGreevy and E. Silverstein, "The tachyon at the end of the universe," *JHEP* 08 (2005) 090, arXiv:hep-th/0506130.
- [142] R. H. Brandenberger, A. R. Frey, and S. Kanno, "Towards A Nonsingular Tachyonic Big Crunch," *Phys. Rev.* D76 (2007) 063502, arXiv:0705.3265 [hep-th].
- [143] S. Kawai, E. Keski-Vakkuri, R. G. Leigh, and S. Nowling, "Brane decay from the origin of time," Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 031301, arXiv:hep-th/0507163.
- [144] R. H. Brandenberger, "String Gas Cosmology," arXiv:0808.0746 [hep-th].
  T. Battefeld and S. Watson, "String gas cosmology," *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 78 (2006) 435-454, arXiv:hep-th/0510022.
- [145] A. A. Tseytlin and C. Vafa, "Elements of string cosmology," Nucl. Phys. B372 (1992) 443-466, arXiv:hep-th/9109048.
- M. Sakellariadou, "Numerical Experiments in String Cosmology," Nucl. Phys. B468 (1996) 319-335, arXiv:hep-th/9511075.
- [147] S. Alexander, R. H. Brandenberger, and D. Easson, "Brane gases in the early universe," *Phys. Rev.* D62 (2000) 103509, arXiv:hep-th/0005212.

- [148] R. Easther, B. R. Greene, M. G. Jackson, and D. N. Kabat, "String windings in the early universe," JCAP 0502 (2005) 009, arXiv:hep-th/0409121.
- [149] A. Sen, "Tachyon dynamics in open string theory," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A20 (2005) 5513-5656, arXiv:hep-th/0410103.
- [150] N. D. Lambert, H. Liu, and J. M. Maldacena, "Closed strings from decaying D-branes," JHEP 03 (2007) 014, arXiv:hep-th/0303139.
- [151] A. Sen, "Rolling Tachyon," JHEP 04 (2002) 048, arXiv:hep-th/0203211.
- [152] A. Sen, "Descent relations among bosonic D-branes," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A14 (1999) 4061-4078, arXiv:hep-th/9902105.
- [153] P. Mukhopadhyay and A. Sen, "Decay of unstable D-branes with electric field," JHEP 11 (2002) 047, arXiv:hep-th/0208142.
- [154] A. Sen, "Tachyon matter," JHEP 07 (2002) 065, arXiv:hep-th/0203265.